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To Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of Directors, | am pleased to present
to you the annual results of China Rare Earth Holdings Limited
(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) for the
year ended 31 December 2013.

The global economy continued to be unstable in 2013, which
affected the development of rare earth products applications and,
in turn, the Group's rare earth business. Facing this challenge,
the Chinese Government actively promoted the reform and
consolidation of rare earth enterprises. In August 2013, ministries
and authorities including the Ministry of Industry and Information

Technology, the Ministry of Land and Resources and the Ministry
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of Commerce, jointly announced a “Special Action Plan to Counter
lllegal and Irregular Acts in Rare Earth Mining, Production and
Market Distribution” in order to rectifying the rare earth industry.
Actions including the sealing of illegal mines and implementation
of supervisory measures in many provinces and cities aimed at
combating illegal mining and production of rare earth as well as

stopping improper market distribution.

In early 2014, the State Council has approved the proposal of
“Establishment of Large Rare Earth Enterprises” led by the Ministry
of Industry and Information Technology. This proposal serves to
further confirm the “1+5” pattern of the country’s large rare earth
enterprises aiming for setting up an orderly rare earth mining,
smelting and distributing system. The implementation of the
measures will improve the production quality and export orders of
the rare earth industry in the state. In addition, the second round
of discussions on the rare earth hoarding plan is in progress, which
is expected to confirm details. Under strong projection of the
implementation of the hoarding plan, the prices of rare earth are

expected to stabilise and market sentiment should also improve.

In September 2013, the Group has acquired from its joint venture
partner OSRAM GmbH its entire interest in the joint venture, OSRAM
(China) Fluorescent Materials Co., Ltd. Upon the completion of the
acquisition, that company has become a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Group. The acquisition enables the Group to have entire control
over the sales strategy of that company, develop its own sales
network and fully realise the efficiency of its advanced technology

production facilities.

For the refractory materials business, the downstream steel and
glass industries were affected by the overall operating environment
and continued to be stagnant which in turn affected the Group's
sales volume. The Group will continue to strengthen its operational
integration, optimise cost efficiencies and broaden the income

stream of such business segment.
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FINANCIAL RESULTS

Affected by the persistent uncertainty in the global economy and
substantial fluctuations in market demand in 2013, the rare earth
market remained sluggish. For the financial year ended 31 December
2013, the Group's turnover was HK$1,488,282,000, a reduction
of approximately 29% compared to HK$2,101,918,000 last year.
Although many ministries and authorities in China have imposed
more stringent regulation and supervision measures on the rare
earth industry which has contributed to a slight rebound in product
prices in the middle of the year, the downtrend in overall product
prices during the whole year affected the turnover of rare earth
products. Turnover of rare earth products declined by about 33%
from about HK$1,626,524,000 last year to HK$1,090,092,000,
accounting for about 73% of the Group’s total turnover. As
the steel and cement industries in China have yet to recover,
turnover of the refractory materials business dropped by 16% from
HK$475,394,000 last year to HK$398,190,000, accounting for
about 27% of the Group’s total turnover. Because the range of
reduction in product prices was higher than that in raw material
prices, the Group recorded an overall gross loss of HK$217,560,000,
with a gross loss margin of around 15% (2012: gross loss margin of
21%). Nevertheless, as the results performance in the second half
was significantly better than that of the first half, annual gross loss
has improved compared to the loss of HK$273,480,000 reported
in the interim period, reflecting the continuous improvement
in operating environment. After taking into account selling
and administrative expenses and taxation, the Group recorded
a net loss of HK$369,706,000, significantly lower than that of
HK$699,519,000 in 2012 by approximately 47%. Loss per share was
approximately 21.20 HK cents (2012: loss per share of 40.64 HK

cents).

DIVIDEND
As the Group continued to record losses, the Board did not

recommend the payment of a final dividend for 2013.
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BUSINESS REVIEW
Rare Earth Business

Prices of rare earth products continued to decline in 2013,
which caused the overall turnover of the Group’s rare earth
business to decrease continuously by approximately 33% from
HK$1,626,524,000 last year to HK$1,090,092,000 this year.
Gross loss margin of the Group’s rare earth business, however,
dropped from 32% last year to 25% this year. Segmental loss was
HK$372,713,000, a reduction of about 42% from HK$646,884,000

last year.

The prices of many rare earth products continued the downward
trend and declined significantly during the year. The average
selling price of lanthanum oxide, cerium oxide, samarium oxide,
gadolinium oxide and dysprosium oxide decreased by around 60%
to 80% compared to last year, while those of neodymium oxide,
europium oxide, erbium oxide, terbium oxide and yttrium-europium
coprecipitates dropped by about 30% to 50%. The Group sold
around 4,400 tonnes of rare earth oxides during the
year under review, which was around 60% more
than last year. However, the increase was mainly
in those products such as lanthanum oxide and
cerium oxide with relatively cheaper selling prices.
- Thus, the pace of growth in sales volume could not
S entirely offset the price drop of rare earth products.
This together with the change in product sales mix

have led to a lower overall turnover in the rare

earth business when compared with last year.

During the year, the Chinese Government strengthened the
implementation of production limits for rare earth enterprises and the
Group has adjusted its production volume in line with the policies.
The production volume of the Group’s rare earth products dropped
by about 8% compared with last year while trading volume increased
slightly by less than 200 tonnes. This apparent discrepancy has reflected
that the notable growth in sales volume was mainly coming from
reducing inventory level. To cope with uncertain market conditions,
the Group has maintained flexibility on its liquid fund by strategically
reducing its inventory level. The rare earth inventory was 40% less at

the end of the year than it was at the beginning of the year.
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As for costs, material cost still accounted for more than 90% of the
Group's production costs. Although the average price of rare earth
raw materials dropped by about 30% when compared with last year,
the decrease in production volume and increase in wages limited
the substantial reduction in average cost. However, the inventory
provision made in the year was substantially lower than that in last

year, which resulted in decreased gross loss margin for the year.

The Group's polishing powder production line has been engaged
in trial production since July 2013. Several samples were sent to
customers for testing and evaluation. As most of the samples are
still undergoing testing and evaluation, such production line has
not yet made a notable contribution to the Group's sales. However,
the Group is confident that the demand for polishing powder will
continue to rise along with the launch of more optical and liquid-

crystal display (LCD) products.

For the rare earth metals division, lanthanum metals and neodymium
metals continued to be the main rare earth metals products
produced by the Group. Adversely affected by the weak downstream
market, the sales volume declined around 50% in 2013, as did the
average selling price which dropped by around 25% to 40%. As a
result, the sales amount decreased by more than 60% year-on-year.
After deducting costs including amortisation of intangible assets,
the gross loss margin enlarged to around 20%. Facing uncertain
prospects, the Group made a prudent projection assessment about
the future market which led to a decision of full impairment on the
remaining intangible assets in this segment valued at more than
HK$30,000,000. After that, it is believed that such division can more

reasonably reflect the return on assets in the future.

Geographically, China remained as the major market of the Group's
rare earth products, accounting for around 79% of the total sales
of rare earth products. Europe became the largest export market
and accounted for around 13% of the total. The weak economic
condition in Japan has resulted in marked reduction in the sales
amount to that market. Its share of the segment sales reduced from
about 8% last year to about 4% this year, while the US accounted

for about 3% of the segment sales.



Annual Report 2013 £}

11

TREHRSE
CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

[V EES

FRN FAEEMAMHEBNBEBLEEHRE
F#9475,394,0007% 7T T % 4916 % £398,190,000
BT ENXRNABIS% 2B HHBEFA
25,415,000 7T - 8 & F #922,306,000 £ F 47
14% °

F A B 79 A6 VB i 4 DA R EE A 3R TR T R R 80 8 I
KRETHEERE  MEMAMEITERF R
TEAEEBEAMAMBEENHESEFET
e MAAEBERSTEHLOETH - 5—7
H AEEAECEXBTRBETIEMREERA
AMEESE T ——FIEMETRER BEX

—ERASETREOEEMAARTFMERR
ROBEEMNEEERAMEHEBEZAE

¥ MRITAEEEFNHEESE - FAAE
[ 55 7 #)28,400M8 — B i A MK R EIRBEE
b BREFTRTHN=K -EB E XZER
EASERTE - IR TERMAME KSR
MEAFTENERRIEGRAFHTHEREER
FiEE  BETES% c AFHE  TEREMEHE
BECAR B ARFOFIEE N L AF
EATR—
D i}
BEEZR
LEYTY
BN EF
MmEAHT
B LR
BUEZ D
EFETH
E4910% °

Refractory Materials Business

During the year, total turnover of the Group’s refractory materials
business dropped around 16% from HK$475,394,000 last year
to HK$398,190,000. Gross profit margin was approximately
15%. Segmental profit amounted to HK$25,415,000, which was
approximately 14% higher than HK$22,306,000 in the previous

year.

The slower economic growth in China and the overcapacity in the
steel and cement industries has hindered development of these
businesses. In addition, keen competition in the refractory materials
industry have dragged down the Group's sales volume of refractory
materials in the state continuously. A relatively weak Japanese
economy has also contributed to the decreasing exports to that
country. Besides, after its joint venture, Yixing AGC Ceramics Co.,
Ltd., started operation in 2012, the Group gradually consigned
certain Japanese orders including magnesia-alumina spinel bricks
to it, so the sales volume of the Group itself decreased accordingly.
During the year, the Group sold around 28,400 tonnes of ordinary
refractory materials and high temperature ceramics products, a
drop of about 30% when compared with last year. The average
selling price of major products such as fused magnesium chrome
bricks, alumina-graphite bricks, unshaped refractory materials and
Sialon series of high temperature
ceramics products remained relatively
flat with less than 5% deviation
when compared with last year. As
for costs, major material prices did
not change significantly and the
average selling price of silicon carbide
increased by less than 15% from last
year. However, the lower production
volume has boosted the average
production cost, which together with
the increase in the average labour
cost, led to the drop in gross profit

margin of the division to around 10%.
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Regarding the magnesium grain business, the production workflow

of high purity magnesium grain has become more mature and the

production volume has gradually increased since it started operation

at the end of 2010. The sales volume of fused magnesium grain
and high purity magnesium grain
rose by more than 10% to around
79,000 tonnes and their selling
prices slightly dropped by less than
10%. The turnover grew by less
than 5% and gross profit margin
was slightly reduced to around
17%.

By market segment, as some of
the export orders were transferred
to the joint venture, which was
not reflected in the Group’s export sales, the proportion of the
Group's refractory materials for export dropped to around 18% and

domestic sales occupied the remaining 82%.

Joint Venture Projects

OSRAM (China) Fluorescent Materials Co., Ltd., the joint venture
set up with OSRAM GmbH, keeps on improving performance
after completing testing and modulation of the production
workflow. During the year, it recorded a turnover of approximately
HK$154,685,000 and its sales volume surged from 200 tonnes
in 2012 to around 300 tonnes. Because of the weak market and
demand, sales volume has not yet reached the pre-set goal at
the initial investment period. Compared with last year, the selling
prices of products dropped by around 20% to 30% in average.
The joint venture recorded a modest profit after deducting cost of
sales. Though it was not enough to offset other administrative and
finance costs, its performance is a valid indicator of the gradual
improvement of the business. In the long run, the joint venture
should contribute to the Group’s profit growth. That company
recorded a net loss of around HK$19,983,000 for the year.
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As the Group's partner, OSRAM GmbH, has changed its business
strategy in China, after negotiation, it decided to dispose of its
50.1% interest in the joint venture to the Group in September
2013 at a favourable price of HK$15,132,500. After the transaction
completed on 22 January 2014, that company has now become a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group and renamed as Yixing Silver
Mile Fluorescent Materials Company Limited. As at the transaction
completion date, that company had net assets of approximately
HK$74,582,000 after assessment. The transaction will enable the
Group to consolidate its overall sales approach, expand its sales
network and customer base, and further optimise its operation and

management, thus increasing the return on its investment.

In addition, the Group’s another joint venture, Yixing AGC Ceramics
Co., Ltd. setting up with Asahi Glass Ceramics Co., Ltd. from Japan,
sold approximately 12,800 tonnes of sintered refractory materials
during the year under review, up more than a double from the
previous year. On top of serving its major market Japan, that
company also started expanding its market domestically with small
quantity during the year. Along with the growth of sales volume, it
recorded a little gross profit margin in the year. Although its profit
was not enough to offset the management and administrative costs,
this performance nonetheless represents a significant improvement.
When this joint venture becomes more mature and implements more
effective cost control measures, it is expected to bring a contribution

to the Group in the future.

PROSPECTS

In 2013, the domestic rare earth market presented myriad challenges,
but market conditions have slightly improved in the second half.
Following the regulating measures of the rare earth industry
implemented by the various ministries and authorities in August that
coping with illegal industry practices, the industry started to bottom
out. Under favourable Chinese government policies and a better
global economy in 2014, the domestic rare earth market appears to
have gradually revived. The market prices of most rare earth products
stabilised in the first quarter of 2014. After the government policies
of hoarding up rare earth resources and establishing large rare
earth enterprises are being clear, the rare earth industry in China is
expected to develop in a more orderly and healthier environment, and

the prices of rare earth products are expected to gradually rise.
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Although more countries have started to exploit their indigenous
rare earth resources which will create uncertainties for the market,
domestic producers in China still enjoy the competitive advantages
in scale of development and exploitation cost, so the country will
remain as the largest supplier in the global market in the coming
years. On the other hand, the eventual stabilisation of the European
and the US economies should positively affect market demand. The
Group will retain its existing conservative strategies and hopefully
when market confidence returns, results improvement will be seen

for the rare earth business during 2014.

The Group’s polishing powder products are gaining wider customer
recognition. After the production line upgrades its technology and
starts sales, the Group will be able to expand its market coverage
and customer base. The product structure and mix will be improved

as well.

For the refractory materials business, although the economy in
Japan, its major overseas market, has not yet recovered and the
keen competition in the industry will continue to bring challenges,
the Group will leverage its solid business foundation to improve its
service, so it can enhance its competitiveness by providing better
product quality and services. It will also strengthen research and
development and upgrade its production technology with the aim to

reinforce its position in the industry and achieve sustainable growth.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group has continued to maintain prudent capital arrangements,
and has sufficient cash on hand. As at 31 December 2013, the
Group had cash and bank deposits valued at approximately
HK$1,369,054,000. During the year under review, the Group has
repaid all of its bank loans. The Group had a balance of net current
assets valued at approximately HK$2,368,367,000, with the total

liabilities to total assets ratio reduced to around 4%.
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The Group had no charge on assets, nor has it held any financial
derivative products. It was not exposed to material interest rate risk.
Regarding foreign exchange, most of the Group’s assets, liabilities
and transactions are denominated in Renminbi, and the rest are in
US dollars or Hong Kong dollars. During the year under review, the
exchange rates of Renminbi, US dollar and Hong Kong dollar were

stable.

Two subsidiaries of the Group in China provided corporate
guarantees to two local banks to facilitate the two joint ventures
to obtain loan financing. As at the end of the year, the two joint
ventures had drawn loans of RMB39,000,000 and RMB27,996,000

from the banks respectively based on the guarantees.

Brought forward from last year, the dispute between OSRAM
(China) Fluorescent Materials Co. Ltd., a joint venture of the Group,
and a contractor of its plant concerning the quality and settlement
of its plant constructed has not yet been resolved. The contractor
has still pursued litigation against the joint venture to recover the
remaining unpaid contract fee of about HK$34,973,000. The joint
venture has also submitted a legal claim against the contractor for
the contract fee already paid of about HK$62,639,000.
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STAFF AND REMUNERATION
As at 31 December 2013, the Group had a workforce of

approximately 1,000 including university graduates and experienced
professionals. The Group provided a comprehensive staff
remuneration and welfare system. During the year, the Group
spent approximately HK$63,339,000 on staff costs, including
directors’ emoluments. It also provided regular on-the-job training
and study opportunities to employees to assist them in maintaining

professional standards.

CONCLUSION

The Group has strived to optimise every aspect of its operations,
boost its operational efficiency and develop a professional team
to lead the Group to raise its status within the industry in a bid to
maintain the strongest competitiveness in the challenging market

and achieve good results.

On behalf of the Group, | would like to express my sincere gratitude
to our business partners, shareholders, investors and suppliers for
their ongoing support, and our management team and staff for their
dedicated efforts and contributions. Also, on behalf of the Board of
Directors and management, | would like to extend my most sincere

appreciation to all of these parties.

Jiang Quanlong
Chairman
Hong Kong, 28 March 2014
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Jiang Quanlong, aged 61, is a founding member and the
chairman of the Group. Mr. Jiang is responsible for the formulation
of the Group’s overall business development policies. Mr. Jiang is
recognised as a senior economist by Jiangsu Provincial Personnel
Department. Mr. Jiang has over 30 years of experience in the rare
earth and refractory materials industries. Prior to the founding of
the Group, Mr. Jiang had been a factory manager of a refractory
materials production plant and a sales manager of a glass and
ceramics manufacturing company. Besides, Mr. Jiang is also the
chairman and an executive director of Pan Asia Environmental
Protection Group Limited, the shares of which are listed on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, and the sole director of YY
Holdings Limited, a substantial shareholder of the Company. Mr.
Jiang is the husband of Ms. Qian Yuanying, the deputy chairman of
the Group.

Ms. Qian Yuanying, aged 54, is a founding member and the
deputy chairman of the Group. Ms. Qian is also the chief executive
officer of the Group. Ms. Qian is responsible for the overall
management of the Group and has particular responsibility for the
marketing aspect of the Group's business. Ms. Qian is recognised
as a senior economist by Jiangsu Provincial Personnel Department,
and she is also qualified as a Chinese Career Manager. Ms. Qian has
over 20 years of experience in the rare earth and refractory materials
industries. Prior to the founding of the Group, Ms. Qian was a high
school teacher. Ms. Qian is the wife of Mr. Jiang Quanlong, the

chairman of the Group.

Mr. Jiang Cainan, aged 55, joined the Group in 1986 and was
appointed as an executive director in 2005. Mr. Jiang is also the
general manager of Yixing Xinwei Leeshing Refractory Materials
Company Limited and is responsible for the operation and sales
of refractory materials business. Mr. Jiang has over 30 years of

experience in the refractory materials industry.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Huang Chunhua, aged 49, joined the Group in 2001 as an
independent non-executive director of the Company. Mr. Huang
obtained a Ph.D degree in Marketing and a Master degree in
Business Administration from University of Strathclyde and a
Bachelor degree in Economics from Wuhan University. Currently Mr.
Huang is the deputy chairman and an executive director of Hybrid
Kinetic Group Limited, the shares of which are listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. For the period from May 2007
to April 2009, Mr. Huang was a director and China equity market
strategist of BNP Paribas Securities (Asia) Limited. Prior to that he
was the deputy chairman of Hybrid Kinetic Group Limited between
November 2002 and October 2007 and an analyst of various
securities companies. Mr. Huang has extensive knowledge and

experience in financial market.

Mr. Jin Zhong, aged 62, joined the Group in 2004 as an
independent non-executive director of the Company. Mr. Jin
graduated from the Faculty of Material Engineering of Wuhan Steel
College, specialising in refractory studies. Mr. Jin was previously the
deputy chief engineer of the head factory of Guiyang City Refractory
Materials Factory.

Mr. Wang Guozhen, aged 78, joined the Group in 2012 as an
independent non-executive director of the Company. Mr. Wang
graduated from Tianjin University, majoring in Physical chemistry
of metals. Currently Mr. Wang is a senior expert consultant in rare
earth projects of China Enfi Engineering Corporation. For the period
from 1987 to 1994, Mr. Wang was a member of the Experts Group
of the Rare Earth Leading Group of the State Council, the People’s
Republic of China and the head of its industry group. From 1994 to
2006, Mr. Wang was a member of the Group of Rare Earth Experts
of the National Development and Reform Commission and the
head of its industry group. Mr. Wang also worked at the Chinese
Society of Rare Earths (the "CSRE") consecutively as a director, a
standing director, an expert in its rare earth experts group and a
senior member of its Rare Earth Related Environmental Protection
and Labor Hygiene Professional Committee from 1980 to 2009. In
2009, Mr. Wang was appointed as honorary executive of the CSRE.
Besides, Mr. Wang is also an independent non-executive director
of Pan Asia Environmental Protection Group Limited, the shares of
which are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Law Lap Tak, aged 44, joined the Group in 1999. Mr. Law
is the financial controller and company secretary of the Company.
Mr. Law graduated in Hong Kong and obtained a Bachelor degree
in Business Administration. Mr. Law is a member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and The Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Law
was an audit manager in an international accounting firm in Hong

Kong.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Jiang Xin, aged 29, joined the Group in 2008 and was
appointed as the general manager of the Company in 2012.
Mr. Jiang is responsible for the marketing aspect of the Group’s
business. Mr. Jiang obtained a Bachelor degree in Arts majoring
in International Business, Finance and Economics from University
of Manchester and a Bachelor degree in Arts majoring in Business
Studies from University of Wales. Mr. Jiang is a son of Mr. Jiang
Quanlong, the chairman of the Group and Ms. Qian Yuanying, the

deputy chairman of the Group.

Mr. Jiang Hongjun, aged 55, joined the Group in 2000. Mr. Jiang
is the deputy general manager of the Company and is responsible
for the daily administrative affairs of the Group. Mr. Jiang has over

30 years of experience in administrative management.

Mr. Yu Zhengming, aged 78, joined the Group in 1999. Mr. Yu
is the chief engineer and technical consultant of Yixing Xinwei
Leeshing Rare Earth Company Limited. Prior to joining the Group,
Mr. Yu was the factory general manager and chief engineer of a
renowned rare earth factory. Mr. Yu is an expert in rare earth and

non-ferrous metals industries.

Mr. Xu Jianwen, aged 45, joined the Group in 1988. Mr. Xu is the
general manager of Yixing Xinwei Leeshing Rare Earth Company
Limited and is responsible for the operation of rare earth business.
Mr. Xu has over 20 years of experience in production management

in the rare earth industry.
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Mr. Wang Jianping, aged 52, joined the Group in 2004. Mr. Wang
is the general manager of Wuxi Xinwei High Temperature Ceramics
Company Limited and is responsible for the operation of the high
temperature ceramics business. Mr. Wang has over 15 years of

experience in administrative management and sales.

Mr. Zhang Huilin, aged 61, joined the Group in 1988. Mr. Zhang
is the general manager of Haicheng City Suhai Magnesium Ore
Company Limited and Hai Cheng Xinwei Leeshing Magnesium
Resources Company Limited and is responsible for the operation of
magnesium grains business. Mr. Zhang has extensive management

experience in raw material supply and sales of refractory materials.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to attending good corporate governance
practices and procedures. The Company has adopted its own code
of corporate governance based on the principles and code provisions
of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in
Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”). In
the opinion of the Board of Directors (the “Board”), the Company
has complied with the CG Code throughout the year ended 31
December 2013.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct (the “Company’s
Code") regarding securities transactions by directors on terms no
less exacting than the required standards set out in the Model Code
for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules. Having made
specific enquiry, the Company confirms that all directors have
complied with the required standards as stated in the Model Code
and the Company’s Code throughout the year ended 31 December

2013.

BOARD COMPOSITION

The Company is governed by the Board which is responsible for
directing and supervising its affairs and oversight of the Group’s
businesses, strategic decision and performance. Execution of
the Board’s decisions and daily operations are delegated to the

management.
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The composition of the Board during the year and the attendance of

the Board meetings are as follows:

HE &EHE

Attendance/No. of meetings

BITES

Executive director

B RBE(LE)

Jiang Quanlong (Chairman)

BILR (BT ERITHABE)

5/5

5/5

Qian Yuanying (Deputy Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)

B

Jiang Cainan

BYFHITES

Independent non-executive director
BEE

Huang Chunhua

&8

Jin Zhong

TEY

Wang Guozhen
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5/5

5/5

5/5

5/5

Mr. Jiang Quanlong is the husband of Ms. Qian Yuanying. Save as
disclosed, there are no family or other material relationship among

Board members.

TRAINING AND CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT OF DIRECTORS

Each newly appointed director will receive comprehensive, formal
and tailored induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment,
so as to ensure that he/she has appropriate understanding of the
business and operations of the Company and that he/she is fully
aware of his/her responsibilities and obligations under the Listing

Rules and relevant regulatory requirements.

There are also arrangements in place for providing continuing
briefing and professional development to directors whenever

necessary.
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During the year, a seminar on update of the Listing Rules
amendments was arranged for all directors at the Company’'s
headquarter. Except Mr. Huang Chunhua, directors including Mr.
Jiang Quanlong, Ms. Qian Yuanying, Mr. Jiang Cainan, Mr. Jin
Zhong and Mr. Wang Guozhen attended the seminar. Although Mr.
Huang Chunhua has not attended the seminar, the related reference

materials have been provided to him for his own study.

PRACTICES AND CONDUCT OF MEETINGS
Notices of regular Board meetings are served to all directors at
least 14 days before the meetings. For other Board and committee

meetings, reasonable notice is generally given.

Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and reliable
information are sent to all directors at least 3 days before each
Board meeting or committee meeting to keep the directors apprised
of the latest developments and financial position of the Company
and to enable them to make informed decisions. The Board and
each director also have separate and independent access to the

senior management whenever necessary.

The Company Secretary is responsible for taking and keeping
minutes of all Board meetings and committee meetings. Draft
minutes are normally circulated to directors for comment within a
reasonable time after each meeting and the final version is open for

directors’ inspection.

According to current Board practice, any material transaction, which
involves a conflict of interests for a substantial shareholder or a
director, will be considered and dealt with by the Board at a duly

convened Board meeting.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Although Mr. Jiang Quanlong, the Chairman of the Board, is the
husband of Ms. Qian Yuanying, the Chief Executive Officer, their
roles and responsibilities are separated. The Chairman is responsible
for the formulation of the Group’s overall business development
policies while the Chief Executive Officer is responsible for the

overall management of the Group's business.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The independent non-executive directors of the Company are highly
skilled professionals with expertise and experience in the field of
financial management and businesses related to the Group. They
advise the Company on strategy development and enable the
Board to maintain high standards of compliance of financial and
other mandatory reporting requirements and provide adequate
checks and balances to safeguard the interests of shareholders
and the Company as a whole. Each of the independent non-
executive directors has entered into a service contract with the
Company for a term of two years. The Company has received
written confirmations from all independent non-executive directors
concerning their independence. The Board considers that all of them

are independent.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely, the Audit
Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee,
for overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s affairs. All Board
committees of the Company are established with defined written
terms of reference. The terms of reference of the Board committees
are posted on the websites of the Company and The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) and are available to

shareholders upon request.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS
The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in the
Code Provision D.3.1 of the CG Code.

The Board reviewed the Company’s corporate governance policies
and practices, training and continuous professional development
of directors and senior management, the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, the
compliance with the Model Code, and the compliance with the CG

Code and disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report.
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During the year, the Board has adopted a Board Diversity Policy
setting out the approach to achieve diversity on the Board. The
Board has considered that diversity of the Board members can be
achieved through consideration of a number of aspects, including
but not limit to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
professional qualification, skills, knowledge and industry and
regional experience. The Company aims to maintain an appropriate
balance of diversity perspectives of the Board that are relevant to

the Company’s business growth.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The principal functions of the Audit Committee are to assist
the Board in reviewing the relationship with the auditor of the
Company, the financial information, the financial reporting system

and internal control procedures.

EREEERNAFEZAKNRZEGEH LR The composition of the Audit Committee during the year and the
=N attendance of the Committee meetings are as follows:

KB HE/ E2HE
Member Attendance/No. of meetings
BUKNTES

Independent non-executive director

IAY (£E) 212
Wang Guozhen (Chairman)

BEE 22
Huang Chunhua

& 2/2
Jin Zhong

L BERZESENTARAMRMAZE
AHERRE R RER  NBEERV B AR
EH BRAVTESRERZBEBET &
BTARBZHHREFRE -

During the meetings, the Audit Committee reviewed the accounting
principles and practices adopted by the Company and discussed
auditing, internal control and financial reporting matters, including
the review of the interim and annual results of the Company with
the assistance of the auditor without the presence of the executive

directors.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
The principal functions of the Remuneration Committee are to

make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and
structure for the remuneration of directors and senior management,

and to review their specific remuneration packages.

The composition of the Remuneration Committee during the year

and the attendance of the Committee meetings are as follows:

HE 228 E

Attendance/No. of meetings

BYkHTES

Independent non-executive director
BHEE(FE)

Huang Chunhua (Chairman)

tE

Jin Zhong

TEHEZ

Wang Guozhen

EgHtL ¥FHZEek THHBRRREES
ZHMASIEL T2 -

REZES
REZEGZIZRBERZEZCRMANESZTEN
BETCBREMNES S 2K - 5 &I E N
EZEFENEZLACAEERR FER%
REFRENRZEZAEBREF REZGHES
REREE  RAARBUFRTERZBUNS
REE

e

1”71

171

171

During the meeting, the Remuneration Committee reviewed the
remuneration policy and recommended the remuneration packages

of directors.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE
The principal functions of the Nomination Committee are to

review the Board composition with reference to the Board Diversity
Policy adopted, discuss and agree on measurable objectives for
achieving diversity on the Board, develop and formulate relevant
procedures for the nomination and appointment of directors, make
recommendations to the Board on the appointment and succession
planning of directors, and assess the independence of independent

non-executive directors.
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The composition of the Nomination Committee during the year and

the attendance of the Committee meetings are as follows:

K& HE/ EEHE
Member Attendance/No. of meetings
BYkHTES

Independent non-executive director

®E(FE) 22
Jin Zhong (Chairman)

BEE 22
Huang Chunhua

TEHE 2/2

Wang Guozhen

EgHtL REZBERN TARAZESEHA
RREEFERELZTILERE - REZEEARAE

REAERTARZTILES (BERERE &8
HE B e BN FREMR)WES
ESCER
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73 (A
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BUED I SR A M FE R AR RS

During the meetings, the Nomination Committee reviewed the
Board composition and Board Diversity Policy of the Company. The
Nomination Committee considers that the Company maintains a
Board with a diversity of Directors in terms of skills, experience,

knowledge, expertise, culture, independence, age and gender.

RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

The Company’s Articles of Association specify that every director
should be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three
years and the director appointed to fill a casual vacancy shall hold
office only until the next following general meeting of the Company.
Ms. Qian Yuanying and Mr. Huang Chunhua will retire by rotation
according to Article 108(A) and (B). Both of them, being eligible, will

offer themselves for re-election.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the year, the remuneration in respect of statutory audit
services (including interim review) provided by the auditor of the
Company was HK$3,475,000. There was no other non-audit service

provided by the auditor.



28

Annual Report 2013 £

PXREBWS
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

ESUMBBRAAZER

REEE R AT RS B AR 2 & 8
ﬁ%ﬁZ%ﬁﬁﬁéﬁEZWﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ$Z§
F-REAEVBHRRE  EFARRRAEER
ABER MBRERDEFELCEEERH -

RABZBAMRERYBEREZBREEAHNE
FRENZMENBILZEMRENR -

PB4 A

EZErEMARARASERNREHZEE RS
TR ERE ERGCRRERABEERT
fEAEME B Rt - il NBBERN G - ARE
EﬁTW%Tﬂ%mmﬁﬁ THEE a%m%

m

“EZEE cREHREEBUNG  ZEE A
% R g ﬁ'@ﬁﬁlz&ﬁz? il o

IR R R

BRAE

ARBEBRRAERBERREZERHEBEBZH
G -BEERIFENUNREREZES FHZES

RHAZBEZEF BRERFEZBEALT - EER
ZEZARR) BRBERARE LEZRMH AR F
ZEMITRBFLEARBNBRBFAE (K
RBFRg) BB EEOERREMEERRLE
RBIUZEMBEZRREENT ZRMA - RRE
FRELBRBEERFH(BRERMAERNESR) R
EEERER -

DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITIES ON THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

It is the directors’ responsibility for the preparation of financial
statements which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of
the Group and the results and cash flows for each financial period.
In preparing the financial statements, the directors have to ensure
that appropriate accounting policies are adopted. The financial

statements are prepared on a going concern basis.

The statement of the auditor of the Company about the reporting
responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in the
Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 42 to 44 of the annual

report.

INTERNAL CONTROLS
The Board has overall responsibility for maintaining an adequate

system of internal controls of the Group and for reviewing its
effectiveness. The Board has delegated to the management the
implementation and evaluation of the system of internal controls.
With the assistance of an external advisor, the Group has conducted
a review of the effectiveness of the Group’s system of internal
control and reported the key findings to the Audit Committee.
The review covers major and material controls in areas of financial,

operational and compliance and risk management functions.

SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS

General Meeting

The general meetings of the Company provide an opportunity
for communication between the shareholders and the Board. The
Chairman of the Board as well as chairmen of the Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee, or in their
absence, their duly appointed delegates are available to answer
questions at the shareholders’ meetings. Auditor of the Company
is also invited to attend the Company’s annual general meeting
("AGM") and is available to assist the directors in addressing
queries from shareholders relating to the conduct of the audit and
the preparation and contents of the Independent Auditor’s Report.
Separate resolutions are proposed at shareholders’ meetings on each

substantial issue, including the election of individual directors.
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Notice of AGM together with related papers are sent to the
shareholders at least 20 clear business days before the meeting,
setting out details of each proposed resolution, voting procedures
and other relevant information. All votes of shareholders at the
general meeting will be decided by poll. The Chairman will demand
that all resolutions put to the vote at the AGM will be taken by
poll and will explain such rights and procedures during the AGM
before voting on the resolutions. An independent scrutineer will
be appointed to count the votes and the poll results will be posted
on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange after the
AGM.

Shareholders of the Company can make a requisition to convene
an extraordinary general meeting (“EGM"”) pursuant to Article 64
of the Company’s Articles of Association. The procedures for the

shareholders to convene an EGM are as follows:

1. One or more shareholders (“Requisitionist”) holding, at the
date of deposit of the requisition, not less than one tenth of
the paid up capital of the Company having the right of voting
at general meetings shall have the right, by written notice, to
require an EGM to be called by the directors for the transaction

of any business specified in such requisition.
2. Such requisition shall be made in writing to the directors or
the company secretary of the Company at all of the following

addresses:

Principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong

Address:  15/F, Club Lusitano, 16 Ice House Street, Central,
Hong Kong
Email: info@creh.com.hk

Attention: Company Secretary

Head office of the Company
Address: Dingshu Town, Yixing City, Jiangsu Province, the
People’s Republic of China

Attention: Company Secretary
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Registered office of the Company
Address: Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681,
Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands

Attention: Company Secretary

3. The EGM shall be held within two months after the deposit of

such requisition.

4. If the directors fail to proceed to convene such meeting within
21 days of such deposit, the Requisitionist himself may do so in
the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
Requisitionist as a result of the failure of the directors shall be

reimbursed to the Requisitionist by the Company.

Procedures for shareholders to direct enquiries to the
Company
For matters in relation to the Board, shareholders can contact the

Company at the following:

Address: 15/F, Club Lusitano, 16 Ice House Street, Central,
Hong Kong

Email: info@creh.com.hk

Tel: (852) 2869 6283

Fax: (852) 2136 0030

Attention: Company Secretary

For share registration related matters, such as share transfer and
registration, change of name or address, loss of share certificates or

dividend warrants, the registered shareholders can contact:

Hong Kong branch share registrar and transfer office
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Address: 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road
East, Hong Kong
Tel: (852) 2862 8555

Fax: (852) 2865 0990
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Procedures for shareholders to put forward proposals at
shareholders’ meetings

To put forward proposals at a general meeting of the Company,
a shareholder should lodge a written notice of his/her proposal
("Proposal”) with his/her detailed contact information at the
Company'’s principal place of business in Hong Kong at 15/F, Club

Lusitano, 16 Ice House Street, Central, Hong Kong.

The request will be verified with the Company’s branch share
registrar in Hong Kong and upon their confirmation that the request
is proper and in order, the Board will be asked to include the

Proposal in the agenda for the general meeting.

The notice period to be given to all the shareholders for
consideration of the Proposal raised by the shareholder concerned at
the general meeting varies according to the nature of the Proposal

as follows:

(@) At least 14 days' notice in writing if the Proposal requires

approval by way of an ordinary resolution of the Company.

(b) At least 21 days' notice in writing if the Proposal requires
approval by way of a special resolution of the Company in an

EGM or an ordinary resolution of the Company in an AGM.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company continues to enhance communications and
relationships with its investors. Designated senior management
maintain regular dialogue with institutional investors and analysts to
keep them abreast of the Company’s developments. Enquiries from

investors are dealt with in an informative and timely manner.

To promote effective communication, the Company also maintains
a website at www.creh.com.hk, where extensive information and
updates on the Company’s business developments and operations,

financial information and other information are posted.
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The directors have pleasure in presenting the annual report and
the audited consolidated financial statements of China Rare Earth
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”)
for the year ended 31 December 2013.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
principal activities of the Group are manufacturing and sales of rare

earth products and refractory products.

The principal activities of the subsidiaries are set out in Note 20 to

the financial statements.

SEGMENTAL INFORMATION
Details of segmental information of the Group are set out in Note 15

to the financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS
The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2013 are
set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss on page 45 of

the annual report.

No interim and final dividend was declared and paid to the

shareholders for the year.

Details of other appropriations are set out in Note 32 to the financial

statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY
The Company'’s reserves available for distribution comprise the share

premium account, fair value reserve and accumulated profits. As
at 31 December 2013, the reserves of the Company available for
distribution to shareholders amounted to HK$1,911,171,000.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A summary of the results of the Group for the past five financial

years is set out on page 176 of the annual report.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
CONSTRUCTION IN PROGRESS

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment and
construction in progress of the Group during the year are set out in

Note 17 to the financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of the authorised and issued share capital of the Company
as at 31 December 2013 are set out in Note 32 to the financial

statements.

BORROWINGS
There was no bank borrowings of the Group as at 31 December
2013.

RETIREMENT SCHEMES
Details of the retirement schemes of the Group are set out in Note

11 to the financial statements.

DIRECTORS
The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of

this report are:

Executive directors
Mr. Jiang Quanlong (Chairman)
Ms. Qian Yuanying (Deputy Chairman)

Mr. Jiang Cainan

Independent non-executive directors
Mr. Huang Chunhua

Mr. Jin Zhong

Mr. Wang Guozhen

In accordance with Articles 108(A) and (B) of the Company’s Articles
of Association, Ms. Qian Yuanying and Mr. Huang Chunhua will
retire by rotation from the Board at the forthcoming annual general

meeting and being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.
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1. RERXARGEZ

As at 31 December 2013, none of the directors has a service
contract with the Company which is not determinable by the
Company within one year without payment of compensation other

than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS

As at 31 December 2013, the interests and short positions of the
directors and chief executive of the Company and their associates
in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company
and its associated corporations as recorded in the register kept by
the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (“SFO"”) or as otherwise notified to the Company and
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors

of Listed Issuers were as follows:

1. INTERESTS IN SHARES OF THE COMPANY

ERATERIT

= ERME 54 R#% A BRANED L

Number of % to the issued share

Director Nature of interest/Capacity Shares capital of the Company

BoReE Bz s/ ZEDAZ 562,820,000 33.65%
Jiang Quanlong Interest of spouse/Interest of

controlled corporation
BTR EFEZBILA 562,820,000 33.65%

Qian Yuanying

ZERAD TYEBYY Holdings LimitediF A - £ & 86
EEATIRABYY Trustd) 5L AYYT (PTC) Limited
e MERARBRELENEBETRL
TRETEABEANNT - REHFRPEKHISE
XVEBZ EERBITELZ LT AYY TrustBI A © BR
BESE 4 AYY Holdings Limited )i —& = o

Founder of a trust

Note:

These shares are held through YY Holdings Limited, the entire issued
share capital of which is held by YYT (PTC) Limited, the trustee of YY
Trust, the discretionary object of which is a company wholly owned
by Ms. Qian Yuanying, the spouse of Mr. Jiang Quanlong, and her
sons. Ms. Qian Yuanying is a founder of YY Trust within the meaning
under Part XV of the SFO. Mr. Jiang Quanlong is the sole director of YY
Holdings Limited.



Annual Report 2013 £}

35

SEEHRS
DIRECTORS' REPORT

2. REBLAIRG  HARODIREE 2

fm
(a)

(b)

INTERESTS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES OR
EQUITY INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

HWHMERERLQT (a) Microtech Resources Limited
EZATE BT
N R i)
Bx BRME 54 ERTROENREAE HRWEDE
% in the class of
shares in the issued
Nature of interest/ Number and share capital
Director Capacity class of issued shares of the Company
B RBE EmREAA EIRERET 7,000,000 70%

Jiang Quanlong

—

= v
Qian Yuanying

Beneficial owner

BEalEAA

Beneficial owner

7,000,000 non-voting

deferred shares

15 EREEFERZ 193,000,0000% 30%
3,000,000 non-voting

deferred shares

HEFREARFLERAA (b) Yixing Xinwei Leeshing Rare Earth Company Limited
B BEME 5% RAEEZBOL
Director Nature of interest/Capacity % equity interest
R BE RERAZER 5%
Jiang Quanlong Interest of controlled corporation 5%
Wi - Note:

ZERGEDEREUTREEBRA AR
BoZPEMLXMBERELEREFIO%NE
& B TEI0%EEAEFIFE « BELER

BALEAEERRA

The equity interest is held by Yixing Xinwei Group Co., Ltd., a
PRC domestic enterprise 90% owned by Mr. Jiang Quanlong,
with the remaining 10% owned by his son. Mr. Jiang is also the
legal representative of the enterprise.
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(c) YY Holdings Limited

B= EEEE 56

Nature of interest/

(c) YY Holdings Limited

EZATRERT
IR A % AR 4D
HRWEDE

% in the class of

ERITROBRIRHE

shares in the issued

Number and share capital

Director Capacity class of issued shares of the Company
BITR EFEZBILA BRI 100%
Qian Yuanying Founder of a trust 1 ordinary share
BITHE EFEZ I A 12 55 117 25,0002 100%
Qian Yuanying Founder of a trust 25,000 preference shares
R XERB 2R BB 1K 100%
Jiang Quanlong Interest of controlled corporation 1 ordinary share
BoREE RENR S 1B 5 1% 1525,0000% 100%

Jiang Quanlong

YY Holdings Limited®) 2 502 2 /TR A YY
Trustf) 2 5EAYYT (PTC) LimitedfTi54 »
HIZABERELENRBETRZL
REFEEHEARNDRD - BESRBAEED
EXVE 2 EFEBITTHLZ T AYY TrustlIpk L
A o BRELAEAYYT (PTC) Limited &I M —
BE=Eo

B EMEEN RZE—=ZFF+A=F—
B REIEHFRBEKD]E326MFE
ZEEMAE - BiEAARERRITHE
HAEBEBATRER R RERAH QR 2K
-~ HERD REFFEXEEBFEEMA

BRI -

Interest of controlled corporation

25,000 preference shares

Note:

The entire issued share capital of YY Holdings Limited is held
by YYT (PTC) Limited, the trustee of YY Trust, the discretionary
object of which is a company wholly owned by Ms. Qian
Yuanying, the spouse of Mr. Jiang Quanlong, and her sons. Ms.
Qian Yuanying is a founder of YY Trust within the meaning under
Part XV of the SFO. Mr. Jiang Quanlong is the sole director of
YYT (PTC) Limited.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2013, none of
the directors or chief executive of the Company and their
associates had or was deemed to have any interest or short
position in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company and its associated corporations as recorded in the
register kept under Section 352 of the SFO.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME
On 4 June 2004, the shareholders of the Company approved the

adoption of a share option scheme (the “Scheme").

The major terms of the Scheme are as follows:

1. The purpose of the Scheme is to enable the Group to grant
options to the eligible participants as incentives or rewards for

their contribution to the Group.

2. The eligible participants included any employee (whether full-
time or part-time, including any executive director), any non-
executive director, any shareholder, any supplier and any
customer of the Company or any of its subsidiaries or any
entity in which any member of the Group holds any equity
interest, and any party having contribution to the development

and growth of the Group.

3. Under the Scheme, the total number of shares available for
issue is 98,695,305 which represents approximately 10% of
the issued share capital of the Company as at the date of

adoption of the Scheme.

4.  The maximum entitlement of each participant under the
Scheme in any 12-month period should not exceed 1% of the

issued share capital of the Company for the time being.

5. The exercisable period of an option granted may be
determined by the directors and which should not end later

than 10 years after the date of offer.

6. Any offer for the grant of an option may be accepted by
the participant within 21 days from the date of offer with a
consideration of HK$1 paid.
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7. The exercise price may be determined by the directors provided

that it should not be less than the highest of:

the closing price of the shares of the Company as stated
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheet on the date

of offer;

ii.  the average closing price of the shares of the Company as
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for
the five business days immediately preceding the date of

offer; and

ii. the nominal value of a share of the Company.

8. The Scheme is valid and effective for a period of 10 years from

18 June 2004, the date on which the Scheme was adopted.

During the year, there was no option granted, exercised, cancelled

or lapsed under the Scheme.

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement,
which enables any of the directors or chief executive of the
Company or their spouses or children under the age of 18 to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of,

the Company or any other body corporate.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS

So far as is known to the directors, as at 31 December 2013,
the interests and short positions of shareholders, other than the
directors or chief executive of the Company, in the shares and
underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register
kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO were as

follows:

1. YY Holdings Limited, the entire issued share capital of which
is held by YYT (PTC) Limited, was holding 562,820,000 shares
of the Company, representing approximately 33.65% of the

issued share capital of the Company as beneficial owner.

2. YYT (PTC) Limited was deemed to be interested in 562,820,000
shares of the Company held by YY Holdings Limited the entire
issued share capital of which is held by YYT (PTC) Limited.

Save as disclosed above, no other party, other than the directors or
chief executive of the Company, had notified the Company that he
had any interest or short position in the shares or underlying shares
of the Company as recorded in the register kept under Section 336
of the SFO as at 31 December 2013.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

During the year, the Group leased two office premises from Mr.
Jiang Quanlong for use as its sales and marketing office. During the
year, the total operating lease rentals paid in respect of these leases

amounted to approximately HK$902,000.

During the year, the Group paid approximately HK$66,000 as
a compensation to Wuxi Pan-Asia Environmental Protection
Technologies Limited (“Wuxi Pan-Asia”), a related company in which
Ms. Qian Yuanying and Mr. Jiang Quanlong were deemed to have

beneficial interests, for the use as office premises.

During the year, one of the jointly controlled entities of the Group
disposed certain prepaid lease payments on land under operating
leases to Wuxi Pan-Asia at a total consideration of approximately
HK$18,077,000.
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Save as disclosed above and in Note 34 to the financial statements,
no director had a beneficial interest, either direct or indirect, in
any contract of significance to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party at the year-end date or at any time during

the year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS
No contract concerning the management and administration of

the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Group was

entered into or existed during the year.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE

COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES
There has been no purchase, sale or redemption of any of the

Company’s listed securities by the Group during the year.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
The percentages of sales and purchases for the year attributable to

the Group's major customers and suppliers are as follows:

Sales
- the largest customer 12%
— five largest customers combined 38%
Purchases
— the largest supplier 18%
— five largest suppliers combined 49%

None of the directors, their associates or any shareholders which
to the knowledge of the directors, own more than 5% of the
Company'’s issued share capital has any interest in the share capital

of any of the five largest customers or suppliers of the Group.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company's
Memorandum and Articles of Association and the Cayman Islands
Companies Law in relation to the issue of new shares by the

Company.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the directors, the Company has maintained
sufficient public float as required under the Listing Rules during the

year.

AUDITOR

At the close of the 2013 annual general meeting held on 6 June
2013, CCIF CPA Limited retired as auditor of the Company upon
expiration of its term of office and because of business combination,
Crowe Horwath (HK) CPA Limited was appointed as new auditor of
the Company to hold office until the conclusion of the 2014 annual

general meeting.

Crowe Horwath (HK) CPA Limited will retire and, being eligible,

offer itself for re-appointment.

On behalf of the Board

Jiang Quanlong
Chairman
Hong Kong, 28 March 2014
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Crowe Horwath (HK) CPA Limited
Member Crowe Horwath International

&8 RS BIEET7HE SEP 08
9/F Leighton Centre,

77 Leighton Road,

Causeway Bay, Hong Kong

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
CHINA RARE EARTH HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Rare Earth Holdings Limited (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries
(together “the Group”) set out on pages 45 to 175, which comprise
the consolidated and company statements of financial position as
at 31 December 2013, and the consolidated statement of profit
or loss, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and

other explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that

are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit and to report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person

for the contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are

free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the

consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient

and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.



44

Annual Report 2013 F3§

18 Y 1% 8 B ¥R S
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

%E

KMRA  2EHEEUBRREBRBEE AN KR
EQH'JE‘EW’ Tk Bk ESER
“T=F+ZA=+—HHFERIR E%
BHZZALFENBEENRERE  UEKRE
BREEFINEBEREL AR -

HE%E (F8) BHBERFERA
ﬁ%ﬁ%%
8 —E-WME=F=+/\H

K
HMEFZEM/I - P06035

OPINION
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and

fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group
as at 31 December 2013, and of the Group’s loss and cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared in accordance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies

Ordinance.

Crowe Horwath (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 28 March 2014

Sze Wing Chun
Practising Certificate Number P06035
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

BE-Z2-=f1+=-A=+—HLEE For the year ended 31 December 2013

=B =F —E—_—F
2013 2012
B 5 FERT FHBT
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
=301 Turnover 5 1,488,282 2,101,918
§H & AR Cost of sales (1,705,842) (2,544,843)
EY Gross loss (217,560) (442,925)
H i e zs Other revenue 6 11,309 9,882
HERDHEER Selling and distribution expenses (44,476) (90,691)
EEEH Administrative expenses (84,655) (82,256)
H 518 F | Other net loss (36,873) (52,521)
KEEKEIE Loss from operations (372,255) (658,511)
B 75 B AR Finance costs 7(a) = (2,821)
EREPEBRzE Share of losses of joint ventures (8,200) (25,826)
MRBi A8 Loss before taxation 7 (380,455) (687,158)
FrisfiEe,/ () Income tax credit/(charge) 8 10,749 (12,361)
REEEE Loss for the year (369,706) (699,519)

THALEEAREERE: Loss for the year attributable to:
ZN/NETE PN Owners of the Company (354,650) (679,702)
FEIE IR 2 Non-controlling interests (15,056) (19,817)
(369,706) (699,519)

BRER Loss per share

—BEAREE — Basic and diluted 14 HK 21.20 centsi&{l  HK 40.64 cents/&{ll

E548E1758 2 MBI BmzRE+R —3H o The notes on pages 54 to 175 form part of these financial

statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

BE-F-—=F1+=-A=1+—ALHFE For the year ended 31 December 2013

—E—=F ——F
2013 2012
L3 FTHET FAT
Note HK$' 000 HK$’ 000
REFBE Loss for the year (369,706) (699,519)
AEEHMEEmKE Other comprehensive income
(MBRHEREHFHEAE) for the year (net of tax and
reclassification adjustments)
AIREEEFEAE Items that may be reclassified
BmirIEA - subsequently to profit or loss:
— B EBINEEHE®RA - Exchange differences on translation
ZEH = of financial statements of foreign
operations 105,718 (339)
—HEALMEMKRAE - Exchange differences on translation
ZIEH = of financial statements of joint
ventures 3,312 88
— A EERE S — Fair value gain on available-for-sale
N E R equity securities 22 160 2,800
109,190 2,549
TEEGFEEEm ik Item that will not be reclassified
HIEA - to profit or loss:
—MEBEAELZ — Deferred tax arising on
IR AER 18 change in tax rate 31(b) = 1,333
REEHMEEWEMLE  Total other comprehensive income
for the year 109,190 3,882
rEERXHEBEAE Total comprehensive loss
for the year (260,516) (695,637)
THALTEEREE Total comprehensive loss for
2HEREE: the year attributable to:
VIN/NEIE PN Owners of the Company (246,797) (675,811)
IR P A 2 Non-controlling interests (13,719) (19,826)
(260,516) (695,637)
FE54BE1758 2 MBI BmzRE+R —3H o The notes on pages 54 to 175 form part of these financial

statements.



Annual Report 2013 £

47

in G B #5 R R &

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

R=2—=F+=A=+—H As at 31 December 2013

—EBE-—=F —E——F
2013 2012
Bt 5 FTHET FAT
Note HK$' 000 HK$" 000
ERBEE Non-current assets
Bk Goodwill 16 - -
L E N Property, plant and equipment 17(a) 490,781 405,411
KERNTES TS Prepaid lease payments on
land under operating leases 18 183,844 182,709
BEE Intangible asset 19 = 43,963
RE & BEZERS Interests in joint ventures 21 105,087 109,930
A4 SRR R S Available-for-sale equity securities 22 9,680 9,520
RAEFIH & EE Deferred tax assets 31(b) 4,749 6,321
HMERBEE Other non-current asset 23 19,288 18,703
813,429 776,557
REEE Current assets
KERHTENS LA S Prepaid lease payments on
land under operating leases 18 4,587 4,448
rE Inventories 24 567,908 975,218
JFEE U R 0 % L A R IR Trade and other receivables 25 510,922 478,577
B HRIERES Prepayments and deposits 25 48,919 116,098
Al Ug [B] 7 38 Tax recoverable 31(a) 2,774 943
BB RITE K Pledged bank deposits 27 = 52,541
X IR R1T7 4 R Restricted bank balances 27 - 494
ReAREFMEIAE Cash and cash equivalents 28 1,369,054 1,236,290
2,504,164 2,864,609
hREEE Current liabilities
JEE 1+ B 3K Trade payables 29 103,652 94,664
TEIRE R R HE M ERRK Accruals and other payables 29 25,650 28,439
FENESHE Amounts due to directors 26 1,557 1,074
IBITER Bank borrowings 30 = 49,334
JE S HiIR Tax payable 31(a) 4,938 5,932
135,797 179,443
RBEETE Net current assets 2,368,367 2,685,166
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

R=2—=F+=A=+—8 As at 31 December 2013

—F-=F% T
2013 2012
B THExT FHT
Note HKS$' 000 HK$'000
EEHAERABERS Total assets less current liabilities 3,181,796 3,461,723
FRBEE Non-current liabilities
RERIBERE Deferred tax liabilities 31(b) 6,401 25,812
EERE NET ASSETS 3,175,395 3,435,911
BEXRHE CAPITAL AND RESERVES 32
[N Share capital 167,264 167,264
& Reserves 2,971,591 3,218,388
RAREEAELES Equity attributable to owners
of the Company 3,138,855 3,385,652
FEE R Non-controlling interests 36,540 50,259
ERBE TOTAL EQUITY 3,175,395 3,435,911

FASEEFITSAZEAMBRREAETERN
“Z-ME=A- T N\BHERRETE YA
IATALTREREE

BREE # 1 3%
EZ EZ

FES54RE 1758 2 MBI R H R —ak )

The consolidated financial statements on pages 45 to 175 were

approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 28

March 2014, and are signed on its behalf by:

Jiang Quanlong

Director

Qian Yuanying

Director

The notes on pages 54 to 175 form part of these financial

statements.
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

R=2—=F+=A=+—H As at 31 December 2013

—EBE-—=F —E——F
2013 2012
k=3 FTHER FAT
Note HK$' 000 HK$' 000
ERBEE Non-current assets
M BERRE Property, plant and equipment 17(b) 14 19
REB AR ZKE Investments in subsidiaries 20 151,707 151,707
A SRR S Available-for-sale equity securities 22 9,680 9,520
161,401 161,246
MEEE Current assets
BRRBERES Prepayments and deposits 25 876 781
FE U Fft |88 X Bl 3R IE Amounts due from subsidiaries 26 1,916,078 1,928,600
RekBFeFHEER Cash and cash equivalents 28 5,323 5,820
1,922,277 1,935,201
hEEE Current liabilities
TR E R KA MR Accruals and other payables 29 4,983 4,481
e E = RRIE Amounts due to directors 26 260 260
5,243 4,741
MEEERE Net current assets 1,917,034 1,930,460
EEFE NET ASSETS 2,078,435 2,091,706
xR fEE CAPITAL AND RESERVES 32
& A< Share capital 167,264 167,264
[ Reserves 1,911,171 1,924,442
ESEE TOTAL EQUITY 2,078,435 2,091,706

FABEERISEZHEAPBERREAERTEN
“E-ME=ZA -+ N\BHERRETE  IH

ATALTREREE

BRE
EF

FE54RE 1758 Z MR SR E R —ak ) -

March 2014, and are signed on its behalf by:

EZ

statements.

Jiang Quanlong
Director

The consolidated financial statements on pages 45 to 175 were
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 28

Qian Yuanying

Director

The notes on pages 54 to 175 form part of these financial
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

BE-F-—=F1+=-A=1+—ALHFE For the year ended 31 December 2013

FNARAARREER
Attributable to owners of the Company
B REtER KGR STERER HERE EXRE  ATERR REEA Mt FBRER 48
Buildings Fair Non-
Share Share Capital ~ revaluation Statutory Translation value Retained controlling
capital premium reserve reserve Teserves reserve reserve profits Sub-total interests Total
Tin Tin Tin Thn TEn Thn TEn TEn Tan Thn TAn
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS'000
R-F-—£-f-H At 1 January 2012 167,264 1,770,100 0348 30934 168,247 528,784 - 140739 4094916 70,085 4,165,001
e S v 373 R Changes in equityfor 2012:
LERER Lossfor the year - - - - - - - (679,702) (679,702) (19817) (699,519)
Hf2EhE Other comprehensive income
-BEEERIRRR - Exchange diferences on translaton
LERER offinancl satements
of foreign operations - - o o o (330) - - (330) © (339)
-BEAERZHERRL - Exchange diferences on tranlaton
EizE of fiandial statements
of joint ventures - - - - - 8 - - 8 - 8
~TREEREEFDTERE - Fairvalue gain on avalable-for-sale
equity securities - - - - - - 2800 - 2800 = 2,800
-HE2 RERE - Defered tax arising on change
(31) intax ate note 31) - - - 133 - - - - 133 - 133
KEE2ENE/(FB)BE  Total comprehensive incomel(oss)
for the year = = = 133 = (242) 2800 (679,702) (675811) (19,826) 695,637)
AREEREE Aopropriations to Statutory reserves - - - 88,439 - - 88439 - - -
HfaRET E1IE Transfer to retaned profts n respect
ERERTET of depreciation on revaluation
of buidings held for own use - - - (3429 - - 348 - - -
fnERkARETERS Transfer to retaned profts i respect
REEH  MBRE of disposals of buldings held
for own use, net of tax - - - (1,481) - - - 1481 - - -
RE (M) Dividends (note 13) = = = = = = (33453) (33453) = (33453)
RZZ-ZF+Zf=1-R At 31 December 2012 167,264 1,770,100 0348 21358 156,686 528,54 2800 610,554 3,385,632 50259 3435911




Annual Report 2013 £

51

I fm

GRS

BE®

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

BE-Z2-=f1+=-A=+—HLEE For the year ended 31 December 2013

FATRAARREER
Attributable to owners of the Company
i RrER KGR BTERER EERR Eifif  AVERR REEA Mt FERER e
Buildings Fair Non-
Share Share Capital ~ revaluation Statutory Translation value Retained controlling
capital premium reserve reserve TEServes reserve reserve profits Sub-total interests Total
Tin Thn TEn TEn TEn TEn TEn Thn TR Tin TEn
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS 000 HKS'000 HKS 000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS' 000 HKS'000 HKS'000
W=%-=%-7-A At 1 January 2013 167,264 1,770,100 0348 17358 156,686 528,54 2800 610,554 3,385,652 50,259 343591
ZE-CHIERRY: Changes in equity for 2013:
LERER Loss fo the year - - - - - - - (354,650) (354,650) (15,056) (369,706)
Aft2EhE Other comprehensive income
-BEENERIRER - Exchange diferences on transaton
LERER offinancal satements
of foreign operations - - - - - 104,381 - - 104,381 1337 105,718
-BEAERZHERRL - Exchange diferences on tranlaton
Eiz2 of financial statements
of joint ventures - - - - - 3312 - - 331 - 3312
-l EREEAL - Fair value gain on avalable-for-sale
pRa-les equity securites - - - - - - 160 - 160 - 160
REE2ENE/(FR)EE  Total comprehensive income/(loss)
for the year = = = = = 107,693 160 (354,650) (246,197) (13,719) (260,516)
AREETRE Appropriations t statutory reserves - - - - 2,109 - - 2,109) - -
b S Transer to etained profits i respect
BREREER of depreciation on revaluation
of buidings held for own use - (3.493) - - - 349 - - -
RZE-ZEFZAZT-B At31 December 2013 167,264 170,100 238 23865 5879 63635 2,960 257,288 3138855 36,540 315,39

F54RE1758 2 MR R Hh — &b -

The notes on pages 54 to 175 form part of these financial

statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

BE-F-—=F1+=-A=1+—ALHFE For the year ended 31 December 2013

—E-=F —T-CF
2013 2012
B & FHET FiBT
Note HKS$' 000 HK$'000
ReEEE Operating activities
B A& 18 Loss before taxation (380,455) (687,158)
FEIF R - Adjustments for:
B 75 B AR Finance costs 7(a) = 2,821
FEBA Interest income 6 (11,309) (9,882)
ME - HEREE Depreciation of property,
e plant and equipment 7(c) 69,188 73,171
AT TIEMN i Amortisation of prepaid lease payments
ez #iH on land under operating leases 7(c) 4,512 4,873
| EEE Amortisation of intangible asset 7(c) 12,792 12,598
KRR 2 REEE Impairment loss on trade receivables 7(c) 7,397 18,333
H e W2 B 1B Impairment loss on other receivables 7(c) 149 1,206
JE W BR 3K 2 R (B s 18 Reversal of impairment loss
o on trade receivables 7(c) (7,115) (7,575)
H i EU R 2 (B Reversal of impairment loss
EEEE on other receivables 7(c) (850) (69)
HEME - BE KB Net loss on disposals of property,
ZEEEE plant and equipment 7(c) 534 3,621
FEMG Write down of inventories 24(b) 143,920 457,640
7 & Bk # o) Reversal of write down of inventories 24(b) (21,465) (87,439)
a2 RERE Impairment loss on goodwill 16 = 21,773
BVEEZRERE Impairment loss on intangible asset 19 31,848 31,626
eEPEBEZE Share of losses of joint ventures 8,200 25,826
(142,654) (138,635)
BELESEH Changes in working capital
FERD,/(Em) Decrease/(increase) in inventories 313,146 (49,312)
JFE U5 BR R Ko L i FE U R (Increase)/decrease in trade and
(), m other receivables (19,647) 112,938
B HRIE RIS Decrease/(increase) in prepayments
wA /() and deposits 69,695 (14,137)
FERFBEZR32 0 CRL ) Increase/(decrease) in trade payables 6,241 (301)
TEIRE AN EMEMFURY  Decrease in accruals and other payables (3,474) (78,273)
JE T & H5RIEIE 1N Increase in amounts due to directors 483 555
BEFB,/ (ER)WESE  Cash generated from/(used in) operations 223,790 (167,165)
BB Income tax paid 31 (10,276) (64,950)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

BE-Z2-=f1+=-A=+—HLEE For the year ended 31 December 2013

—E-—=F —E——4F
2013 2012
Bt 5 FTHER FHT
Note HK$'000 HK$’ 000
BEEEE (ER) B Net cash generated from/(used in)
ReFE operating activities 213,514 (232,115)
RETEE Investing activities
BEWE BERRE Purchase of property, plant and equipment (148,201) (27,785)
HEWE  BEREE Proceeds from disposals of property,

Fr {5 5178 plant and equipment 6,912 15,093
FEEEEE Capital contributions to joint ventures - (24,800)
BB RITE KX Z IR Decrease in pledged bank deposits

IRITEE SRR and restricted bank balances 53,035 51,690
[EELEIRS Interest received 11,309 9,882

REZE (ER) Fid Net cash (used in)/generated
WIR € FE from investing activities (76,945) 24,080
RMEED Financing activities
BEEITER Repayment of bank borrowings (50,094) (197,336)
MERITERAMBERE Proceeds from new bank borrowings = 148,002
BRRITERFE Interest paid on bank borrowings = (2,821)
BT 8 Dividend paid = (33,453)
METEHFEANESFE Net cash used in financing activities (50,094) (85,608)
BERBEELEEER Net increase/(decrease) in cash
i GRd) FE and cash equivalents 86,475 (293,643)
FHReRALEEER Cash and cash equivalents at beginning
of the year 1,236,290 1,530,123
IEEZRH o HE Effect of changes in exchange rate 46,289 (190)
FRESRRAELEEER Cash and cash equivalents at end of
the year 28 1,369,054 1,236,290

F54RE1758 2 MR R E R — &b -

statements.

The notes on pages 54 to 175 form part of these financial
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1 —RES GENERAL

FEBIERERAR ((EARARADRAS
HEAMK LA —HERENEBREEA
a - ERONEBBES X SER AR ([H
RETD) LMo ARBIEMMEEREEEE
255 Bl ACricket Square, Hutchins Drive,
P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111,
Cayman Islands 2 2 A RAH£AE ([ E )
IEEEHEM T &iE -

RARZEESRAIREEERALTAYY
Holdings Limited ([YY Holdings]) @ #% 2 &
RIEE R LB B ML © YY Holdings it £
BRAERNRALERZIHBRE

ARBREMBAR (REAAEE]) RE
BUERHER T EM (BREACEMR) R A
m (BREEAMEEMMED) ARKERE

==

A aPBRRIAET (E])5F - B
ARARENBELEZHMBRE ZHEE
Bk - MARRRF B 2B R R 2D
ﬁEE%ﬁAEﬁ%(U\E%D cARAFEZR
B REHRERAEERERMBERR
M&WYY Holdings (KX Ihae E#¥ M AB 7T)
WEME MBI TERUBHRRERF

=i

China Rare Earth Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company
with limited liability and its shares are listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The
addresses of the Company’s registered office and principal
place of business are Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O.
Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, the Cayman Islands and
Dingshu Town, Yixing City, Jiangsu Province, the People’s

Republic of China (the “PRC"), respectively.

The immediate parent and the ultimate controlling party of the
Company is YY Holdings Limited (“YY Holdings”), which was
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands. YY Holdings does not

produce financial statements available for public use.

The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as
the “Group”) are engaged in manufacturing and sales of rare
earth products (including fluorescent products) and refractory
products (including high temperature ceramics products and

magnesium grains), and investment holding.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$"), which is the functional currency of
the Company and its subsidiaries operating in Hong Kong,
while the functional currency of the Company’s subsidiaries
established in the PRC is Renminbi (“RMB"). The directors
of the Company consider that presenting the consolidated
financial statements in Hong Kong dollars is preferable when
controlling and monitoring the performance and financial
position of the Group and in reporting to YY Holdings whose

functional currency is also Hong Kong dollars.
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2. FESHHEXE

a)
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

a)

Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which collective term
includes all applicable individual Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
(“HKASs") and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"),
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. These financial statements also
comply with the applicable disclosure provisions of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange (the “Listing Rules”). A summary of the
significant accounting policies adopted by the Group is

set out below.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs
that are first effective or available for early adoption
for the current accounting period of the Group and the
Company. Note 3 provides information on any changes
in accounting policies resulting from initial application of
these developments to the extent that they are relevant
to the Group for the current and prior accounting periods

reflected in these financial statements.
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2. FESFHHEGE) 2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

b) MEBRREHERE b) Basis of preparation of the financial statements
HE-_Z—=F+_A=1+—H8I#F The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
EZHREMBRERBIEANRT REK 31 December 2013 comprise the Company and its
BRANRAEENGERE I ER ° subsidiaries, and the Group's interests in joint ventures.
BRTFIEER T X &5 R P iR The measurement basis used in the preparation of the
REEFEI  HRUBREAEKA financial statements is the historical cost basis, except
At EREELEFE LKA o that the following assets are stated at their fair value as

explained in the accounting policies set out below:

-  BHtegBEF(ANE29) s & —  Buildings held for own use (see note 2(g)); and

- OEHERERES (HE2) ° - Available-for-sale equity securities (see note 2(f)).
BRENEFREEBUHREED 28 The preparation of financial statements in conformity
BREAFTEEEERELHE - itk with HKFRSs requires management to make judgements,
BRE% - M EHE - At RBRReFE estimates and assumptions that affect the application
BRZERREARIEE  BF K of policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities,
ARAZEHE ZEHAREAR income and expenses. The estimates and associated
HROBBEBELCREEEEBMHEERZ assumptions are based on historical experience and
EBEATHEABEZSBEBEMAEA various other factors that are believed to be reasonable
EEMEL  IEEREKREEE under the circumstances, the results of which form the
BRIAEKREMIEMESENEE K basis of making judgements about the carrying values
BECERABEMEL MG CEE-E of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
BE Tk e R Rl MEETEE © from other sources. Actual results may differ from these

estimates.

AEBFERFTEA T MBI BR&RIE The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
P - @t stz EHUNEFEE on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
B BlBEE et Est 2SR E g are recognised in the period in which the estimate is
R RNEREE Y ERIT AR revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the
- BIFEZ EHHARE K R SR A HE R o period of the revision and future periods if the revision

affects both current and future periods.

EEEBERATBYIEREEDRAT Judgements made by management in the application
ER W R B E AT E 2 HIE - of HKFRSs that have a significant effect on the financial
UREHA T EERAZRZEERR - 5 statements and major sources of estimation uncertainty

At A B 54 o are discussed in note 4.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

<)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The
Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the
entity and has the ability to affect those returns through
its power over the entity. When assessing whether the
Group has power, only substantive rights (held by the

Group and other parties) are considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the
consolidated financial statements from the date that
control commences until the date that control ceases.
Intra-group balances, transactions and cash flows and any
unrealised profits arising from intra-group transactions
are eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated
financial statements. Unrealised losses resulting from
intra-group transactions are eliminated in the same way
as unrealised gains but only to the extent that there is no

evidence of impairment.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a
subsidiary not attributable directly or indirectly to the
Company, and in respect of which the Group has not
agreed any additional terms with the holders of those
interests which would result in the Group as a whole
having a contractual obligation in respect of those

interests that meets the definition of a financial liability.
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

<)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests (Continued)
Non-controlling interests are presented in the
consolidated statement of financial position within
equity, separately from equity attributable to owners of
the Company. Non-controlling interests in the results of
the Group are presented on the face of the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income as an allocation of the total profit or loss and
total comprehensive income for the year between non-
controlling interests and owners of the Company.
Loans from holders of non-controlling interests and
other contractual obligations towards these holders
are presented as financial liabilities in the consolidated
statement of financial position in accordance with note
2(m).

Changes in the Group's interests in a subsidiary that
do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as
equity transactions, whereby adjustments are made to
the amounts of controlling and non-controlling interests
within consolidated equity to reflect the change in
relative interests, but no adjustments are made to

goodwill and no gain or loss is recognised.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is
accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in that
subsidiary, with a resulting gain or loss being recognised
in profit or loss. Any interest retained in that former
subsidiary at the date when control is lost is recognised
at fair value and this amount is regarded as the fair value
on initial recognition of a financial asset (see note 2(f))
or, when appropriate, the cost on initial recognition of
an investment in an associate or a joint venture (see note
2(d)).

In the Company’'s statement of financial position,
investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less any

impairment losses (see note 2(j)).
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

d)

Joint ventures

A joint venture is an arrangement whereby the Group
and other parties contractually agree to share control of
the arrangement, and have rights to the net assets of the

arrangement.

An investment in a joint venture is accounted for in
the consolidated financial statements under the equity
method, unless it is classified as held for sale (or included
in a disposal group that is classified as held for sale).
Under the equity method, the investment is initially
recorded at cost, adjusted for any excess of the Group’s
share of the acquisition-date fair values of the investee’s
identifiable net assets over the cost of the investment
(if any). Thereafter, the investment is adjusted for the
post acquisition change in the Group’s share of the
investee’s net assets and any impairment loss relating to
the investment (see note 2(j)). Any acquisition-date excess
over cost, the Group’'s share of the post-acquisition,
post-tax results of the investees and any impairment
losses for the year are recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, whereas the Group’s share of
the post-acquisition post-tax items of the investees’ other
comprehensive income is recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive

income.

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest
in the joint venture, the Group's interest is reduced
to nil and recognition of further losses is discontinued
except to the extent that the Group has incurred legal
or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf
of the investee. For this purpose, the Group's interest is
the carrying amount of the investment under the equity
method together with the Group’s long-term interests
that in substance form part of the Group’s net investment

in the joint venture.
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

d)

e)

Joint ventures (Continued)

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from transactions
between the Group and its joint venture are eliminated
to the extent of the Group’s interest in the investee,
except where unrealised losses provide evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred, in which case they

are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

If an investment in a joint venture becomes an investment
in an associate or vice versa, retained interest is not
remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be

accounted for under the equity method.

In all other cases, when the Group ceases to have joint
control over a joint venture, it is accounted for as a
disposal of the entire interest in that investee, with a
resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss.
Any interest retained in that former investee at the date
when joint control is lost is recognised at fair value
and this amount is regarded as the fair value on initial

recognition of a financial asset (see note 2(f)).

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of:

i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interest in the acquiree and the fair value of the
Group's previously held equity interest in the

acquiree; over

i) the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable
assets and liabilities measured as at the acquisition
date.

When (i) is greater than (i), then this excess is recognised
immediately in profit or loss as a gain on a bargain

purchase.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

e)

Goodwill (Continued)

Goodwill is stated at cost less accumulated impairment
losses. Goodwill arising on a business combination is
allocated to each cash-generating unit, or groups of cash
generating units, that is expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination and is tested annually for

impairment (see note 2(j)).

On disposal of a cash-generating unit during the
year, any attributable amount of purchased goodwill
is included in the calculation of the profit or loss on

disposal.

Other investments in equity securities
The Group's and the Company’s policies for investments
in equity securities, other than investments in subsidiaries

and joint ventures, are as follows:

Investments in equity securities are initially stated at
fair value, which is their transaction price unless it is
determined that the fair value at initial recognition
differs from the transaction price and that fair value
is evidenced by a quoted price in an active market for
an identical assets or liability or based on a valuation
technique that uses only data from observable markets.
Cost includes attributable transaction costs, except
where indicated otherwise below. These investments are
subsequently accounted for as follows, depending on

their classification:

Investments in securities held for trading are classified
as current assets. Any attributable transaction costs are
recognised in profit or loss as incurred. At the end of
each reporting period the fair value is remeasured, with
any resultant gain or loss being recognised in profit or

loss.
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

f)

9)

Other investments in equity securities (Continued)

Investments in securities which do not fall into any
of the above categories are classified as available-for-
sale securities. At the end of each reporting period, the
fair value is remeasured with any resultant gain or loss
being recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated separately in equity in the fair value reserve.
As an exception to this, investments in equity securities
that do not have a quoted price in an active market for
an identical instrument and whose fair value cannot
otherwise be reliably measured are recognised in the
statement of financial position at cost less impairment
losses (see note 2(j)). Dividend income from equity
securities are recognised in profit or loss in accordance

with the policies set out in notes 2(s)(iii).

When the investments are derecognised or impaired
(see note 2(j)), the cumulative gain or loss recognised
in equity is reclassified to profit or loss. Investments are
recognised/derecognised on the date the Group commits

to purchase/sell the investments.

Property, plant and equipment

Buildings held for own use are stated at their
revalued amount, being their fair value at the date
of the revaluation less any subsequent accumulated

depreciation.

Revaluations are performed with sufficient regularity to
ensure that the carrying amount of these assets does not
differ materially from that which would be determined

using fair values at the end of the reporting period.

Except for buildings held for own use, other property,
plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated

depreciation and impairment losses (see note 2(j)).
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

9)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Changes arising on the revaluation of buildings held for
own use are generally dealt with in other comprehensive
income and are accumulated separately in equity in the
buildings revaluation reserve. The only exceptions are as

follows:

- when a deficit arises on revaluation, it will be
charged to profit or loss to the extent that it
exceeds the amount held in the reserve in respect of
that same asset immediately prior to the revaluation;

and

— when a surplus arises on revaluation, it will be
credited to profit or loss to the extent that a deficit
on revaluation in respect of that same asset had

previously been charged to profit or loss.

The cost of self-constructed items of property, plant and
equipment includes the cost of materials, direct labour,
the initial estimate, where relevant, of the costs of
dismantling and removing the items and restoring the site
on which they are located, and an appropriate proportion
of production overheads and borrowing costs (see note

2(u)).

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of
an item of property, plant and equipment are determined
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds
and the carrying amount of the item and are recognised
in profit or loss on the date of retirement or disposal.
Any related revaluation surplus is transferred from the
buildings revaluation reserve to retained profits and is not

reclassified to profit or loss.
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
g) Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost or
valuation of items of property, plant and equipment, less
their estimated residual value, if any, using the straight-

line method over their estimated useful lives as follows:

- Buildings held for own use 20 years
-  Machinery and equipment 10 years
- Office equipment and fixtures 5 years
- Motor vehicles 5 years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost or valuation of the
item is allocated on a reasonable basis between the parts
and each part is depreciated separately. Both the useful
life of an asset and its residual value, if any, are reviewed

annually.

Construction-in-progress represents property, plant and
equipment under construction and pending installation
and is stated at cost less accumulated impairment
losses (see note 2(j)), if any. Cost includes the costs of
construction of buildings, the costs of machinery and
equipment and interest charges arising from borrowings
used to finance the acquisition of these assets during
the period of construction or installation and testing.
No provision for depreciation is made on construction-
in-progress until such time as the relevant assets are
completed and are available for their intended use. When
the assets concerned are brought into use, the costs
are transferred to other property, plant and equipment
and depreciated in accordance with the policy as stated

above.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

h)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an
expense in the period in which it is incurred. Expenditure
on development activities is capitalised if the product
or process is technically and commercially feasible and
the Group has sufficient resources and the intention
to complete development. The expenditure capitalised
includes the costs of materials, direct labour, and an
appropriate proportion of overheads and borrowing
costs, where applicable (see note 2(u)). Capitalised
development costs are stated at cost less accumulated
amortistation and impairment losses (see note 2(j)). Other
development expenditure is recognised as an expense in

the period in which it is incurred.

Other intangible assets that are acquired by the Group
are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation (where
the estimated useful life is finite) and impairment losses
(see note 2(j)(ii)).
goodwill and brands is recognised as an expense in the

Expenditure on internally generated

period in which it is incurred.

Amortisation of intangible assets with finite useful lives is
charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the
assets’ estimated useful lives. The following intangible
assets with finite useful lives are amortised from the date
they are available for use and their estimated useful lives
are as follows:

—  Technical know-how for rare 10 years

earth metal products

Both the period and method of amortisation are reviewed

annually.
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

i)

Lease assets

An arrangement, comprising a transaction or a series

of transactions, is or contains a lease if the Group

determines that the arrangement conveys a right to use

a specific asset or assets for an agreed period of time

in return for a payment or a series of payments. Such

a determination is made based on an evaluation of

the substance of the arrangement and is regardless of

whether the arrangement takes the legal form of a lease.

Classification of assets leased to the Group

Assets that are held by the Group under leases
which transfer to the Group substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership are classified as
being held under finance leases. Leases which do
not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the Group are classified as
operating leases except for land held for own use
under an operating lease, the fair value of which
cannot be measured separately from the fair value
of a building situated thereon at the inception of
the lease, is accounted for as being held under a
finance lease, unless the building is also clearly held
under an operating lease. For these purposes, the
inception of the lease is the time that the lease was
first entered into by the Group, or taken over from

the previous lessee.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

i) Lease assets (Continued)

ii)

iii)

Operating lease charges

Where the Group has the use of assets held under
operating leases, payments made under the leases
are charged to profit or loss in equal instalments
over the accounting periods covered by the lease
term, except where an alternative basis is more
representative of the pattern of benefits to be
derived from the leased assets. Lease incentives
received are recognised in profit or loss as an
integral part of the aggregate net lease payments
made. Contingent rentals are charged to profit
or loss in the accounting period in which they are

incurred.

The cost of acquiring land held under an operating
lease is amortised on a straight-line basis over the

period of the lease term.

Leasehold land and building

When a lease includes both land and building
elements, the Group assesses the classification of
each element as a finance or an operating lease
separately based on the assessment as to whether
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of each element have been transferred
to the Group, unless it is clear that both elements
are operating leases in which case the entire lease
is classified as an operating lease. Specifically, the
minimum lease payments (including any lump sum
upfront payments) are allocated between the land
and the building elements in proportion to the
relative fair values of the leasehold interests in the
land element and building element of the lease at

the inception of the lease.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
i) Lease assets (Continued)

jif)

Leasehold land and building (Continued)

To the extent the allocation of the lease payments
can be made reliably, interest in leasehold land that
is accounted for as an operating lease is presented
as “prepaid lease payments on land under operating
leases” in the consolidated statement of financial
position and is amortised over the lease term on a

straight-line basis.

) Impairment of assets

i)

Impairment of investment in equity securities and
other receivables

Investments in equity securities and other current
and non-current receivables that are carried at cost
or amortised cost or are classified as available-
for-sale securities are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period to determine whether there
is objective evidence of impairment. Objective
evidence of impairment includes observable data
that comes to the attention of the Group about one

or more of the following loss events:

—  significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

- a breach of contract, such as a default or

delinquency in interest or principal payments;

- it becoming probable that the debtor will
enter into bankruptcy or other financial

reorganisation;

- significant changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment that

have an adverse effect on the debtor; and

— a significant or prolonged decline in the fair
value of an investment in an equity instrument

below its cost.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

)] Impairment of assets (Continued)

i)

Impairment of investment in equity securities and
other receivables (Continued)
If any such evidence exists, any impairment loss is

determined and recognised as follows:

—  For investments in joint ventures accounted for
under the equity method in the consolidated
financial statements (see note 2(d)), the
impairment loss is measured by comparing the
recoverable amount of the investment with its
carrying amount in accordance with note 2(j)
(ii). The impairment loss is reversed if there
has been a favourable change in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable amount in

accordance with note 2(j)(ii).

—  For trade receivables and other financial assets
carried at amortised cost, the impairment
loss is measured as the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the present
value of the estimated future cash flows,
discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate (i.e., the effective
interest rate computed at initial recognition of
these assets), where the effect of discounting
is material. This assessment is made collectively
where financial assets carried at amortised cost
share similar risk characteristics, such as similar
past due status, and have not been individually
assessed as impaired. Future cash flows
for financial assets which are assessed for
impairment collectively are based on historical
loss experience for assets with credit risk

characteristics similar to the collective group.
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

)

Impairment of assets (Continued)

i)

Impairment of investment in equity securities and

other receivables (Continued)

If in a subsequent period the amount of an
impairment loss decreases and the decrease
can be linked objectively to an event occurring
after the impairment loss was recognised, the
impairment loss is reversed through profit or
loss. A reversal of an impairment loss shall not
result in the asset’s carrying amount exceeding
that which would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised in prior

years.

For available-for-sale securities, the cumulative
loss that has been recognised in the fair
value reserve is reclassified to profit or loss.
The amount of the cumulative loss that is
recognised in profit or loss is the difference
between the acquisition cost (net of any
principal repayment and amortisation) and
current fair value, less any impairment loss on
that asset previously recognised in profit or

loss.

Impairment losses recognised in profit or loss
in respect of available-for-sale equity securities
are not reversed through profit or loss. Any
subsequent increase in the fair value of such
assets is recognised in other comprehensive

income.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

)] Impairment of assets (Continued)

i)

ii)

Impairment of investment in equity securities and
other receivables (Continued)

Impairment losses are written off against the
corresponding assets directly, except for impairment
losses recognised in respect of trade debtors,
bills receivables and other receivables included
within trade and other receivables, whose recovery
is considered doubtful but not remote. In this
case, the impairment losses for doubtful debts
are recorded using an allowance account. When
the Group is satisfied that recovery is remote,
the amount considered irrecoverable is written
off against trade debtors, bills receivables and
other receivables directly and any amounts held
in the allowance account relating to that debt
are reversed. Subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously charged to the allowance account are
reversed against the allowance account. Other
changes in the allowance account and subsequent
recoveries of amounts previously written off directly

are recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment of other assets

Internal and external sources of information are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period to
identify indications that the following assets may
be impaired or, except in the case of goodwill, an
impairment loss previously recognised no longer

exists or may have decreased:

- goodwill;

- property, plant and equipment (other than
buildings carried at revalued amounts);

-  prepaid lease payments on land under
operating leases;

- intangible asset;

—  investments in subsidiaries in the Company’s
statement of financial position; and

- other non-current asset.
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

)

Impairment of assets (Continued)

ii)

Impairment of other assets (Continued)

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. In addition, for goodwill,
intangible assets that are not yet available for
use and intangible assets that have indefinite
useful lives, the recoverable amount is estimated
annually whether or not there is any indication of

impairment.

- Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the
greater of its fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. Where an asset does not
generate cash inflows largely independent
of those from other assets, the recoverable
amount is determined for the smallest
group of assets that generates cash inflows

independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Impairment of assets (Continued)

Impairment of other assets (Continued)

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or
loss if the carrying amount of an asset, or
the cash-generating unit to which it belongs,
exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment
losses recognised in respect of cash-generating
units are allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill allocated to the cash-
generating unit (or group of units) and then,
to reduce the carrying amount of the other
assets in the unit (or group of units) on a
pro rata basis, except that the carrying value
of an asset will not be reduced below its
individual fair values less costs of disposal (if

measurable), or value in use (if determinable).

Reversals of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than goodwill, an
impairment loss is reversed if there has been
a favourable change in the estimates used
to determine the recoverable amount. An
impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not

reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited
to the asset’s carrying amount that would
have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognised in prior years. Reversals
of impairment losses are credited to profit
or loss in the year in which the reversals are

recognised.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

)

k)

Impairment of assets (Continued)

jif)

Interim financial reporting and impairment

Under the Listing Rules, the Group is required to
prepare an interim financial report in compliance
with HKAS 34, Interim financial reporting, in respect
of the first six months of the financial year. At the
end of the interim period, the Group applies the
same impairment testing, recognition, and reversal
criteria as it would at the end of the financial year

(see notes 2(j)(i) and (ii)).

Impairment losses recognised in an interim period
in respect of goodwill and available-for-sale equity
securities are not reversed in a subsequent period.
This is the case even if no loss, or a smaller loss,
would have been recognised had the impairment
been assessed only at the end of the financial year
to which the interim period relates. Consequently, if
the fair value of an available-for-sale equity security
increase in the remainder of the annual period, or
in any other period subsequently, the increase is
recognised in other comprehensive income and not

profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net

realisable value.

Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost

formula and comprises all costs of purchase, costs of

conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the

inventories to their present location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the

ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of

completion and the estimated costs necessary to make

the sale.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

k)

m)

Inventories (Continued)

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those
inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in
which the related revenue is recognised. The amount of
any write down of inventories to net realisable value and
all losses of inventories are recognised as an expense in
the period the write-down or loss occurs. The amount
of any reversal of any write-down of inventories is
recognised as a reduction in the amount of inventories
recognised as an expense in the period in which the

reversal occurs.

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are initially recognised
at fair value and thereafter stated at amortised cost
using the effective interest method less allowance for
impairment of doubtful debts (see note 2(j)), except
where the receivables are interest-free loans made to
related parties without any fixed repayment terms or
the effect of discounting would be immaterial. In such
cases, the receivables are stated at cost less allowance for

impairment of doubtful debts.

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at
fair value less attributable transaction costs. Subsequent
to initial recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are
stated at amortised cost with any difference between
the amount initially recognised and redemption value
being recognised in profit or loss over the period of the
borrowings, together with any interest and fees payable,

using the effective interest method.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

n)

o)

p)

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair
value. Except for financial guarantee liabilities measured
in accordance with note 2(r)(i), trade and other payables
are subsequently stated at amortised cost unless the
effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case

they are stated at cost.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on
hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments
readily convertible into known amounts of cash and
which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes
in value, having been within three months of maturity
at acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Group’'s cash
management are also included as a component of cash
and cash equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated

statement of cash flows.

Employee benefits

i) Short-term employee benefits and contributions to
defined contribution retirement plans
Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave,
contributions to defined contribution retirement
plans and the cost of non-monetary benefits are
accrued in the year in which the associated services
are rendered by employees. Where payment or
settlement is deferred and the effect would be
material, these amounts are stated at their present

values.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Employee benefits (Continued)

p)

a)

ii)

iii)

Share-based payments

The fair value of share options granted to
employees is recognised as an employee cost with
a corresponding increase in a share option reserve
within equity. Where the employees have to meet
vesting conditions before becoming unconditionally
entitled to the options, the total estimated fair value
of the options is spread over the vesting period,
taking into account the probability that the options
will vest.

During the vesting period, the number of share
options that is expected to vest is reviewed. Any
resulting adjustment to the cumulative fair value
recognised in prior years is charged / credited to
profit or loss for the year of the review, unless the
original employee expenses qualify for recognition
as an asset, with a corresponding adjustment to
the share option reserve. On vesting date, the
amount recognised as an expense is adjusted to
reflect the actual number of options that vest
(with a corresponding adjustment to the share
option reserve) except where forfeiture is only due
to not achieving vesting conditions that relate to
the market price of the Company’s shares. The
equity amount is recognised in the share option
reserve until either the option is exercised (when
it is transferred to the share premium account) or
the option expires (when it is released directly to
retained profits).

Termination benefits
Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier
of when the Group can no longer withdraw the
offer of those benefits and when it recognises
restructuring costs involving the payment of
termination benefits.

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current
tax and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities
are recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that
they relate to items recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, in which case the relevant
amounts of tax are recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable

income for the year,

using tax rates enacted or

substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period,
and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous
years.
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

q)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible
and taxable temporary differences respectively, being
the differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their
tax bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from unused tax

losses and unused tax credits.

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax
liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to the extent that
it is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which the asset can be utilised, are recognised.
Future taxable profits that may support the recognition
of deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences include those that will arise from the reversal
of existing taxable temporary differences, provided those
differences relate to the same taxation authority and
the same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse
either in the same period as the expected reversal of
the deductible temporary differences or in periods into
which a tax loss arising from the deferred tax asset can
be carried back or forward. The same criteria are adopted
when determining whether existing taxable temporary
differences support the recognition of deferred tax assets
arising from unused tax losses and credits, that is, those
differences are taken into account if they relate to the
same taxation authority and the same taxable entity, and
are expected to reverse in a period, or periods, in which

the tax loss or credit can be utilised.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

q)

Income tax (Continued)

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax
assets and liabilities are those temporary differences
arising from goodwill not deductible for tax purposes, the
initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect neither
accounting nor taxable profit (provided they are not part
of a business combination), and temporary differences
relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that,
in the case of taxable differences, the Group controls
the timing of the reversal and it is probable that the
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future, or
in the case of deductible differences, unless it is probable

that they will reverse in the future.

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured based
on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of
the carrying amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax
rates enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the
reporting period. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not

discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and is reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow the related tax benefit to
be utilised. Any such reduction is reversed to the extent
that it becomes probable that sufficient taxable profits

will be available.

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution
of dividends are recognised when the liability to pay the

related dividends is recognised.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

q)

Income tax (Continued)

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and
movements therein, are presented separately from
each other and are not offset. Current tax assets are
offset against current tax liabilities, and deferred tax
assets against deferred tax liabilities, if the Group or
the Company has the legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the

following additional conditions are met:

- in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the
Group or the Company intends either to settle on
a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the

liability simultaneously; or

- in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities,
if they relate to income taxes levied by the same

taxation authority on either:

—  the same taxable entity; or

- different taxable entities, which, in each
future period in which significant amounts of
deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to
be settled or recovered, intend to realise the
current tax assets and settle the current tax
liabilities on a net basis or realise and settle

simultaneously.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

r)  Financial guarantees issued, provisions and

contingent liabilities

(i)

Financial guarantees issued

Financial guarantees are contracts that require
the issuer (i.e. the guarantor) to make specified
payments to reimburse the beneficiary of the
guarantee (the “holder”) for a loss the holder incurs
because a specified debtor fails to make payment
when due in accordance with the terms of a debt

instrument.

Where the Group issues a financial guarantee, the
fair value of the guarantee is initially recognised as
deferred income within trade and other payables.
The fair value of financial guarantees issued at the
time of issuance is determined by reference to fees
charged in an arm’s length transaction for similar
services, when such information is obtainable, or
is otherwise estimated by reference to interest rate
differentials, by comparing the actual rates charged
by lenders when the guarantee is made available
with the estimated rates that lenders would have
charged, had the guarantees not been available,
where reliable estimates of such information can be
made. Where consideration is received or receivable
for the issuance of the guarantee, the consideration
is recognised in accordance with the Group's
policies applicable to that category of asset. Where
no such consideration is received or receivable, an
immediate expense is recognised in profit or loss on

initial recognition of any deferred income.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

r)

Financial guarantees issued, provisions and

contingent liabilities (Continued)

(i)

(i)

Financial guarantees issued (Continued)

The amount of the guarantee initially recognised
as deferred income is amortised in profit or loss
over the term of the guarantee as income from
financial guarantees issued. In addition, provisions
are recognised in accordance with note 2(r)(ii) if
and when (i) it becomes probable that the holder of
the guarantee will call upon the Group under the
guarantee, and (ii) the amount of that claim on the
Group is expected to exceed the amount currently
carried in trade and other payables in respect of that
guarantee (i.e. the amount initially recognised less

accumulated amortisation).

Other provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for other liabilities of
uncertain timing or amount when the Group or
the Company has a legal or constructive obligation
arising as a result of a past event, it is probable that
an outflow of economic benefits will be required to
settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be
made. Where the time value of money is material,
provisions are stated at the present value of the

expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required, or the amount
cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is
disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is
remote. Possible obligations, whose existence
will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future events are
also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is

remote.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

s)

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration

received or receivable. Provided it is probable that the

economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue

and costs, if applicable, can be measured reliably, revenue

is recognised in profit or loss as follows:

ii)

fii)

Sale of goods

Revenue is recognised when the Group has
transferred the risks and rewards of ownership of
the goods to its customers. Revenue excludes value-
added and other sales taxes and is after deduction

of any goods returns and trade discounts.

Interest income
Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the

effective interest method.

Dividend income
Dividend income from unlisted investments is
recognised when the shareholder’s right to receive

payment is established.

Dividend income from listed investments is
recognised when the share price of the investment

goes ex-dividend.
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Foreign currency transactions during the year are
translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at
the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of the reporting
period. Exchange gains and losses are recognised in profit

or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the
transaction dates. Non-monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at fair
value are translated using the foreign exchange rates

ruling at the dates the fair value was determined.

The results of foreign operations are translated into
Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates approximating
the foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates of the
transactions. Statement of financial position items,
including goodwill arising on consolidation of foreign
operations acquired on or after 1 January 2005, are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the closing foreign
exchange rates ruling at the end of the reporting period.
The resulting exchange differences are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated separately
in equity in the translation reserve. Goodwill arising on
consolidation of a foreign operation acquired before 1
January 2005 is translated at the foreign exchange rate
that applied at the date of acquisition of the foreign

operation.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative
amount of the exchange differences relating to that
foreign operation is reclassified from equity to profit or

loss when the profit or loss on disposal is recognised.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

u)

V)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of an asset which
necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready
for its intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the
cost of that asset. Other borrowing costs are expensed in

the period in which they are incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost
of a qualifying asset commences when expenditure for
the asset is being incurred, borrowing costs are being
incurred and activities that are necessary to prepare
the asset for its intended use or sale are in progress.
Capitalisation of borrowing costs is suspended or ceases
when substantially all the activities necessary to prepare
the qualifying asset for its intended use or sale are

interrupted or complete.

Related parties
(a) A person, or a close member of that person’s family,

is related to the Group if that person:

i) has control or joint control over the Group;

ii)  has significant influence over the Group; or

iii) is a member of the key management personnel

of the Group or the Group's parent.
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

V)

Related parties (Continued)

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the

following conditions applies:

iii)

Vi)

vii)

The entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to
the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which the

other entity is a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same

third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the third

entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the

Group or an entity related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by

a person identified in note 2(v)(a).

A person identified in note 2(v)(a)(i) has
significant influence over the entity or is a
member of the key management personnel of

the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

Close members of the family of a person are those

family members who may be expected to influence,

or be influenced by, that person in their dealings

with the entity.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
w) Segment reporting
Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the consolidated financial statements,
are identified from the financial information provided
regularly to the Group’s chief operating decision maker
for the purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing
the performance of, the Group’s various lines of business

and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and
are similar in respect of the nature of products and
services, the nature of production processes, the type or
class of customers, the methods used to distribute the
products or provide the services, and the nature of the
regulatory environment. Operating segments which are
not individually material may be aggregated if they share

a majority of these criteria.

3. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The HKICPA has issued a number of new HKFRSs and
amendments to HKFRSs that are first effective for the current
accounting period of the Group and the Company. Of these,
the following developments are relevant to the Group’s
financial statements:
Amendments to HKAS 1 Presentation of financial statements

— Presentation of items of other

comprehensive income
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Amendments to HKFRS 7

Disclosures — Offsetting financial

assets and financial liabilities

HKFRS 10 Consolidated financial statements
HKFRS 11 Joint arrangements

HKFRS 12 Disclosure of interests in other entities
HKFRS 13 Fair value measurement

Revised HKAS 19

Employee benefits

Annual improvements to HKFRSs 2009 — 2011 Cycle
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CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
The Group has not applied any new and revised standard

or interpretation that is not yet effective for the current
accounting period. Except as described below, the application
of the new and revised HKFRSs in the current year has had
no material impact on the Group’s financial performance and
positions for the current and prior years, and on the disclosures

set out in the Group's financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation of financial
statements — Presentation of items of other
comprehensive income

The amendments require entities to present separately
the items of other comprehensive income that would be
reclassified to profit or loss in the future if certain conditions
are met from those that would never be reclassified to profit
or loss. The presentation of other comprehensive income
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income in these financial statements has been

modified accordingly.

In addition, the Group has chosen to use the new titles of
“statement of profit or loss” and “statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income” as introduced by the

amendments in these financial statements.
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CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
HKFRS 10, Consolidated financial statements

HKFRS 10 replaces the requirements in HKAS 27, Consolidated
and separate financial statements relating to the preparation of
consolidated financial statements and HK-SIC 12 Consolidation
— Special purpose entities. It introduces a single control model
to determine whether an investee should be consolidated, by
focusing on whether the entity has power over the investee,
exposure or rights to variable returns from its involvement
with the investee and the ability to use its power to affect the

amount of those returns.

As a result of the adoption of HKFRS 10, the Group has
changed its accounting policy with respect to determining
whether it has control over an investee. The adoption does not
change any of the control conclusions reached by the Group
in respect of its involvement with other entities as at 1 January
2013.

HKFRS 11, Joint arrangements

HKFRS 11, which replaces HKAS 31, Interests in joint ventures,
divides joint arrangements into joint operations and joint
ventures. Entities are required to determine the type of
an arrangement by considering the structure, legal form,
contractual terms and other facts and circumstances relevant
to their rights and obligations under the arrangement. Joint
arrangements which are classified as joint operations under
HKFRS 11 are recognised on a line-by-line basis to the extent
of the joint operator’s interest in the joint operation. All other
joint arrangements are classified as joint ventures under HKFRS
11 and are required to be accounted for using the equity
method in the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
Proportionate consolidation is no longer allowed as an

accounting policy choice.
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CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
HKFRS 11, Joint arrangements (Continued)

As a result of the adoption of HKFRS 11, the Group has
changed its accounting policies with respect to its interests in
joint arrangements and re-evaluated its involvement in its joint
arrangements. The Group has reclassified its investments from
jointly controlled entities to joint ventures. The investments
continue to be accounted for using the equity method and
therefore this reclassification does not have any material
impact on the financial position and the financial result of the

Group.

HKFRS 12, Disclosure of interests in other entities

HKFRS 12 brings together into a single standard all the
disclosure requirements relevant to an entity’s interests in
subsidiaries, joint arrangements, associates and unconsolidated
structured entities. The disclosures required by HKFRS 12 are
generally more extensive than those previously required by
the respective standards. To the extent that the requirements
are applicable to the Group, the Group has provided those

disclosures in notes 20 and 21.

HKFRS 13, Fair value measurement

HKFRS 13 replaces existing guidance in individual HKFRSs with
a single source of fair value measurement guidance. HKFRS 13
also contains extensive disclosure requirements about fair value
measurements for both financial instruments and non-financial
instruments. To the extent that the requirements are applicable
to the Group, the Group has provided those disclosures in
notes 17 and 36.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

a)

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies

which are described in note 2, management has made

certain key assumptions concerning the future, and other

key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the

reporting period, that may have a significant risk of

causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts

of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, as

discussed below.

i)

Useful lives and residual values of property, plant
and equipment and prepaid lease payments on land
under operating leases

Management determines the estimated useful lives
and residual values for the Group’s property, plant
and equipment and prepaid lease payments on
land under operating leases in accordance with the
accounting policy stated in note 2(g) and note 2(i)
respectively. The Group will revise the depreciation
charge and the amortisation expense where useful
lives and residual values are different from previous
estimates, or will write off or write down technically
obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been
abandoned or sold.

Estimation of impairment of property, plant and
equipment except for buildings held for own use

If circumstances indicate that the carrying value
of an item of the property, plant and equipment
except for buildings held for own use may not
be recoverable, the asset may be considered
“impaired”, and an impairment loss may be
recognised in profit or loss in accordance with the
accounting policy for impairment of property, plant
and equipment as described in note 2(j)(ii). The
carrying amounts of assets are reviewed periodically
in order to assess whether the recoverable amounts
have declined below the carrying amounts. These
assets are tested for impairment whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate that their
recorded carrying amounts may not be recoverable.
When such a decline has occurred, the carrying
amount is reduced to recoverable amount.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

(Continued)
Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

a)

ii)

jii)

Estimation of impairment of property, plant and
equipment except for buildings held for own use
(Continued)

The recoverable amount is the greater of the fair
value less costs to sell and the value in use. In
determining the value in use, expected future cash
flows generated by the asset are discounted to their
present value, which requires significant judgement
relating to the level of revenue and amount of
operating costs. The Group uses all readily available
information in determining an amount that is a
reasonable approximation of recoverable amount,
including estimates based on reasonable and
supportable assumptions and projections of the
level of revenue and amount of operation costs.
Changes in these estimates could have a significant
impact on the carrying value of the assets and
could result in additional impairment charge or
reversal of impairment in future periods. As at 31
December 2013, the carrying amount of property,
plant and equipment except for buildings held for
own use is approximately HK$314,857,000 (2012:
HK$216,557,000).

Estimation of fair value of buildings held for own use
As described in note 17(c)(i), the buildings held for
own use were revalued as at 31 December 2013
and 2012 using the depreciated replacement cost
approach by independent qualified professional
valuers. Such valuations were based on certain
assumptions, which are subject to uncertainties
and might materially differ from the actual results.
In making the judgement, the Group considers
information such as the amounts of the depreciated
replacement cost of the buildings and deductions to
account for physical deterioration and all relevant
forms of obsolescence and optimisation existing at
the end of the reporting period. As at 31 December
2013, the carrying amount of buildings held for
own use is approximately HK$175,924,000 (2012:
HK$188,854,000).
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

a) Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

iv)  Estimation of impairment of intangible asset and
prepaid lease payments on land under operating
leases
The Group performs annual assessments on
whether there has been impairment of intangible
asset and prepaid lease payments on land under
operating leases in accordance with the accounting
policy stated in note 2(j). The recoverable amounts
of cash-generating units are determined based
on value in use calculations. These calculations
require the use of estimates and assumptions
made by management on the future operation
of the business, pre-tax discount rates, and
other assumptions underlying the value in use
calculations. As at 31 December 2013, the carrying
amount of prepaid lease payments on land under
operating leases is approximately HK$188,431,000
(2012: HK$187,157,000). During the year ended
31 December 2013, impairment loss on intangible
asset of approximately HK$31,848,000 (2012:
HK$31,626,000) was recognised and the details of

which are disclosed in note 19.

v)  Amortisation of intangible asset
Intangible asset is amortised on a straight-line
basis over its estimated useful life in accordance
with the accounting policy stated in note 2(h).
The determination of the useful life involves
management’s estimation. The Group re-assesses
the useful life of the intangible asset and, if the
expectation differs from the original estimate, such
a difference may impact the amortisation for the
year and the estimate will be changed in the future

period.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

a)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Vi)

vii)

Estimation of impairment of receivables

The policy for recognition of impairment on
receivables is based on the evaluation of
collectibility, ageing analysis of accounts and on
management’s judgement. A considerable amount
of judgement is required in assessing the ultimate
realisation of these receivables, including the current
creditworthiness and the past collection history of
each debtor. If the financial conditions of these
debtors were to deteriorate, resulting in impairment
of their ability to make payments, additional
impairment loss may be required. As at 31
December 2013, the carrying amount of trade and
other receivables is approximately HK$510,922,000
(2012: HK$478,577,000). Details of the impairment

of receivables are disclosed in note 25(c).

Net realisable value of inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Net realisable value is determined
on the basis of the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business, less estimated cost
of completion and the estimated cost necessary
to make the sale. These estimates are based on
the current market conditions and the historical
experience of manufacturing and selling products
of similar nature. The directors of the Company
estimate the net realisable value for inventories
based primarily on the latest invoice prices and
current market conditions. As at 31 December
2013, the directors of the Company performed a
review on a product-by-product basis and made
a write down of its inventories of approximately
HK$143,920,000 (2012: HK$457,640,000)
and a reversal of write down of inventories
of approximately HK$21,465,000 (2012:
HK$87,439,000).
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

b)

Critical accounting judgements in applying the
Group’s accounting policies

In determining the carrying amounts of certain assets and
liabilities, the Group makes assumptions for the effects of
uncertain future events on those assets and liabilities at
the end of each reporting period. These estimates involve
assumptions about such items as cash flows and discount
rates used. The Group’s estimates and assumptions
are based on historical experience and expectations of
future events and are reviewed periodically. In addition
to assumptions and estimations of future events,
judgements are also made during the process of applying

the Group's accounting policies.

i) Income taxes and deferred taxation
The Group is subject to income tax in Hong Kong
and various taxes in the PRC. Significant judgement
is required in determining the provision for taxation.
There are many transactions and calculations for
which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain
during the ordinary course of business. The Group
recognises liabilities for anticipated tax issues based
on estimates of whether additional tax will be
due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters
is different from the amounts that were initially
recorded, such differences will impact the income
tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in

which such determination is made.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

b)

Critical accounting judgements in applying the

Group's accounting policies (Continued)

i)

i)

Income taxes and deferred taxation (Continued)
Deferred tax assets relating to certain temporary
differences are recognised as management considers
it is probable that future taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences
or tax losses can be utilised. Where the expectation
is different from the original estimate, such
differences will impact the recognition of deferred
tax assets and tax charge in the periods in which
such estimate is changed. In this regard, the Group
has recognised deferred tax assets of approximately
HK$4,749,000 (2012: HK$6,321,000) as at 31
December 2013.

Withholding tax arising from the distribution of
dividends

The Group’s determination as to whether to accrue
for withholding tax arising from the distribution
of dividends from certain subsidiaries according
to the relevant tax law and regulations is subject
to judgement on the timing of the payment of
dividends. The Group considers that if the profits
of these subsidiaries will not be distributed in the
foreseeable future, then no withholding tax should

be provided.
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5. TURNOVER

Turnover represents the sales value of goods supplied to
customers which excludes value-added and other sales

taxes, and is after deduction of any goods returns and trade

discounts. The amount of each significant category of revenue

recognised in turnover during the year is as follows:

—E-=F ZE—CZfF
2013 2012
T FAT
HK$'000 HK$’ 000
5 + B Sales of rare earth products
(BRELEIER)HE (including fluorescent products) 1,090,092 1,626,524
i} N 2 am Sales of refractory products
(RESARBEER (including high temperature ceramics
REW)HE products and magnesium grains) 398,190 475,394
1,488,282 2,101,918
H iy 22 6. OTHER REVENUE
—E-=fF —E—_F
2013 2012
T FAT
HK$’'000 HK$’ 000
RITFRFEWA Interest income from bank deposits 11,309 9,882
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7. LOSS BEFORE TAXATION
Loss before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

—E-=f —E——F
2013 2012
TEx THT
HK$’ 000 HK$’000
a) BBEF a)  Finance costs
ARTFERNTHER Interest expenses on bank borrowings wholly
ZBRTEFFEX T repayable within five years - 2,821
b) BIFK (BEMEI b)  Staff costs  (including directors’
FEvEEHE) emoluments in note 9)
HeRIE Salaries and wages 58,541 56,358
RIREFE B3R Retirement benefits scheme
(BE11) contributions (note 11) 4,798 4,329
63,339 60,687
o HftEE ¢)  Otheritems
ZE A& Auditor’s remuneration 3,475 3,475
FRAA (HizE24(b))* Cost of inventories (note 24(b)) # 1,705,842 2,544,843
ME  BEREHE 2 NE Depreciation of property, plant and equipment * 69,188 73,171
RERNH RN T Amortisation of prepaid lease payments
ik 3 on land under operating leases * 4,512 4,873
BV AEER Amortisation of intangible asset # 12,792 12,598
BRER 2 REEE Impairment loss on trade receivables 7,397 18,333
Hit e 2 mEER Impairment loss on other receivables 149 1,206
FEUER T2 R E B iR B Reversal of impairment loss on trade receivables (7,115) (7,575)
Hitteh S 2 REERRER Reversal of impairment loss on other receivables (850) (69)
HENE  BERRE Net loss on disposals of property,
ZEEFE plant and equipment 534 3,621
[ BB E Net exchange loss 15,776 531
HEMEELEHE X W Operating lease charges on rented premises * 2,458 2,360
HEZREBE Impairment loss on goodwill * - 21,773
EREEZREEE Impairment loss on intangible asset * 31,848 31,626
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7.

8.

BRBLAT S 18 (&)

BE_T—=F+_A=+—HItFEH
B FERABEEHEINAE  HEKE
SHBI T LA R A & T A0 B FH £9128,574,0007%
JL(=ZT— =4 : 133,125,000 7T) ' B
FENRERESENRIAA LB HEEZ

* ZERERGABHRRFARMBRER

REBBRAZFAEB

a) HEBEHERAZMERE

LOSS BEFORE TAXATION (Continued)

#

During the year ended 31 December 2013, cost of
inventories included approximately HK$128,574,000 (2012:
HK$133,125,000) relating to staff costs, depreciation and
amortisation expenses, and operating lease charges, which
amounts were also included in the respective total amounts
disclosed separately above for each of these types of expenses.

These items are included in other net loss in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF PROFIT OR LOSS

a)

Income tax in the consolidated statement of profit or loss

represents:

—EBE-—=F —E—_F
2013 2012
FTHER FAT
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
REBIE- FEM¥EFTSH  Current tax - PRC Enterprise Income Tax
FEEE (HFE310) Provision for the year (note 31(a)) (7,068) (12,261)
EFERETR Under-provision in prior year (note 31(a))
(KT=¥31(a)) (347) -
(7,415) (12,261)
AEHRE-FEREH Current tax - Hong Kong Profits Tax
FEEE (H:E310) Provision for the year (note 31(a)) = (2,414)
(7,415) (14,675)
EEHRIE Deferred taxation
TREEREZEAR Origination and reversal of temporary
#Em (BEE31(b)) differences (note 31(b)) 18,164 2,314
FIEHER,/ (1) Income tax credit/(charge) 10,749 (12,361)

ARARAREMBLRASFIRASHES
REBRZESEMKL  RIERE
FEEREMKRZER 2R LR - &
AN ERFAEHR -

The Company and its subsidiaries incorporated in the
Cayman Islands and the British Virgin Islands, respectively,
are not subject to any income tax pursuant to the
rules and regulations of their respective countries of

incorporation.
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8. HMEARBRAZMEH (&) 8.

a) (&)
HRAEBREBEE_T—=F+_A
=t BIEFEREEEEEGTE
SRR A R I Rt R RS R E
B

BE-2-—F+-A=t-A&R
MR- EEFERDRERESE L
2 (B RGO FIR16. 5% 8 -

HE_Z—=FR-ZF—-F1+=A
=+—BLEFEHBE FRCEMF
B TYAR R AR B AR B B 2 2 BT B A
7] 2 fi 5T B SR B i AR % TE P 19 i K
25%% & ©

RFHE 2B EBRBEN KRG - T
FIRPBERL 2 MB AR ZERE T
MIEE R

() EREBREFSBEMHERIA
EEBHFBEMNKEERBERA
AEEB_TENF-—A—HE
AMEFREHRRTEAEMSH
BEIR =FR50%HERR - B E
—T=F+t_HA=t—HL#F
B ZENBRAREAREE
FT S 25 % MBI IE -

(i) HEEFEMKBHBLBRADE (F
KBt R=ZTE——F+=A
ZTZHERRANEREZ &
Bt - WA EHEEEMEH
K15% o

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued)

a)

(Continued)

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax is provided for
as the Group did not have estimated assessable profits
arising in Hong Kong during the year ended 31 December
2013.

Hong Kong Profits Tax was calculated at 16.5% on the
estimated assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during
the year ended 31 December 2012.

PRC Enterprise Income Tax is calculated at the statutory
income tax rate of 25% on the estimated assessable
profits of the Company’s subsidiaries established in the
PRC during the years ended 31 December 2013 and
2012.

Pursuant to the relevant tax laws and regulations in the
PRC, the following subsidiaries established in the PRC are

entitled to certain tax exemptions.

(i)  Yixing Wellfire Nonmetal Materials Co., Ltd. and
Hai Cheng Xinwei Leeshing Magnesium Resources
Co., Ltd. were entitled to the exemptions from PRC
Enterprise Income Tax for two years starting from 1
January 2008, followed by a 50% tax relief for the
next three years. These subsidiaries are currently
subject to the statutory income tax rate of 25%

during the year ended 31 December 2013.

(i) Yixing Xinwei Leeshing Rare Earth Company Limited
(“Leeshing Rare Earth”) became a foreign invested
“encouraged hi-tech enterprise” with effective from
22 December 2011 and is entitled to a preferential

income tax rate of 15%.
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8. HEBBRAZMED (5

a) (&)
(i) B
R—_ZE——FNA=-+H

8. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued)
a) (Continued)

T 8 A B i XM R B BR A (i) Yixing Xinwei Leeshing Refractory Materials

tfﬁ%ﬁ'ﬁ Company Limited became a foreign invested

SNEEBEZ [ eEieE] I “encouraged hi-tech enterprise” with effective from

AZEEEMEHEIS%

20 August 2012 and is entitled to a preferential

income tax rate of 15%.

b) FEHER (ZH) HetEEZH b) Reconciliation between income tax credit/(charge)
RERABRIFEZHERNT @ and accounting loss at applicable tax rates is as
follows:
—E-=F ZT—CZfF
2013 2012
FHRT FAT
HK$'000 HK$' 000
B 51 A /5 48 Loss before taxation (380,455) (687,158)
B 7 AT 18 Notional tax on loss before taxation,
BEBBREER calculated at the statutory tax rates
HRAZEBERFTEZ applicable to the respective tax
HEDIA jurisdictions concerned 91,972 164,477
AR H 2 B2 Tax effect of non-deductible expenses (2,511) (54,183)
BETEBBSE BT E Tax effect of share of losses of joint ventures (2,050) (6,457)
BERRBAZBE 2 Tax effect of non-taxable income 14,212 658
AERMEBEIHMETE  Tax effect of tax losses not recognised (93,191) (119,537)
HALAAERRISEEZ  Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses
Dby previously not recognised 2,093 -
EERETR Under-provision in prior year (347) =
hEK B AR ERTEE G  Tax effect of tax exemptions granted
LB E to PRC subsidiaries 571 2,681
NERER, (ZH) Income tax credit/(charge) 10,749 (12,361)
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9. EEM= 9. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
a) REEBRARUEHE16EHENES a) Directors’ remuneration disclosed pursuant to section 161
MemT : of Hong Kong Companies Ordinance are as follows:
—E-—=F —E——F
2013 2012
FER FAET
HK$' 000 HK$'000
HITES Executive directors
e ERUREVEF — Salaries, allowances and benefits-in-kind 2,679 2,677
BYkHITES Independent non-executive directors
- EFEHe — Directors’ fees 192 200
2,871 2,877
by H#HE_TZ—=FKk-_ZFT——F+—-A b) Details of directors’ remuneration by individual director
=+—HIEFE  HESE 2E =M for the years ended 31 December 2013 and 2012 are as
SFHEBEWAT : follows:
—g—=
2013
e R
EznHe REYEF [ X
Salaries,
Directors’ allowances and Total
fees benefits-in-kind emoluments
FER FEx TER
HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000
HITES Executive directors
BREEE Mr. Jiang Quanlong - 1,430 1,430
BT HE £ (B EEG) Ms. Qian Yuanying (note (i)) - 1,099 1,099
BAmEE Mr. Jiang Cainan - 150 150
BYkHTES Independent non-executive
directors
T EE &4 (KT Eii) Mr. Wang Guozhen (note (iii)) 75 - 75
BREERE Mr. Huang Chunhua 72 - 72
SHEEE Mr. Jin Zhong 45 - 45

192 2,679 2,871
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9. EEME (®)

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (Continued)

b) (&) b)  (Continued)
—T——F
2012
e 28
ik REMEH i arE:s
Salaries,
Directors’ allowances and Total
fees benefits-in-kind emoluments
THET THET TET
HK$'000 HK$’ 000 HK$' 000
BITES Executive directors
BRELE Mr. Jiang Quanlong = 1,430 1,430
5T 3 A 4 (BT EEG)) Ms. Qian Yuanying (note (i) - 1,099 1,099
BAmEs Mr. Jiang Cainan - 148 148
BUkHTES Independent non-executive
directors
2R N5 & (BFEEGD)) Mr. Liu Yujiu (note (ii)) 53 = 53
TE2 %4 (K& Gii) Mr. Wang Guozhen (note (iii)) 31 = 31
BRELE Mr. Huang Chunhua 72 - 72
SERE Mr. Jin Zhong 44 - 44
200 2,677 2,877
s - Note:

() BLTRLLIRAARLIBETHAS -

(i) BRNEEECBEBUIFRTESRS A
—E-—FN\A-BEEX-

(i) FTERLAECEZEABUIENTES A
T —FNA—BBER-

BE_T-—ZER-_FT-——F+-fF=+—
HIEFER » $1EE  m A S B R E A B
¢ ERBERMAREERMAREE R
RENHBAE  RZWEFE  HEES
WMEXRBRETAMS -

(i) Ms. Qian Yuanying is the chief executive of the Company.

(i) Mr. Liu Yujiu resigned as an independent non-executive director
with effect from 1 August 2012.

(i) Mr. Wang Guozhen was appointed as an independent non-
executive director with effect from 1 August 2012.

During the years ended 31 December 2013 and 2012,
no director received any emoluments from the Group as
an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office. No director has waived or

agreed to waive any emoluments during both years.
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10.

BEHAL 10. INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS
HE—_E—=F+-_A=+—HILEE " During the year ended 31 December 2013, out of the five
AEBRERESFALH HemE(ZF highest paid individuals in the Group, two (2012: three) are
—ZF ZR)RARAESE  HMERM directors of the Company whose emoluments are disclosed in
FOEE - HB =% (ZE——F: ME) & note 9. The aggregate emoluments in respect of the remaining
SHALZHMEEREIDT three (2012: two) highest paid individuals are as follows:
—B-=f —E——fF
2013 2012
TET FHET
HK$’'000 HK$' 000
e EUMNEYET Salaries, allowances and benefits-in-kind 1,852 1,105
RINREFIET B3R Retirement benefits scheme contributions 57 55
1,909 1,160
HB=%2(ZZ2——F mB)5adAtz The emoluments of the remaining three (2012: two) highest
MeN FRTHEE : paid individuals are within the following band:
—E-=f —E——F
2013 2012
AH AH
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
= —1,000,000/%8 7T Nil - HK$1,000,000 3 2
BE-E—=FN_FT——F+-_A=1— No emoluments were paid or payable by the Group to the five
HIFEE  AEBVYERANSESHFATS highest individuals as inducement to join or upon joining the
R ERERB S - 1EASBE A KA 0 Group or as compensation for loss of office during the years

AR £ [ B 1 3R B ok B R B (S o ended 31 December 2013 and 2012.
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11.

BERKER
e BB R B RGP R E - AR BRH
BRI ZMBARAREEZBERRER

2 &
BRI E (—BREHRFBRKETE)
o EFEAREEATESMI5% —20% °
BERKENEEZMHBEAREBRIKG S
BEXHN - ZEWMBRAGKEFETIN &
BEXNERRAS  MBAEEREBNER
(T - BE=—T—=F+=-A=1+—HL
FE - RIREHEIME L 24,741,000 7T
(ZZ——4F : 4,271,000 7T) ° &t 24
HENES SRS o

\

RSN

=

AEBE-TTEF+_A—HEE 2R
HEAESE ([BEREE]) - ZTE A
REMRTEREHE - AEEBARESR
REFHE5%MZTaER - BE_ZT—=4F
TZA=ET—HIEFE AEER®ESE
= 5K 457,000/ 7T (=& — — £ : 58,000
B cBEENEEMEASENEED
BE UTHBYEXEESKEEE - Zat8l

HHIZEERB -

11.

EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS

As stipulated by the relevant rules and regulations in the PRC,
the Company’s subsidiaries established in the PRC are required
to contribute to a state-sponsored retirement plan, which is a
defined contribution pension scheme, for all of their employees
based on 15% to 20% of the employee’s basic salary. The
state-sponsored retirement plan is responsible for the entire
pension obligations payable to retired employees and these
subsidiaries have no further obligations for the actual pension
payments or other post-retirement benefits beyond the annual
contributions. For the year ended 31 December 2013, the
retirement plan contributions amounted to approximately
HK$4,741,000 (2012: HK$4,271,000). Contributions to the

plan vest immediately.

The Group has participated in Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme (“MPF Scheme"”), which is a defined contribution
pension scheme, since 1 December 2000. The Group makes
monthly contributions to the scheme based on 5% of the
employees’ basic salaries. For the year ended 31 December
2013, the Group’s contributions to the MPF Scheme were
approximately HK$57,000 (2012: HK$58,000). The assets of
the fund are held separately from the Group and are managed
by independent professional fund managers. Contributions to

the scheme vest progressively.
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12. ZRBHEBAELER

AARBAEAEBEEEBEBEEERAEAA
FIRT 5 8 % PO 3R 0 A5 $14013,431,000/8 T
(ZF— 4 :12,495,000/&7T) °

12. LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE
COMPANY
The consolidated loss attributable to owners of the Company
includes a loss of approximately HK$13,431,000 (2012:
HK$12,495,000) which has been dealt with in the financial

statements of the Company.

Ll BERANRANEEEE ZHENT ¢ Reconciliation of the above amount to the Company’s loss for
the year:
—E-—=f —E——F
2013 2012
FExT FAT
HK$' 000 HK$’'000
AR B 75 R IR 2 Amount of consolidated loss attributable
ZN/NCIEZ DN Y to owners of the Company dealt with
A BERE in the Company’s financial statements (13,431) (12,495)
H B 1E B B E s A Final dividends from subsidiaries attributable
RERNIERIRT 2 to the profits of the previous financial years,
Bt /8 A Rl AR B AR B approved and paid during the year = 134,760
RABANEE (B518) /% F  (Loss)/profit for the year of the Company (13,431) 122,265

ik &
AAREETERLNEBEE=T—=F1+=
A=+ HALFEZRE(ZT——F: &)

13.

REBEE-ZZE-——F+-A=+—HILHE
E EMAELEREEE-_T——F+=A
=+ —BLEFERAREER2BIL - &4
#933,453,000/& JT °

13. DIVIDENDS
The directors of the Company do not recommend the payment
of a dividend for the year ended 31 December 2013 (2012:
Nil).

Final dividend of HK 2 cents per share for the year ended 31
December 2011 amounting to approximately HK$33,453,000
was approved and paid during the year ended 31 December
2012.
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14. BRER
BRERER
SREABEDREARBIER AENL
/&5 18 49354,650,0008 7T (=T — = F :
679,702,000 L) R BEZT —=F
+-A=+—HLFEEEET % A%
¥ #01,672,643,0000% (Z T — — £ -

15.

1,672,643,0000%) 5t &

BREBEEE
HRARRIREBE-_T—=FR=_FT—=F
toA=t+—BILFEHMEESRTEZ
BEETBRG  EHSRBEHEEATRE
REEER -

7 #PH E
AEBEEHEEE D DB RETER - 1
RMBAMBHREEANFSR (KL HI R
RAKERAAREEELERARA(EE
BEREAD 2TBEHANBE2HRAAER
AERRBRFEHERN B ~AEEZ5T
MIEZ2®mDEWT

>

P BUERHERLER (B

i)

R NE

D BUEREEMAER (BES
EmEkED)

k=

14.

15.

LOSS PER SHARE

Basic loss per share

The calculation of basic loss per share is based on the loss
attributable to owners of the Company of approximately
HK$354,650,000 (2012: HK$679,702,000) and the weighted
average number of 1,672,643,000 (2012: 1,672,643,000)
ordinary shares in issue during the year ended 31 December
2013.

Diluted loss per share

Diluted loss per share equals to the basic loss per share as the
Company has no potential ordinary shares outstanding during
the years ended 31 December 2013 and 2012.

SEGMENT REPORTING

The Group manages its businesses by divisions, which
are organised by business lines. On adoption of HKFRS 8,
Operating segments, and in a manner consistent with the
way in which information is reported internally to the Chief
Executive Officer, who has been identified as the Group's
chief operating decision maker (“CODM"), for the purposes of
resource allocation and performance assessment, the Group

has presented two reportable segments as follows:

Rare earth: Manufacture and sales of rare earth products
(including fluorescent products)
Refractory: Manufacture and sales of refractory products

(including high temperature ceramics products

and magnesium grains)
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15. 2 WS (&) 15. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

a) PHEEF -BEERERE a) Segment results, assets and liabilities
KREB 7 HFELEBERE AZRTAE The Group’'s CODM monitors the results, assets and
HEERZBERDBEE2EER & liabilities attributable to each reportable segment on the
EREE following bases:

DEEEREMBEEERELEER Segment assets include all tangible and intangible
REEE  BTIEEECEHREEE « 7] assets, and current assets with the exception of deferred
ROEMIE - - KOEBERe KRB EFEE tax assets, tax recoverable, unallocated cash and cash
BUARRD @Eﬁﬁ?ﬂmi&”*ﬁZEﬁﬂ equivalents, and other corporate assets which are
TEEE - HHEERBFEERD I unallocated to an individual reportable segment. Segment
BENHETEEL ZEMER liabilities include trade payables, accruals and other
REANEMENMNT UEBESEE payables attributable to the manufacturing and sales

EEBZRITER

W kR HIR2ELRO M2 HE
PRAXEREDHEEEEZTENL
BHPTEI B2

nEHDT-w

)

£ ’“*/ﬁJ‘JPﬁ@EﬁZﬁrzﬁxiﬁ’jW‘
FEBR A S R ER | (T8

EBIT)) - &7 E—,Z&uﬂ%EBIT’ZK%EZ
wmh ERERTIEREERZ2RS

WG ZRBELE-SHE W7
BRAREMARDEERFAX -

MRS A B HEEBITZ D #FE R -
BREZERRAMERRE BN (B

BEOBREE) A NERERZR
é B RAME 2 BMA KRR I
E HB RESRE QEEXEEL

n#R
NMEEREZDHEH -
E2ERBET EREINRE
ERFIME -

DEA EE R FTEA 2 FERED
val= ki
=hHZ

N

activities of the individual segments and bank borrowings

managed directly by the segments.

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable
segments with reference to sales generated by those
segments and the expenses incurred by those segments
or which otherwise arise from the depreciation or

amortisation of assets attributable to those segments.

The measure used for reporting segment profit is
“adjusted profit before interest and taxes” (“Adjusted
EBIT”). To arrive at the Adjusted EBIT, the Group’s profits/
losses are further adjusted for items not specifically
attributed to an individual reportable segment, such
as interest income and other unallocated corporate

expenses.

In addition to the receiving of segment information
concerning the Adjusted EBIT, the CODM is provided
with segment information concerning revenue (including
inter-segment sales), interest income and expense from
cash balances and borrowings managed directly by the
segments, depreciation, amortisation, impairment losses,
share of results of joint ventures and additions to non-
current segment assets used by the segments in their
operations. Inter-segment sales are priced with reference

to prices charged to external parties for similar orders.



Annual Report 2013 £

109

B 5 R % B 5E
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BE-Z2-=f1+=-A=+—HLEE For the year ended 31 December 2013

15. =B

a)

HE @) 15. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)
DEEE BEREE(E) a) Segment results, assets and liabilities (Continued)
FERN R TEFELERRARME Information regarding the Group's reportable segments
PREBRERFHDBRAZAEES as provided to the CODM for the purposes of resource
WOELEREHHN AT : allocation and assessment of segment performance for
the year is as follows:
Rt itk @zt
Rare earth Refractory Total
—g-=f -T--% Z=ZB-Zf -ET--f ZB-=F —ZT-—f
2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012
TER TEL TER TAL TER TEL
HKS$'000 HK$'000  HKS$'000 HK$'000  HKS$'000 HK$'000
REUNER 2ha Revenue from external customers 1,090,092 162654 398,190 475394 1,488,282 2,101,918
A PEkE Inter-segment revenue 17 82 - - 17 82
ERGELC Reportable segment revenue 1,090,109 1,626,606 398,190 475394 1,488,299 2,102,000
SRAB(BE)/HF  Reportable segment (loss)profit
(4B H%=eBIT) (Adjusted EBIT) (372,713) (646,884) 25,415 22,306 (347,298) (624,578)
MERA Interest income 2,030 3,193 2,927 3,246 4,957 6,439
BBRRA Finance costs - (1,499) - (1322) - (2,821)
0% BERZE Depreciation of property,
g plant and equipment @3301)  (25868)  (45880)  (47.294)  (69,181)  (73,162)
BEROTENTH Amortisation of prepaid lease payments
kA £ on land under operating leases (1,987) (2,382) (2,525) (2,491) (4,512) (4,873)
BVEECBE Amortisation of intangible asset (12,792) (12,598) - - (12,792) (12,59)
tﬂ%%% “HERFZE  Net (oss)gain on disposals of property,

Z(BR) / agE plant and equipment (632) (4123) 98 502 (534) (3,621)
FEER S 2 BB EE Impairment loss on trade receivables (2,325) (1,131) (5072 (17,202 (7397)  (18333)
EtERTZAEBE  Impairment loss on other receivables (18) (724) (131) (482) (149) (1,206)
YRR RBEE Reversal of impairment loss

& on trade receivables 261 4286 6,854 3,289 7,115 7,575
EtERTZHERE  Reversal of impairment loss

BE on other receivables 686 27 164 i 850 69
BELHERR Impairment loss on goodwill - (21,773) - - = 21,773)
ENAEZREEE Impairment loss on intangible asset (31,848)  (31,626) - - (31,848)  (31,626)
RELEERZNE Share of losses of joint ventures (6,711)  (15,130) (1489)  (10,69) (82000 (25826
ZRADEAE Reportable segment assets 1884812 2223834  2,055252 1,972,260 3,940,064 4,196,094
(BERAELE (including interests in

ZHE) joint ventures) 47,582 52,705 57,505 57,005 105,087 109,930
ANEERHAPEE:  Additions to non-current segment assets:

0% BERE — Property, plant and equipment 140,169 17,175 8,029 10,601 148,198 27,776
2RI PER Reportable segment liabilities 599,463 631,636 174,204 170,187 773,667 801,823




110

Annual Report 2013 F3§

B 5 ¥ & Bt 5

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BE-F-—=F1+=-A=1+—ALHFE For the year ended 31 December 2013

15. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

b) E®mATUE  BFHEE BEERE b) Reconciliations of reportable segment revenue,
BZHER profit or loss, assets and liabilities
—EB—=£ —TET——F
2013 2012
FTERT FAT
HK$' 000 HK$'000
W &= Revenue
2H P B Reportable segment revenue 1,488,299 2,102,000
55 2B R Wk = Elimination of inter-segment revenue (17) (82)
TAEEEE Consolidated turnover 1,488,282 2,101,918
AR E R Profit or loss
ERDIEE Reportable segment loss (347,298) (624,578)
W 43 B A Ve ) Sk 48 Elimination of inter-segment profit or loss - =
B $%I¥W\\%:)5 Reportable segment loss derived from
ZEHRDEHEE Group's external customers (347,298) (624,578)
ﬁﬁﬂ%\ Other revenue 11,309 9,882
B 7 B AR Finance costs = (2,821)
e R EEE Impairment loss on goodwill = (21,773)
EEEZRBEEE Impairment loss on intangible asset (31,848) (31,626)
ROBEEEMS Unallocated corporate expenses (12,618) (16,242)
REBRBIAIEE Consolidated loss before taxation (380,455) (687,158)
FiiERiEe,/ () Income tax credit/(charge) 10,749 (12,361)
REBRTBEER Consolidated loss after taxation (369,706) (699,519)
BE Assets
EWHHEE Reportable segment assets 3,940,064 4,196,094
HHh 85 7> B e B UL ER Elimination of inter-segment receivables (648,051) (633,053)
3,292,013 3,563,041
Ao e RESEMEEE  Unallocated cash and cash equivalents 7,484 60,539
KoM EEEE Unallocated corporate assets 10,573 10,322
FIETRIBE E Deferred tax assets 4,749 6,321
CIEQEE Tax recoverable 2,774 943
GREEERE Consolidated total assets 3,317,593 3,641,166
=R Liabilities
EWHHEE Reportable segment liabilities 773,667 801,823
8 > B FE A 3R Elimination of inter-segment payables (648,051) (633,053)
125,616 168,770
ROBEEEAE Unallocated corporate liabilities 5,243 4,741
REEFIEAE Deferred tax liabilities 6,401 25,812
FE IR Tax payable 4,938 5,932
REBERE Consolidated total liabilities 142,198 205,255
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15. 2 B/E (&)
) HEESR

(1)

KE L9V E P2 Wz

TR ABAEERELHINE
FzRammEBRNER TP
PrEst R R AR R E 8

HEE D

15. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)
¢) Geographical information

(i)  Revenues from external customers

The following table sets out information about the
geographical location of the Group’s revenues from

external customers. The geographical location of

customers is based on the location at which the

services were provided or the goods delivered.

—E-—=KF —E—_F

2013 2012

TET FHBT

HK$’'000 HK$' 000

AR (G Eh) The PRC (place of domicile) 1,193,186 1,616,145
HO Europe 136,295 163,315
=N Japan 116,030 254,051
eS| The United States of America 34,338 48,513
Ht Others 8,433 19,894
295,096 485,773

1,488,282 2,101,918
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15. 28| E (4)
o HEER
(i) HEFrBHEE
REBZREFRRBDEE B
ME - BEREE KLEOT
AR LMmES HMERBDE
E EBRVEE RBERGELE
2T o

RERERRPEELHRUE
TiRE()EEERAMEE (3119
X HBELRRE KREBROTHE
MtiBekEMERBEEM
F) ¢ (i)F D BL 2 8 5& P AE M B
(MBEBVEERBEMS) + R
LEMEEH (A ELEZES
ME)ED - RZB—=FR=-F
F+-HA=+—H E%
EREFRDEEDUNPE -

d FHXEEFzESR
REB2EPERIHRREE
%—:¢+—ﬂ—+fatirv
|- %%i”%%ﬁZ%ﬁﬁmﬁ
180,030,000 T ' W AEEEEEHZ
10%HAE - BEZT—Z—F+_H
=S+—BLEFE UEERNERZH
EREAERZETEZ210%3N E o

)

d)

15. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

Geographical information (Continued)

(i) Specified non-current assets
The Group's specified non-current assets comprise
property, plant and equipment, prepaid lease
payments on land under operating leases, other
non-current asset, intangible asset, goodwill and

interests in joint ventures.

The geographical location of these specified non-
current assets is based on (i) the physical location
of the assets, in the case of property, plant and
equipment, prepaid lease payments on land under
operating leases, and other non-current asset,
(ii) the location of the operation to which they
are allocated, in the case of intangible asset and
goodwill, and (iii) the location of operation, in the
case of interests in joint ventures. All these specified
non-current assets are all located in the PRC as at
31 December 2013 and 2012.

Information about major customer

The Group's customer base is diversified and includes
only one customer in rare earth segment with whom sales
amounted to approximately HK$180,030,000 for the
year ended 31 December 2013 that amounted to 10%
or more of the Group’s turnover. There was no customer
with whom sales amounted to 10% or more of the

Group's turnover for the year ended 31 December 2012.
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16. B8 16. GOODWILL
rEE The Group
FHT
HK$’ 000
%N Cost
R-B——F—A—H At 1 January 2012 239,360
MEHZRE Exchange differences (13)
R-E——F+-A=+—HBRK At 31 December 2012 and 1 January 2013
—E—=%—HA—H 239,347
fERER Exchange differences 3,217
RZZB-—=%+-H=+—H At 31 December 2013 242,564
R RE Accumulated impairment
R-—B-——F—f—H At 1 January 2012 217,584
ERRAREERE Impairment loss recognised 21,773
EHER Exchange differences (10)
RZF—Z—ZF+=ZA=+—HEK At 31 December 2012 and 1 January 2013
—E-—=%—-—A—H 239,347
EHE=E Exchange differences 3,217
RZZE-—=%+-H=+—H At 31 December 2013 242,564

RREE
RIB—=FR_Z—_F
+t=A=+—H

Carrying amount
At 31 December 2013 and 2012
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16. EE (&) 16. GOODWILL (Continued)

rEBE(E)

UCEE T IR B A E Z100%MEFTE A 2 &
ERINE R A BB S BRI B BT R
HBEERBEZ A FEERS ZHAE :

The Group (Continued)

The goodwill arising from the acquisition of 100% equity
interests in the following subsidiaries represented the excess
of the cost of acquisition over the Group's interest in the fair
value of the identifiable assets and liabilities acquired at the
date of acquisition:

MEAR B W iE B H Pkl FEEHK

Name of subsidiary Date of acquisition Segment Principal activities
BB =AM E —TETEE it X7 &P HENHESEBEER
BRAT] —AZ=+AhA

(I=&mE])

Wuxi Xinwei High
Temperature Ceramics
Co., Ltd. (“High
Temperature

Ceramics”)

BT B S TR
BRAR ([FEHEE])

Haicheng City Suhai
Magnesium Ore Co.,
Ltd. (“Suhai
Magnesium”)

AN BA3R0R #3974
BERAR(TRAE®L])
Heping County
Dongye Rare Earth
Company Limited
("Dongye Rare Earth”)

29 January 2004

—ETHEF
+=A=+=H
23 December 2005

—EENEF
+ZA=Z+hHE
29 December 2008

Y i = R BB & K %8 BR 1% 2 100 % A% 4 AT EE
EZBEERBE _ZTNFT _A=1—

AILEFEE2HRE -

HE_ZT——F+-_A=+—HILFE"
UG BE BB HE - 2 100% AR HE T = A 2 B 2R
EE1E#921,773,0008 TEEHER - R=-Z

——#+=ZA=+—H”

EREERERR

BZEBBRFBERMEI

Refractory segment Manufacturing and
sales of high
temperature ceramics

products

i A 23 #E SE R HE S E m

Refractory segment Manufacturing and
sales of magnesium
products

Wt 5 &b SERHEER LT BER

Rare Earth segment Manufacturing and
sales of rare earth
metal products

The goodwill arising from the acquisition of 100% equity
interests in High Temperature Ceramics and Suhai Magnesium
was fully impaired during the year ended 31 December 2008.

During the year ended 31 December 2012, an impairment
loss on goodwill arising from the acquisition of 100% equity
interest in Dongye Rare Earth of approximately HK$21,773,000
was recognised. Details of the key assumptions used for value
in use calculations as at 31 December 2012 are set out in note
19.
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17. ¥ - BERSZE 17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

a) A&£H a) The Group
413 BLERR
BREF  HKEREE k%8 RE ERIE @
Buildings ~ Machinery Office
held for and  equipment Motor  Construction-
ownuse  equipment  and fixtures vehicles  in-progress Total
AL TiL Thn ThL AL TEL
HKS' 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$" 000 HK$'000
RATEE Cost or valuation
W-E--%-f-H At 1 January 2012 204,443 768,582 8,675 12,938 22,369 1,017,007
AE Additions - 10,531 333 1,831 15,090 27,785
BERIREA Transfer from construction-in-
progress 8,523 17,833 - - (26,356) -
RE Disposals (5,776) (56,891) (61) (436) - (63,164)
ZEERH Elimination of accumulated
depreciation (18,311) - - - - (18,311)
EiZE Exchange differences (25 (95) (1) (1) () (129)
RZE—ZF+-A=1—H  At31 December 2012 and
k=2-=%-f-H 1 January 2013 188,854 739,960 8,946 14,332 11,100 963,192
AE Additions 231 8,269 45 7,830 131,826 148,201
MERIREN Transfer from construction-in-
progress - 109,284 - - (109,284) =
RE Disposals - (14,278) - (8,577) - (22,855)
ZiTERE Elimination of accumulated
depreciation (19,074) - - - - (19,074)
EiZE Exchange differences 5913 24,769 268 437 700 32,087
RZE-ZFFZA=+—H At31 December 2013 175,924 868,004 9,259 14022 3434 1,101,551
af: Comprising:
RZZ-=F+-B=1-H  At31December 2013
RIRA At cost - 868,004 9,259 14022 3434 925,627
f&fEE At valuation 175,924 - - - - 175,924
175,924 868,004 9,259 14,022 34,342 1,101,551
R=E-ZF+ZF=+-R  At31December 2012
BRA At cost - 739,960 8,946 14,332 11,100 774,338
ffhE At valuation 188,854 - - - - 188,854
188,854 739,960 8,946 14,332 11,100 963,192
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17. ¥ - BERRE (B
a) AEE(E)

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)
a) The Group (Continued)

Kt BOERE
BRI  BERRG R%E hE ERIR aE
Buildings ~ Machinery Office
held for and  equipment Motor  Construction-
ownuse  equipment  and fixtures vehicles  in-progress Total
T AR THL TiEn Thn TiEn
HK$" 000 HK$" 000 HK$" 000 HK$"000 HKS"000 HK$" 000
R HERAE Accumulated depreciation
and impairment
W-E-—£-F-8 At 1 January 2012 - 534,799 7,7% 4804 = 547,439
REFGR Charge for the year 18,968 51,541 348 2314 - 13171
RERD Written back on disposals (657) (43,297) (60) (436) - (44,450)
BiHE Elimination on revaluation (18,311) - - - - (18,311)
ERzE Exchange differences - (66) (1) (1) - (68)
RZE—Z#+-A=F—H At 31 December 2012
R=E-ZF-f-H and 1 January 2013 - 542,977 8,083 6,721 - 557,781
RER:HR Charge for the year 18,780 47,526 258 2,624 - 69,188
RE&M Written back on disposals = (14,278) = (1,130 = (15,408)
B & Elimination on revaluation (19,074) - = = - (19,074)
EiZR Exchange differences 294 17,509 246 234 = 18,283
RZE—=#+ZF=1—H  At31December 2013 - 593,734 8,587 8,449 - 610,770
BEE Carrying amount
WZE-=F+ZF=1-H  At31December 2013 175,924 274,270 672 5,573 34,342 490,781
RIZ-ZFFTZA=T—H  At31 December 2012 188,854 196,983 863 761 11,100 405,411
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17. W% - BERRE B
a) AE®E(E)

i)

RZBE—=FR=_F——F+=
A=+—8 ##EaBAEFI
PR ERIERBRELFE 2L -

HE-_Z——&#+-_fA=+—
BEFE AARZHEA A
P M T WE T &HEARBMN
(ITHRBRF] BEBS  HIBE
WHERE  FEBA BB H
EEBEMEZEE T - WA
S—RBIHEETHREERE
EB-TEARREZABLHE
st AEBEZ T EH Y
X BEERRZE TEETEES
28 #)1814,406,0007 7T ° F It
REME BERZEHEZEED
4,122,000 TE R ZFEEIE
mER e REETHME - TH
BN#EES —RBEELHT
ML - RZFE—=F+=H
=+—H ' TEBRNEREN -
W2 E - HEEREREEER
THEE - B HARESER +
(R FARERE (FisE18) -

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)
a) The Group (Continued)

i)

As at 31 December 2013 and 2012, the buildings
held for own use are situated on lands held under

medium-term leases in the PRC.

During the year ended 31 December 2012, Leeshing
Rare Earth, the Company’s subsidiary, received an
order from Dingshu Town People’s Government
("Dingshu Government”) to confiscate a piece of
leasehold land, on which a factory for polishing
powder production was located, due to a new
government town plan with compensation for
another piece of land and certain amount of cash.
Dingshu Government had appointed an independent
valuer to value the Group’s property, plant and
equipment located on that land and determined
the compensation amount at approximately
HK$14,406,000. As a result, a loss on disposal of
property, plant and equipment of approximately
HK$4,122,000 was recognised in profit or loss
during that year. Regarding the leasehold land,
Dingshu Government is going to compensate
another piece of leasehold land to Leeshing Rare
Earth. As at 31 December 2013, the location for the
new piece of land has been ascertained by Dingshu
Government but the formal land use right certificate
has not been obtained because the exact land area

has not been ascertained (note 18).
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17. ¥ - BERSZE (B 17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)
b) ZA&AF b) The Company
RAZTRBEREE
Office
equipment

and fixtures

FATT
HK$’ 000
5% Cost
WR-—ZT——F—HF—H At 1 January 2012 370
NE Additions 10
RZTE——F+-_H=+—H At 31 December 2012 and 1 January 2013
k—ZT—=#—F—H 380
nNE Additions 2
N-ZTE—=%+-_H=+—8H At 31 December 2013 382
ZIHE Accumulated depreciation
RZE——F—H—H At 1 January 2012 352
KREEEIR Charge for the year 9
RZE——F+-_H=+—H At 31 December 2012 and 1 January 2013
k—_ZT—=#—F—H 361
REFT R Charge for the year 7
N-ZTE—=%+-_H=+—8H At 31 December 2013 368
IREE Carrying amount
R-ZB—=F+-H=+—8H At 31 December 2013 14

R-ZE——F+=-A=+—8H At 31 December 2012 19
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17. W% - BERRE B
o AREEWEZAFPEIE

i)

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)
¢) Fair value measurement of the Group’s properties

NFERE i) Fair value hierarchy

TRENAEERHEERAEFR The following table presents the fair value of the

HRPEAE A REE EEES Group's buildings held for own use measured at the

ENATE U BAEBEUK end of the reporting period on a recurring basis,

BELERNE 1R AFETZI categorised into the three-level fair value hierarchy

REMN=RATFERA - BRF as defined in HKFRS 13, Fair value measurement.

B EPENSERIELRET The level into which a fair value measurement

HEREMAEASEN T BR is classified is determined with reference to the

MREEHEERE : observability and significance of the inputs used in

the valuation technique as follows:

o FIRLE: ERRE14H o Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using
AHHE (B &2 B A48 R only Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted
BEXBBENERTHHE prices in active markets for identical assets or
KRABRME)TENATE liabilities at the measurement date

o FE2MMEE: RAE2REBA e Llevel 2 valuations: Fair value measured using
g (A ARBEER F1RAA] Level 2 inputs i.e. observable inputs which
BR AB®) B IEE R fail to meet Level 1, and not using significant
BEATAERG ABENE unobservable inputs. Unobservable inputs are
R AF(E o ] B A H inputs for which market data are not available
BATISEBRRETHREA
iz

o  E3MBMAE: EAEANH e Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using
BRg \BRAENATE significant unobservable inputs

—E-=fF
2013
AFEAEDEAR
Fair value measurement categorised into
AVE -8 =R =R
Fair value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
TER TER TER TER
HKS$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’000 HK$' 000
r5E The Group
wEM L FEHE Recurring fair value
measurement
FIEERAZET Buildings held for own use 175,924 - - 175,924
—E——fF
2012
ATEHENER
Fair value measurement categorised into
AFE £ F-H E=R
Fair value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
THT FHET TR TR
HK$’000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000
PN | The Group
BEHLNFEGE Recurring fair value
measurement
BEERZEF Buildings held for own use 188,854 = - 188,854
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17. % BERERE 4
o AEENEZAT

EE B(H)

) AFERG(E)
REBE-ZE—=F+-RA=+—
AILFEHE F-REE R
ZELEEE TEAE=-RE
ARE - AEBEZBRB/NE
HER s ARAEEERERR
FERRIE B -

RZZE—=%+-_A=+—8"
AEEMAERFESAETHET
Bl B@MF IHEARNSEN
BREZBUSEREEMGEM
BRI EETHERERABME
e NERPELEERETHE

B AEEERED BihERMR
RERRLGEERETE

i) HEE=RATFEFEZEH
AREREERETZAFET
RABERANEEETE @ L5t
EMEERMZEBELERZKAR
ZERBRER —IHEBETAZR
ERBIEMEL ZIRIRERNT
AERGARE (BREEKRK
(RRBHEEER 2 BREmME
EREETSEREBAL LA
MR E R 2 E LR R EE

il st 2 BT RFEBARA) R ik
AT E (ERERERYEER &
REHAMBERBEZFE &
REBRIBFEMI) BN MG E L/
RE  YRUEBERMRMES
HE))FE - AETERFAL
EEY o

R_ZE—=F+-A=+—8"
i 1E 8 BE TR AR Z 5T
ERREFE  EEEEBSNA
140,170,000 . (=T — —4F :
149,461,000/ 7T) °

REERBTCEMBHBRIER
HECD A EFERFERE] R
[ 5 e | 2 Bt B R e

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

)

Fair value measurement of the Group’s properties
(Continued)

)

ii)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2013, there
were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2, or
transfers into or out of Level 3. The Group's policy
is to recognise transfers between levels of fair value
hierarchy as at the end of the reporting period in
which they occur.

All of the Group's buildings held for own use were
revalued as at 31 December 2013. The valuations
were carried out by Vigers Appraisal & Consulting
Limited, independent qualified professional valuers
not connected with the Group. The Group's
management have discussion with the valuers on
the valuation assumptions and valuation results
when the valuations are performed at the end of the
reporting period.

Information about Level 3 fair value measurements

The fair value of the Group's buildings held for own
use is determined using depreciated replacement
cost approach by taking into consideration of the
current cost of replacement or reproduction of the
property less deductions for physical deterioration
and all relevant forms of obsolescence and
optimisation based on significant unobservable
inputs including cost of construction (cost per
square metre to completion estimated based on
the gross floor area using market comparable data
and taking into account of the construction type
and size of property and its facilities as at the end
of the reporting period) and estimated depreciation
(deducting all sources of depreciation by straight-
line method over the useful life, including physical
deterioration and functional and economic
obsolescence and adjusting by the actual physical
condition of the property). There were no changes
to the valuation techniques during the year.

As at 31 December 2013, had the buildings held
for own use been carried at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment, the carrying amount
would have been approximately HK$140,170,000
(2012: HK$149,461,000).

Surplus on revaluation and exchange adjustment of
buildings held for own use are recognised in other
comprehensive income in “buildings revaluation
reserve” and “translation reserve”, respectively.
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18. REBMATHESLHAS 18. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS ON LAND UNDER
OPERATING LEASES
AEE
The Group
—E—=F —E——4F
2013 2012
THERT FET
HK$’'000 HK$’ 000
R—A—RAZEHE Carrying amount at 1 January 187,157 210,759
BE (M) Disposals (note) = (18,703)
NEZEH Amortisation for the year (4,512) (4,873)
MEHER Exchange differences 5,786 (26)
R+t-—A=+—HZE®EE Carrying amount at 31 December 188,431 187,157
RAEBEZEE i : Leasehold land in the PRC:
H BT 4 Medium-term leases 188,431 187,157
BERE B MMIELR 25 AT © Analysed for reporting purposes as:
mENEE Current asset 4,587 4,448
FERBEE Non-current asset 183,844 182,709
188,431 187,157
HE—_S—=—#+_-_A=+—HIt&E2 The amortisation charges of approximately HK$755,000 (2012:
S H #9755,0008 T (Z B — = : HK$748,000) and HK$3,757,000 (2012: HK$4,125,000) for
748,000 7T) &%3,757,0008 T (=& — = the year ended 31 December 2013 are included in cost of sales
£ : 4,125,000 70) DRIt A& i85k ® and administrative expenses respectively, in the consolidated
HERARITHEBRNA o statement of profit or loss.
sk 2T —F+_-_A=1+—HILFE " Note: During the year ended 31 December 2012, a piece of leasehold
TR EREZ - TEHEAHE—RA land was confiscated by Dingshu Government due to a new

S+ AEEBERE17@G)EE - government town plan, relevant disclosures are detailed in note
17(a)(ii).
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19. B EE

19. INTANGIBLE ASSET

rEH The Group
FiLEeBEMZ
B it B AR
Technical
know-how
for rare earth
metal products
THER
HK$’000
%N Cost
RZF——F—H—H At 1 January 2012 125,997
MEHER Exchange differences (15)
R-ZE——%+-_fF=+—8 At 31 December 2012 and 1 January 2013
r—_ZT—=#—HF—H 125,982
EHER Exchange differences 3,942
R-ZBE—=%+"A=+—H At 31 December 2013 129,924
Rt B RAE Accumulated amortisation and impairment
R—_ZE——F—A—H At 1 January 2012 37,799
AN Amortisation for the year 12,598
ERRREERE Impairment loss recognised 31,626
EHE=R Exchange differences (4)
R-ZE——4%+-_fF=+—8 At 31 December 2012 and 1 January 2013
rE=—Z2—=%—HF—H 82,019
RNEFEH Amortisation for the year 12,792
ERERRESE Impairment loss recognised 31,848
EHER Exchange differences 3,265
RZE—=F+ZA=+—H At 31 December 2013 129,924
IREE Carrying amount
R-—ZF—=%+=-HA=+—H At 31 December 2013 -
N—ZE——F+-A=+—H At 31 December 2012

ARMEXNBELESBEHLER
RIER  YERAKEREBEE_STN\F
TZA=+t—RLEFERKBRAHLES
&btz K ER D

43,963

The technical know-how relates to the technology on

manufacturing of rare earth products in metal form and was

acquired by the Group as part of the business combination of

Dongye Rare Earth during the year ended 31 December 2008.
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19.

B EE (4

m%(ié)
BE-_T—=4+-_HA=+—HI&EEZ
R S 4912,792,0008 T (ZE— —F :
12,598,000/ ) BEft AR IBRER ZIHE
N
RZBE—ZFR_F——F+-_fF=+—

B AEE2EEAEELEBECBIA
ERBEXMHEMEBHEETEERAARA
*T’FﬁZEHE HRteBERIRBMRS

B ((RBREASEM]) 2REANSETR
Ao BIeBERZMMREEM 2 A KE
SRIRBEREEFEEE - 2T EE
RREEEE# £ R =T F HE < B A
BERNRIZBERZREREEMOF
BEBEREEFRHE)FELRERER
Bl BERFHZRSRETIER T XAt
ZIhETH R R - MR EBLEH LS8
Em RBREEMARERBZEHEN

19.

INTANGIBLE ASSET (Continued)
The Group (Continued)

The amortisation charge of approximately HK$12,792,000
(2012: HK$12,598,000) for the year ended 31 December 2013
is included in cost of sales in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss.

As at 31 December 2013 and 2012, the Group performed
impairment reviews for the cash-generating unit (“CGU") of
rare earth metal products with reference to the valuations
carried out by Vigers Appraisal & Consulting Limited,
independent qualified professional valuers not connected
with the Group. The recoverable amount of the CGU of rare
earth metal products was determined based on value in use
calculations. These calculations used cash flow projections
based on financial budgets approved by management covering
a five-year period, which was based on the average business
and operation life over the CGU of rare earth metal products.
Cash flows beyond the five-year period were extrapolated
using the estimated rates stated below. The growth rates did
not exceed the respective long-term average growth rates for
the business in which the CGU of rare earth metal products
operated.

FREETEMACEERS Key assumptions used for value in use calculations:
—B-=F —F-C=F
2013 2012
TEEEF = Budgeted gross margin 15%-17% 19%-29%
iR & Average growth rate 5%-12% 3%-11%
I = Discount rate 22% 21%

EEERBBERBIEMSER CTRHE
EREENERFHRER - ZIREBH
R 3 R BRAE A 2 8#F 2 5 E LR o

R-ZBE—=F+-"A=+—H RBEEFEH
BEFE HIeBERZRRRSEMN
ZAIKESEER(CE——F  ER)H
EEE -Ait RBEE-_T—=F+=-A4
T+ BLFEECERCERENEEZ
H{E 518 4931,848,000/8 7T (—Z B — — 4
31,626,000/ 7L) * A B@RIELD T ALE

BaxZHEMEBEFEN - ARBLEtD
DHIECBZEEREME  RAFER LS
BZHER(H LBz 2R-EBERARER
RE T ROEHEERR ZER LK
BREBERURITECBZE AL MELE
Eﬁo

Management determined the budgeted gross margin and
the average growth rate based on past performance and its
expectation for market development. This discount rate used
was pre-tax rate and reflected specific risks relating to the
relevant segment.

As at 31 December 2013, the recoverable amount of the
CGU of rare earth metal products was lower (2012: lower)
than the carrying amount based on value in use calculations.
Accordingly, impairment loss on intangible asset of
approximately HK$31,848,000 (2012: HK$31,626,000) was
recognised in profit or loss for the year ended 31 December
2013 and the amount was included in other net loss in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss since the rare earth
oxides were key raw materials of rare earth metals and the
sales of rare earth metals faced with gross loss during the
year due to (i) accumulated price rises of rare earth metals
lagged behind that of rare earth oxides and (ii) low demand of
rare earth metals caused by slow recovery of global economic
recession.
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20 RIB AR ZRE 20. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
PN
The Company
—E—=F —E——F
2013 2012
THERT FAET
HK$' 000 HK$’ 000
SEEMRRMMSHE  #ARA{E  Unlisted shares or capital contributions, at cost 151,707 151,707
RZZE—=F+=ZA=1+—8 ' A2 cKB As at 31 December 2013, the details of the Company’s
NBIZHBENT : subsidiaries are as follows:
Lt 4 b
Proportion of ownership interest
ERRYL/RY ERTREAR A5E ARE -EAKE
il PEER: ZHERAH EEBY kiewf  EBRER KE DIKE ZEEH
Place and date Particulars of Group Held Held
of incorporation/ Place of issued and effective by the bya
Name of subsidiary establishment husiness paid up capital interest ~ Company subsidiary Principal activities
% % %
ARERARAT RERAES Ht(d) WRERAE 100 100 - REER
“hANETZAZR XL EBR
Lee Shing Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands Note (d) 20 ordinary shares 100 100 - Investment holding
3 December 1998 of US$1 each
EHEBRES (L8 ERAT Gilei hE  EER200,000%7 100 100 - B5B1ElN
(B 3(a)) —FEFE-J-4MF
Wellfire (Shanghai) Company The PRC The PRC Registered capital 100 100 - Trading of rare earth
Limited (note (a)) 24 February 2000 1US$200,000 oxide products
Dynamic Goal Worldwide Inc. AERLES izt WEEREE 100 - 100 %EAR
“Z25FRR=1-H (E9A 3l
Dynamic Goal Worldwide Inc. British Virgin Islands Note (d) 2 ordinary shares 100 - 100 Investment holding
31 May 2000 of US$1 each
EENEARRLERAR alei alEi AMER % - % HEREE
(b)) “AAZELAtER 15,660,000% 7T BLELNER
Yixing Xinwei Leeshing The PRC The PRC Registered capital 95 - 95 Manufacturing and sales
Rare Earth Company 17 July 1993 US$15,660,000 of rare earth oxide

Limited (note (b))

products
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20. AMIB AR ZKRE (&)

20. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

FEREERLA
Proportion of ownership interest
ERRYL/RY ERTREAR A5E A0F -BNE
HEARAR ZHEREH EENY Rkiewf  ERER KE LUKE ZEXH
Place and date Particulars of Group Held Held
of incorporation/ Place of issued and effective by the bya
Name of subsidiary establishment business paid up capital interest ~ Company subsidiary  Principal activities
% % %
ERRARBAHERAR e E AMExR 100 - 100 HERHEE
(Ra) -AAAELAZTR 17,000,000% 7 HAER
Yixing Xinwei Leeshing The PRC The PRC Registered capital 100 = 100 Manufacturing and sales
Refractory Materials 30 July 1999 US$17,000,000 of refractory products
Co., Ltd. (note (a))
BRMBRIMHERAT i hE A8 520,000% T 100 - 100 EEXH
(M3H() S
Wuxi Xinwei Fluorescent The PRC The PRC Registered capital 100 - 100 Dormant
Materials Co., Ltd. 20 December 2001 198,520,000
(note (a))
HHERERAT B A WREHREE 100 - 100 EHHLELY
“hANETAZTZH BT ERR
Microtech Resources Hong Kong Hong Kong 2 ordinary shares 100 - 100 Trading of rare earth
Limited 23 October 1998 of HK$1 each oxide products
HERTEHERAR &b B WREBRE(E 100 - 100 EEXH
“EEZF-A-10A 1B ERR
China Rare Earth Hong Kong Hong Kong 2 ordinary shares 100 - 100 Dormant
Trading Limited 24 March 2000 of HK§1 each
ESNHRREEERAT G h AMER 100 - 100 HERHE
(HiH(a)) “EZ_£mA-H 30,000,000 7 EEREER
Wuxi Xinwei High Temperature The PRC The PRC Registered capital 100 - 100 Manufacturing and sales
Ceramics Co., Ltd. 1 April 2002 HK$30,000,000 of high temperature
(note (a)) ceramics products
BETHEERERAT i hE HMERARS 100 - 100 RERHE
(K&t ZIECFMA-THR 25,000,007 BUER
Haicheng City Suhai The PRC The PRC Registered capital 100 - 100 Manufacturing and sales
Magnesium Ore Co., 27 April 2002 RMB25,000,000 of magnesium products
Ltd. (note (c))
HRGREFCBIHERAR kel hE i EA3,000,000%T 100 - 100 RERHE
(B (a)) ZEERFNRC LA A RBER
Yixing Wellfire The PRC The PRC Registered capital 100 - 100 Manufacturing and sales
Nonmetal Materials 27 September 2006 U5$3,000,000 of refractory related

Co., Ltd. (note (a)

products
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20. RMBATZRE (&)

20. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
gL g 50l

Proportion of ownership interest

AL/ R BRTREAR AEE KRR -EKE
il PEER: ZHHRAH EERE Rrz#t  ERER K& DARE IEXR
Place and date Particulars of Group Held Held
of incorporation/ Place of issued and effective by the bya
Name of subsidiary establishment business paid up capital interest ~ Company subsidiary  Principal activities
% % %
BRI ERERAT alei i AMER 100 - 100 REREE
(Ha) ZETRENAZTNR 3,500 00020 BUER
Hai Cheng Xinwei The PRC The PRC Registered capital 100 - 100 Manufacturing and sales
Leeshing Magnesium 28 September 2006 U5$3,500,000 of magnesium products
Resources Co., Ltd.
(note (a))
MEER B LR ERA i lE AMARARE % - 100 REREE
(Kzt) “ERRE1-ATEA 20,000,0007C HitEBES
Heping County Dongye The PRC The PRC Registered capital 95 - 100 Manufacturing and sales
Rare Earth Company 15 November 2005 RMB20,000,000 of rare earth
Limited (note (¢)) metal products
REERARAT B fif(d) IREHEE 100 - 100 REZER
ZZE\E-A=t+=H 1AL SRR
Silver Mile Holdings Hong Kong Note (d) 1 ordinary share 100 - 100 Investment holding
Limited 23 January 2008 of HK$1 each
BERAESERERAR i i HhEx 100 - 100 B5BtEtY
(K@) ZR-FFt-AZTE 200,000,000 7
Yixing Changrong The PRC The PRC Registered capital 100 - 100 Trading of rare earth
Trading Development 26 November 2010 HK$200,000,000 oxide products
Co., Ltd. (note (a))
SRARERAT &k HizE(d) 1RBREE 100 - 100 REZR
“Z-FE+ZARE BT EBR
Golden Mile Hong Kong Note (d) 1 ordinary share 100 - 100 Investment holding
Holdings Limited 6 December 2010 of HK$1 each

BRI B D REE AN FE B LFERER

BHRBEARZEBES -

HE-_ZT- =K -_FT——F+-_A=+—
BIEFE  AEBEYENBRARBAEEAN

210 42 -

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities subsisting at

the end of the year or within any time during the year.

The Group had no subsidiary which has material non-

controlling interests for the years ended 31 December 2013

and 2012.
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20. RHB AR ZRE (&) 20. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
B & Note:
a) RERABRBERBUAFIEMKLAINEEE a)  These companies are registered under the laws of the PRC as
e wholly-owned foreign enterprises.
b) EZERRBREBEFRBUEGIFMALAEFINE b)  The company is registered under the laws of the PRC as a sino-
1= foreign equity enterprise.
0 EHERATREBPBUAAIFMKZABERET c)  These companies are registered under the laws of the PRC as
NI limited liability enterprises.
d ZERARATEREEIELEWIZRERE d)  These companies are investment holding companies which have
NS no specific principal place of business.
2. REEL¥ECER 21. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES
A%E
The Group
—E—=fF —E——F
2013 2012
TET FHET
HK$’'000 HK$'000
EETRG  BIEEEZFE Unlisted shares, share of net assets 105,087 109,930
AEBRALOEVEDS (NEATBTRE Details of the Group’s interests in joint ventures, which are
DHEZEAR)FEEHYDOT : accounted for using the equity method in the consolidated

financial statements, are as follows:

AEY/  BROREHE AR AER
REEW ABRRYA EEBY Rz AMEREEZLE  FRREEZME  TERE
Form of Place of Particulars of Proportion of nominal Proportion of
business incorporation/ issued and value of registered  voting power held
Name of entity structure business paid up capital  capital held by the Group by the Group Principal activities
ERERRAMHERAT HEMATE il HMER 49.9% 0%  HERHERKER
GEEGEGEN St 14,500,008 72
BRAR) (EERRK]) (K
Yixing Silver Mile Fluorescent Incorporated The PRC Registered capital 49.9% 50% Manufacture and sales of
Materials Co., Ltd., (formerly Euro 14,500,000 fluorescent products

known as OSRAM (China)
Fluorescent Materials Co., Ltd.)
("Yixing Silver Mile") (note (i)
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21.

REELEIES (B) 21. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued)
AfEY/  ERAREHR AEBAE 358
{124 ABRREA EEBY Rz EMEREEHE  FEREEZLA  IEXE
Form of Place of Particulars of Proportion of nominal Proportion of
business incorporation/ issued and value of registered  voting power held
Name of entity structure business paid up capital  capital held by the Group by the Group Principal activities
ERBRTIZREARAE  ARAA e HMER 40% 0%  HEREEMAER
id:Racd) 23,000,000 70
Yixing AGC Ceramics Incorporated The PRC Registered capital 40% 40% Manufacture and sales of
Co., Ltd. ("AGC US$ 23,000,000 refractory products
Ceramics")
5T - Note:
i) REBZAECETEHEXRIBHE TFEEY i) Yixing Silver Mile and AGC Ceramics, the Group's joint ventures,

RIEETARER AUt ETIHME -

RZZE—=FhA=-++tH TEEHES—
BEEHEINL DR - AKEEERRKXZ
#: T50.1%[%# - LR (EH /15,133,000

BT o FIBEHNIEE39

are unlisted corporate entities whose quoted market prices are
not available.

On 27 September 2013, the Group entered into an agreement
with the other joint venturer to acquire the remaining 50.1%
equity interest of Yixing Silver Mile at a cash consideration of
approximately HK$15,133,000. Details of which are set out in
note 39.
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21.

REeEBLE R (B 21.
HEFERBEFEEHEEREE (B
REHBEZERELHE) RREANS

INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued)
Summarised financial information of Yixing Silver Mile and

AGC Ceramics, adjusted for any differences in accounting

MRZEEEHERPENOT ¢ policies, and a reconciliation to the carrying amount in the
consolidated financial statements, are disclosed below:
HEBK B F B &
Yixing Silver Mile AGC Ceramics
—E-—=F —E——%F —E-—=F —ET——F
2013 2012 2013 2012
THERT FET FTHERT FHET
HK$'000 HK$’ 000 HK$’'000 HK$’000
EELECER: Gross amounts of the
joint ventures:
MENEE Current assets 111,345 96,713 92,559 100,412
FRBEE Non-current assets 183,651 201,014 186,893 189,716
VinEIB=RE Current liabilities (119,269) (86,685) (93,765) (93,199)
ERBAE Non-current liabilities (85,220) (103,601) (29,250) (41,047)
Gt Total equity 90,507 107,441 156,437 155,882
B ALBREER Included in the above assets
EER: and liabilities:
RekBHEEEER Cash and cash equivalents 5,525 8,993 15,884 21,267
MEBEMAE(TEE  Current finandial liabilities
JFE AT B R % L fth 8 AT (excluding trade and other
AR BB payables and provisions) (63,306) (39,183) (85,104) (82,354)

ERBELREE (TEHE Non-current financial liabilities

B 5 B R B L A A
A R B )

(excluding trade and other

payables and provisions)

(85,220) (103,601) (29,250) (41,048)
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2. REELECRER (&) 21. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued)
HEE X BT T &
Yixing Silver Mile AGC Ceramics
—B-=f T ZB-=F ZIT—=F
2013 2012 2013 2012
THERT FHET THERT THET
HK$'000 HK$' 000 HK$’000 HK$’ 000
U &5 Revenue 154,685 149,001 108,444 50,789
B %5 A 518 Loss before taxation (19,983) (28,860) (4,255) (20,890)
PGBt Income tax - (126) - (1,299)
REEEE Loss for the year (19,983) (28,986) (4,255) (22,189)
B ALEEER: Included in the above loss:
FEREH Depreciation and amortisation (13,881) (12,576) (20,659) (9,540)
FEWA Interest income 16 43 19 37
FERZ Interest expense (6,137) (6,379) (4,055) (1,533)
FEERGELES Reconciled to the Group's
Rl S interests in joint ventures
AEGCEEEFE Net assets of joint ventures 90,507 107,441 156,437 155,882
REBERER The Group's effective interest 49.9% 49.9% 40% 40%
REBEEEEE The Group's share of net assets
TEBEEFE of joint ventures 45,163 53,613 62,575 62,353
RERE Consolidation adjustments 2,419 (908) (5,070) (5,128)
AEBRGERE Carrying amount of the Group’s
EmZRmE interests in joint ventures 47,582 52,705 57,505 57,225
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22, At HERSRES 22. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE EQUITY SECURITIES

AEBRAEDT
The Group and the Company
—E-=F —E——fF
2013 2012
THERT FAET
HK$’'000 HK$’ 000

BRATEIGR2ES LW Listed equity securities at fair value

@B H in Hong Kong 9,680 9,520
TR ES 2 AT ENIREE TR Z The fair value of the listed equity securities are determined
TEEABREET ° based on the quoted market bid prices available on the Stock

23.

BE_T =G+ -_A=1+—HLEEE 7
HHEEEESFZ A FEREL160,000%5
it::—:i:zwamwbﬂamﬁm
2EP R

REF-——FR-F-=FF+-_H=+—
B ARABUFNTEEFERELLERZ
SRS EMABRZEIEE -
HthkRBEE

HiEnSEERERNEE_ZT——F1+_A
=+ —HIEFE T SBUT 5t HERT 5 E R
PR — 1B E i i TR E 2 5 — 187l
S - ARAFBENIEL17(a) i) K M 5184
Z.

23.

Exchange.

Fair value gain on available-for-sale equity securities of
approximately HK$160,000 (2012: HK$2,800,000) was
recognised in other comprehensive income during the year
ended 31 December 2013.

As at 31 December 2012 and 2013, Mr.

an independent non-executive director of the Company, was

Huang Chunhua,

the deputy chairman of the listed company for these equity

securities.

OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSET

Other non-current asset represents a piece of leasehold land
to be compensated by Dingshu Government for confiscating
another piece of leasehold land due to a new government
town plan during the year ended 31 December 2012. Details of

which are disclosed in notes 17(a)(ii) and 18.
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24. FE 24. INVENTORIES
a) HSAVEBERIARZEESRE: a) Inventories in the consolidated statement of financial

position comprise:

rEE
The Group
—E-—=F —E——4F
2013 2012
THERT FET
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
R #4 % Raw materials 71,138 166,567
& m Work in progress 182,684 168,353
E K Finished goods 314,086 640,298
567,908 975,218
b) HRARFAXZFEELBEZHWWT : b)  The analysis of the amount of inventories recognised as
an expense is as follows:
rEE
The Group
—E-—=F —E——4F
2013 2012
FTHERT FET
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
EEGEZREEA Carrying amount of inventories sold 1,583,387 2,174,642
e Mk Write down of inventories 143,920 457,640
FE bk B o Reversal of write down of inventories (21,465) (87,439)
1,705,842 2,544,843
EXTEMBEE T HRNENT N ES The reversal of write down of inventories arose due to an
EHETERZ G &SI FEE M o increase in the estimated net realisable value of certain

products during the year as a result of change in market

conditions.
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25. BUWARSRREMEBRR  AAKEAR

25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS

®"e AND DEPOSITS
rEE KA F
The Group The Company
—B-=% —T--f% =-%B-=f C-T--F
2013 2012 2013 2012
FTET FATT FTERT FATT
HK$' 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
G E Trade debtors and bills receivables 417,770 420,251 = =
o REREE (HT3E()  Less: Allowance for doubtful
debts (note (c)) (37,329) (46,288) - -
380,441 373,963 - -
H b i 5K Other receivables 10,877 8,879 - -
o REREME (H5E(c))  Less: Allowance for doubtful
debts (note (c)) (1,604) (2,429) - -
9,273 6,450 - -
FEREEREL Amounts due from joint
FIB (KTzE(e)) ventures (note (e)) 65,468 51,978 - -
ER R EWRIAE Loans and receivables 455,182 432,391 = =
H i 7] 3R 2] B 78 Other tax refundable 55,740 46,186 = =
EUWEE A R H B UL Trade and other receivables 510,922 478,577 = =
BRRERES Prepayments and deposits 48,919 116,098 876 781
559,841 594,675 876 781
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25.

YRR R EMERR  BNRER

BE& ()
Bt
a)  FMERUIRRREMEYK  BAFIERE

RPN - FARDRERRFS

b) EURFERERAHRERZEREHAH
2 ZREBEOIIT

25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS
AND DEPOSITS (Continued)

Note:

a)

All of the trade and other receivables, prepayments and deposits
are expected to be recovered or recognised as expense within
one year.

The presentation of ageing analysis of the trade debtors based on
the invoice date and bills receivables based on the issuance date
is as follows:

AEE

The Group
—E—= —F—_F
2013 2012
FET FHAT
HK$’'000 HK$' 000
6fE A AR Less than 6 months 345,994 341,050
6B AE1F R 6 months to less than 1 year 28,344 29,083
EVESPNN 1 year to less than 2 years 13,621 21,695
2F A F Over 2 years 29,811 28,423
417,770 420,251
B RIREE Less: Allowance for doubtful debts (37,329) (46,288)
380,441 373,963

AREBELTEEF0E180B 2 FHEEEH -

AREEERFEEP M KN AR
ERERL - ARERMEEFHERFER
BOEEEBEZHETAUBBEER
HoBRETEEE RS2 BURRREY
S IR W m 5% 5 R URROR o

The Group allows an average credit period of 0 to 180 days to its
customers.

Credit is offered to customers following an assessment of their
financial abilities and payment track record. Credit limits are set
out for all customers and these can be exceeded only with the
approval from management. Management also monitors overdue
trade debtors and bills receivables, and follows up the collection
of these receivables.
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25. FEWRERFZ R EMEKRT - FANRER 25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS
®Be @) AND DEPOSITS (Continued)
Bt : () Note: (Continued)
o) J7E LT BE 0 1 e U 22 4 A 2 L M B MR 2 BB o) Impairment of trade debtors and bills receivables, and other
receivables
REREZEHNOT : The movement of allowance for doubtful debts is as follows:
AEE
The Group
Impairment of trade Impairment of
debtors and bills receivables other receivables
EWERRREREEZRE HthfEW R 2R E
—E-=F —E——4F —EB-—=fF — T
2013 2012 2013 2012
FET FAT TER FHAT
HK$’'000 HK$' 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
®n—A—H At 1 January 46,288 35,543 2,429 1,292
ERRREER Impairment loss recognised 7,397 18,333 149 1,206
BB E 1B Reversal of impairment loss (7,115) (7,575) (850) (69)
AU B IEH S  Written off as uncollectible (10,529) 9) (189) =
EHLER Exchange differences 1,288 (4) 65 -
R+=ZA=+—H At 31 December 37,329 46,288 1,604 2,429

JE M R B FE M R A3 A B AL b FE M R 2 R B
BERBERRIIR  RIFNEERBZN
TRz WENESF AN - BZIERT - BER
B S AR E M (RHE20)6)) °

JFE M R T I M R 4 A B Lt FE MR SRS
BEBETARATAREBEZZEEYGRZ
EIREU - BIEFE %S REGRIE L 2 %
HBARE T ARE -

R-_ZE—=F+-_A=+—H X&EEH
Bl /& 28 #937,329,000/8 T (Z & — — 4 :
46,288,000/ 7T) & 1,604,000/ & (=&
—Z4F 12,429,000 7T) 2 FE UK BR 3K K FE It
ZENREMERRENEESRELD
EHE2HEE - ZZERREERKKXER
HREMEERRBBIFHNAERARER
A A BRBEBAZRIE - Al - HER
BRAEE D PI497,397,0008 L (ZE——F ¢
18,333,000/ 7) }149,000/8 T (= F——
4 11,206,000 ) ERFRER - A5E
WERZSEESREGEMEERR -

Impairment loss in respect of trade debtors and bills receivables,
and other receivables is recorded using an allowance account
unless the Group is satisfied that recovery of the amount is
remote, in which case the impairment loss is written off against
these receivables directly (see note 2(j)(i)).

Reversal of impairment loss on trade debtors and bills receivables,
and other receivables represents the recovery of debts due
from these receivables previously considered to be impaired. An
allowance for these receivable amounts that had been made in
previous years was reversed back accordingly.

As at 31 December 2013, trade debtors and bills receivables, and
other receivables amounting to approximately HK$37,329,000
(2012: HK$46,288,000) and HK$1,604,000 (2012:
HK$2,429,000), respectively, were individually determined to be
impaired and full allowance had been made. These individually
impaired receivables had been outstanding for over one year as
at the end of the reporting period or were due from debtors with
financial difficulties. Accordingly, specific allowances for doubtful
debts of approximately HK$7,397,000 (2012: HK$18,333,000)
and HK$149,000 (2012: HK$1,206,000), respectively, were
recognised during the year. The Group does not hold any
collateral over these balances.
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25. BUWRRREMBERR  AAKER
BE& ()

BifeE : (#8)
d)  YEREZEBERRERRE

e)

3 £ 1 Bl ok £ [RIAR A5 HH B IRUE 2 FE U R R
REBMERZEROTIT

25.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS

AND DEPOSITS (Continued)
Note: (Continued)

d)

Trade debtors and bills receivables that are not impaired

The ageing analysis of trade debtors and bills receivables that are
neither individually nor collectively considered to be impaired are
as follows:

rEE

The Group
—E-=F —T——F
2013 2012
FTHET FiT
HKS$’ 000 HK$' 000
K@ H A RRE Neither past due nor impaired 194,490 341,050
L R6fEA Less than 6 months past due 177,680 29,083
R ReE AR LME More than 6 months but less than 1 year past due 6,084 3,830
BEEBF More than 1 year past due 2,187 =
185,951 32,913
380,441 373,963

RABHARREZERFIBTIESZ BITHR
BRERGEHZEFER -

BEAMERREZ BERARS R EAEE
RERFARCHRZBELTP AR - KRB
ERER EREREGE AREEERLES
REF  BZREHEHKDEE AT 2K
WBATLAE B IE LR ERE - AREL
ERZSEBTEEMERR -

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to a
wide range of customers for whom there was no recent history of
default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a
number of independent customers that have a good track record
with the Group. Based on past experience, management believes
that no impairment allowance is necessary in respect of these
balances as there has not been a significant change in credit
quality and the balances are still considered fully recoverable. The
Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.

The amounts due from joint ventures are unsecured, interest-free
and repayable on demand.
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26. BYW (M) EERHERRRIE 26. AMOUNTS DUE FROM/(TO) DIRECTORS AND

SUBSIDIARIES
EEERE Amounts due to directors
rEH PN
The Group The Company
—E-=f %= ZB-=§ —E2—-f%
2013 2012 2013 2012
FTET FAT FTHET FHET
HK$’ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$" 000
BRELE Mr. Jiang Quanlong 1,461 978 164 164
BrEit Ms. Qian Yuanying 45 45 45 45
BAmEE Mr. Jiang Cainan 51 51 51 51
1,557 1,074 260 260
ENEZFEARKR - 28 RIREKEE The amounts due to directors are unsecured, interest-free and
& e repayable on demand.
EUWH B A B =R IE Amounts due from subsidiaries
PN
The Company
—B—=F —E——F
2013 2012
FEx FHET
HK$’ 000 HK$" 000
FEUS K B A R FRIE Amounts due from subsidiaries 1,916,078 1,928,600
FEUH B AR FIEAERR - 28 RIEEK The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free

R EE o and repayable on demand.
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27. EERBRTERRZRHRTER 27. PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS AND RESTRICTED BANK
BALANCES
RERPEAEER  BEBRRTEREZE At the end of the reporting period, the pledged bank deposits
FISR TR0 T ¢ and restricted bank balances are as follows:
rEE
The Group
—E-=F —E——F
2013 2012
TET FHET
HK$’'000 HK$" 000
B IR 1717 2K (BT 3E@)) Pledged bank deposits (note (a)) - 52,541
X PR 1 87 17 45 &2 (T 5E(b)) Restricted bank balances (note (b)) - 494
- 53,035

MEE Note:

a) MZE—=F+=A=+—8" ' RIEXLY a) As at 31 December 2012, bank deposits of approximately
52,541,000/ ST E IR T RITIERBEUX T HK$52,541,000 were pledged to a bank to secure bank
AEE 2 RITERZFER o ZFRIRFEH = borrowings granted to the Group. The deposits carried interest
3.85%xt 8 ° rate at 3.85% per annum.

b) RZZT—=—F+ZA=+—H ' XRHIRT b)  As at 31 December 2012, restricted bank balances represented
BRERTERE THERELEREMR bank deposits restricted by banks for issuance of letters of credit
W 2 RITIFR - IR BIRITEEERIZ B E F 4 to certain suppliers. The restricted bank balances carried fixed

*0.35%&T 5 ° interest rate at 0.35% per annum.
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28. BERBRELEEER

28. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

r5E PN
The Group The Company
—E—=F —E——F —_E—=F —E—_F
2013 2012 2013 2012
TR FHT THT FHT
HK$’ 000 HK$' 000 HK$’ 000 HK$' 000
RITEBRKRE Bank balances and cash 1,369,054 1,236,290 5,323 5,820

AekBeEEBAREASEERAZE
& ROTBRRRBIMSFENENF0%
£038% (ZE—Z=%F : 0%%0.38%) 7t &
2B A=BEASNA T ZEERITER

R-ZZE—=F+=—A=+—8 KEEFRT
ERERyAEETPREINEE G 2 RITHE
IR & 49 /41,355,888,0008 7L (=T ——
4 :1,218,083,000/7T) °

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash held by the Group,

bank balances and short-term bank deposits with a maturity of

three months or less at prevailing market interest rates ranging
from 0% to 0.38% (2012: 0% to 0.38%) per annum.

As at 31 December 2013, the Group had bank balances and

cash that were either not freely convertible or were subject

to exchange controls in the PRC amounting to approximately
HK$1,355,888,000 (2012: HK$1,218,083,000).
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29. ENRA EREAREMENRK 29. TRADE PAYABLES, ACCRUALS AND OTHER
PAYABLES
rEH ¥ N/NE
The Group The Company

—E-=F —E—fF —E-=F —E -

2013 2012 2013 2012

TERT FHT THER FTHT

HK$'000 HK$' 000 HK$'000 HK$" 000

FETER R Trade payables 103,652 94,664 - -

HIRER K HEAM Accrued expenses and

J& 13 5% other payables 21,001 21,195 4,983 4,481

T8 W ke Receipt in advance 2,814 3,161 = =

H b & R TH Other tax payables 1,835 4,083 - =
JE AT SR IE K EL A FE Total accruals and other

AT payables 25,650 28,439 4,983 4,481

129,302 123,103 4,983 4,481

FENEFIRREQHEY 2BROTHT : The ageing analysis of trade payables presented based on the

invoice date is as follows:
rxEH
The Group

—B-=fF —E—

2013 2012

TET FHT

HK$'000 HK$' 000

61E A LAR Less than 6 months 96,092 83,096

68 A ZE1F AN 6 months to less than 1 year 3,167 6,766

122F A 1 year to less than 2 years 2,170 2,070

2F A F Over 2 years 2,223 2,732

103,652 94,664
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30. MITERM

30. BANK BORROWINGS

R—FE——F+-—FA=+—8 " FT7EZA As at 31 December 2012, the bank borrowings were bills of
ARBESR  EBAREAGHER 28 KA exchange denominated in RMB and the amounts were secured,

R—FAERE -

interest-free and repayable within one year.

3. REAHBRREZFER 31. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT

OF FINANCIAL POSITION

a) FRN - EEMBRRARZERMR (AT a) The movement of tax payable/(recoverable) in the

m)RBZEBHHINWT

consolidated statement of financial position during the

year are as follows:

rEH
The Group
—E-—=F ===
2013 2012
FER FATT
HK$' 000 HK$' 000
R—A—H At 1 January 4,989 55,271
FERAE (H5E8()) Provision for the year (note 8(a))
—HE RS — PRC Enterprise Income Tax 7,068 12,261
—BBMREH - Hong Kong Profits Tax - 2,414
EFEREDTT (H7E8() Under-provision in prior year (note 8(a))
—HhEREMEH — PRC Enterprise Income Tax 347 -
KEEBNAER Income tax paid during the year (10,276) (64,950)
2,128 4,996
EHEE Exchange differences 36 (7)
R+=ZR=+—H At 31 December 2,164 4,989
RIERA ISR R R IER Tax recoverable recognised in the (2,774) (943)
Z AU Bl B IR consolidated statement of financial position
RERE MR R IER Tax payable recognised in the
ZIER IR consolidated statement of financial position 4,938 5,932
e R 1B F B Net tax payable 2,164 4,989
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3. REEMBRRRZAER (&)

b)

31. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF FINANCIAL POSITION (Continued)

ERRAZELEHEEERAE b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised
RAFEREZFERRECHBEE The major components of the deferred tax assets/
(AR ZEBEABHREEFHN (liabilities) recognised and movements thereon during the
T current and prior year:
rEH
The Group
g
KE  HEBE  BATER
HRET Rz  t##gr  EFEEZ BEHX
ZEff  DTERE  ATEEE AVERE REf aE
Fair value
Fair value adjustment on
Revaluation adjustment  prepaid lease Fair value
of buildings  on property,  payments on adjustment Deferred
held for plant and land under  onintangible  expenditures
own use equipment operating leases asset and others Total
ThL ThL ThL ThL ThL Tk
HK$'000 HK$" 000 HK$" 000 HK$" 000 HK$" 000 HKS' 000
RTAREEEZEERE:  Deferred tax arising from:
RZE--%-f-H At 1 January 2012 (9,110) (477) 2,310 (21,918) 5,853 (23,282)
BaEZiHA/(G1%) Credited(charged) to profit
(Histsa) or loss (note 8(a)) 1,050 41 (53) 3,125 (1,849) 2314
Eiz2 Exchange differences 142 - - 2 - 144
Riiz2grz e Credited to other
A2 E i comprehensive income
for effect on change
in tax rate 1,333 = = = = 1333
RZE-ZFF+-F=1—H At31 December 2012
k=Z-=F-f-H and 1 January 2013 (6,585) (436) 2,317 (18,791) 4,004 (19,491)
BHZHA/ (%) Credited/(charged) to profit
(KriE8a) o loss (note 8(z)) 788 39 (54) 19,079 (1,688) 18,164
EREE Exchange differences (194) (13) 7 (288) 9 (325)
RZE—ZF+-A=F—H At 31 December 2013 (5,991) (410) 2,335 - 2414 (1,652)
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INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT

OF FINANCIAL POSITION (Continued)

31. REEMBRRRZAEH (8 31.
b) ERRZELHEAERAM(H) b)

(9)

AT HE B am s 2 EEH

Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised
(Continued)

The following is the analysis of the deferred tax assets/

BEE/(BE) D : (liabilities) for financial reporting purposes:
—E—=KF —E—_4F
2013 2012
FTEx FAET
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
WERE BB R R Deferred tax assets recognised in the
BRZELERIEEE consolidated statement of financial position 4,749 6,321
R & BRI & Deferred tax liabilities recognised in the
BRCELEHIBEE consolidated statement of financial position (6,401) (25,812)
(1,652) (19,491)
MR YEERIBESE c) Deferred tax assets not recognised

RZE—=F+-A=+—0 ' RXR
WM mERERE @ IEER 2 MR
TR = 2 4)/51,317,045,0008 7T (=
T — 4% :958,626,000/5T) ° AN
PATE AR 20 I 3ROR - st /% 5t A B8
AHREREERAECHBEE -
FRBEFABALEESRZRFEZHE
E51847841,541,0008 T (Z 2 ——4&:
470,433,000/ 7T ) o H il &5 18 A #& [

At 31 December 2013, deductible temporary differences
in respect of tax losses not recognised in the financial
statements were approximately HK$1,317,045,000
(2012: HK$958,626,000). No deferred tax asset has
been recognised in respect of such deductible temporary
differences due to the unpredictability of future
profit streams. Included in the above are tax losses of
approximately HK$841,541,000 (2012: HK$470,433,000)
which can only be carried forward for a maximum
period of five years. Other losses may be carried forward

indefinitely.
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. RESHMBRRRZAER (@)

d)

AEREEHEEE
BRER-_ZTN\F-—F—HBEHZ
REFMEHE - WENRBERK I HESE
EBzEEREEIRPREK LR
BEBBRBKRALIEZRERHE
PSR A E SR - Al AR &
HERA (RE R B 2R S)E10%
MEGNENFRER - RZTTN\F
A+ -H UEBERERRBER
B #EE BA B (2008)15% © Btk - R=F
Z+EF+_A=+—HAIBIEDLE
R & FIMEH 2 IR B2 R A5 B3 5 4
MTBH TSR

N=—Z— E¢+*H:+—H~ﬁ
BRAEKRKIZHBARE =

AiZ*nMEﬂZ%%%%@%
1,462,171,0008 L (Z & — =4 :
1,436,053,000/7T) ° FHARAANA BIREHE
HZEMBRARZREBE HETE
ZEm F DA RARER A R DK -
B R BE 2 TR 5% SR B R B 2 FE S R
BHERELETIEBE4)146,217,0007
JL(=Z— =4 : 143,605,000 7C) °

32. BRARf#E

a)

ARBGEAREZBREBNRFINR
FRZHBRENGAREEHRA -
BRAARRRERZERBORENE
FREBMzEBHHE  #FWT -

31. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF FINANCIAL POSITION (Continued)

d)

Deferred tax liabilities not recognised

Under the PRC Enterprise Income Tax Law with effect
from 1 January 2008 onwards, non-resident enterprises
without an establishment or place of business in the PRC
or which have an establishment or place of business but
the relevant income is not effectively connected with the
establishment or a place of business in the PRC, will be
subject to withholding income tax at the rate of 10%
on various types of passive income such as dividends
derived from sources in the PRC. On 22 February 2008,
the Ministry of Finance and State Administration of
Tax approved Caishui (2008) No.

dividend distributions out of retained profits of foreign

1, pursuant to which

investment enterprises prior to 31 December 2007 will be

exempted from withholding income tax.

At 31 December 2013, temporary differences relating
to the undistributed profits of subsidiaries established
in the PRC since 2008 amounted to approximately
HK$1,462,171,000 (2012: HK$1,436,053,000). Deferred
tax liabilities of approximately HK$146,217,000 (2012:
HK$143,605,000) have not been recognised in respect
of the tax that would be payable on the distribution
of these retained profits as the Company controls the
dividend policy of these subsidiaries and it has been
determined that it is probable that these profits will not

be distributed in the foreseeable future.

32. CAPITAL AND RESERVES

a)

The reconciliation between the opening and closing
balances of each component of the Group’s consolidated
equity is set out in the consolidated statement of changes
in equity. Details of the changes in the Company’s
individual components of equity between the beginning

and the end of the year are set out below:
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32. RARGEE (B

32.

CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued)

a) (&) a) (Continued)
KAREBAER
Attributable to owners of the Company
(Rt ER)/
RA& RBEE AVERE RE &R #E
(Accumulated
losses)/
Share Share Fair value Retained
capital premium reserve profits Total
FEL FAT FHEL FEL FEL
HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000
R-B——F—H—H At 1 January 2012 167,264 1,920,050 - (87,220) 2,000,094
ZE-ZEIEREE Changes in equity for 2012:
RE R Profit for the year - - - 122,265 122,265
A2 E ks Other comprehensive income
~AREEERES ~ Fair value gain on available-
AEEYE (22) for-sale equity securities
(note 22) - - 2,800 - 2,800
AEE2EKEAR Total comprehensive
income for the year - - 2,800 122,265 125,065
B2 Dividends = = = (33,453) (33,453)
WZE——%F+=-A=+—H At 31 December 2012
E—ZE-=%—-F—H and 1 January 2013 167,264 1,920,050 2,800 1,592 2,091,706
ZE-CEIEREE Changes in equity for 2013:
rERER Loss for the year - = - (13,431) (13,431)
Hi 2 E K Other comprehensive income
—AHEREEE S ~ Fair value gain on available-
AT A (5522) for-sale equity securities
(note 22) - - 160 - 160
AEEXHBRAE Total comprehensive loss
for the year - - 160 (13,431) (13,271)
WZZE—=%+ZA=+—H At31 December 2013 167,264 1,920,050 2,960 (11,839) 2,078,435
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32. RER % (@) 32. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued)
b) ZEEREBRTERA b) Authorised and issued share capital
AEERAEDF

The Group and the Company
—B-=ZER-T-_F
2013 and 2012

fizfn 22 B T
R EEO. 10802 ZEK Number
Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each of shares Amount
T FAET
000 HK$'000
ETE Authorised
R—A—BER+=ZA=+—H At 1 January and 31 December 2,000,000 200,000
ERTRAE Issued and fully paid
R—A—BR+=ZRA=+—H At 1 January and 31 December 1,672,643 167,264
LTERFEAGERESTEERZK The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends
BERARRIERLZEER—FE2 as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per
R fTA T EIRY AR R 2 ek share at meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares rank

BEDNZAREER ° equally with regard to the Company’s residual assets.
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32. RARGEE (B
0 HEZHERE®

)

if)

1)

i gzyy

RIBEF S BB R BDE (BEF])
P £ 32 8 B P 6 0k F AR A R AR
REREREREZENRERSZAE
Hif%  ARRBERNNAFEE
BT EELBRER -

RAR ZRM#ERREEHRR
#7149,950,000/8 7T + BIARRAIAR
B ZER AR AR 2 E T
RADFrEE1TIR D 2 EME - AR
AR—NANREAARZT AR
BRKERBR D F A B
ARAIEBREZHMFEERE
LR o

B
BEXFREARERESESEA
MEBEAMEZ DEEARE#ELZ
A o

BFELFE
BTEMRHRERFIFERET
ZRBHSHERAERE 2 Z
B-BTEMHBS TRIALR
B E20)MEAMISIES A2
FREAHRRTUARE - BFE
MBS N DIK

32. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued)

¢) Nature and purpose of reserves

i)

ii)

iii)

Share premium

Under the Companies Law (Revised) of the Cayman
Islands, the share premium account is distributable
to the shareholders of the Company provided
that immediately following the date on which the
dividend is proposed to be distributed, the Company
will be in a position to pay off its debts as they fall

due in the ordinary course of business.

The share premium of the Company included
the contribution surplus of approximately
HK$149,950,000 which represented the difference
between the nominal value of the shares of the
Company issued in exchange for the entire issued
share capital of Lee Shing Holdings Limited and the
value of the underlying net assets of the subsidiaries
held by Lee Shing Holdings Limited at the date they
were acquired by the Company on 29 September
1999.

Capital reserve

The capital reserve represents the capitalised
aggregate appropriations to the statutory
reserves made by the Group as a result of Group

reorganisation.

Buildings revaluation reserve

The buildings revaluation reserve comprises the
difference between the revalued amount and the
carrying amount of buildings held for own use. The
buildings revaluation reserve has been set up and
is dealt with in accordance with the accounting
policies adopted for buildings held for own use
as set out in note 2(g). The buildings revaluation

reserve is not distributable.
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32. RAR B (50
o fEEZIMHERBEMNGE)

iv) JETEE
BRBBNEZEZEFER DR
1R B8 2 P B AR Al R AR Bl A R AR
RARFBKZ ZHMBAR 2 A
AIERMEL  TEBEEEZE
=gk o

AERBESUAREHEBEFE
ZEB(ME) A ERASEHE
AR WEREITZERRG 2 AT
BEeEATBINEBITMER
225% °

ARAEFTRHBEZHERREA
REREMEEFESRKRR
HestRAl kRGBT 2T 2
10% ' BEEZHBAESRERTM
BRZ50% M1k o fEH 2 ER A
REEEADIRRE ZBTHELT ©

v ERERE
EXFFEEEREERIMEE R
BeHBREMEEZABER
8 - LR BIREBMF20MH
ZERBRTNRRE -

vi) RFEFE
AT ERERERARAEES
B AAHEERRES 22
FER2FEE)FE - WREM
F2(NPTE 2 EETER TIARE -

)

32. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued)

Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)

iv)

v)

Vi)

Statutory reserves

Transfers from retained earnings to statutory
reserve fund were made in accordance with the
relevant PRC rules and regulations and the articles
of association of the Company’s subsidiaries
established in the PRC and were approved by the

respective boards of directors.

Statutory reserve fund can be used to offset
previous years' losses, if any, and may be converted
into paid-up capital provided that the balance of the
statutory reserve fund after such conversion is not

less than 25% of the entity’s registered capital.

The Company’s certain subsidiaries in the PRC are
required to transfer a minimum of 10% of their net
profits, as determined in accordance with the PRC
accounting rules and regulations to the statutory
reserves until the reserve balances reaches 50% of
the registered capital. The transfer must be made

before distribution of dividends to owners.

Translation reserve

The translation reserve comprises all foreign
exchange differences arising from the translation
of the financial statements of foreign operations.
The reserve is dealt with in accordance with the

accounting policy set out in note 2(t).

Fair value reserve

The fair value reserve comprises the cumulative
net change in fair value of available-for-sale equity
securities held at the end of the reporting period
and is dealt with in accordance with the accounting

policies in note 2(f).
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32. RARGE(®)

d)

e)

B2 IR IRER
RZBE—=F+-A=+—8 mf#t
DETHEBAZARARELED
£1,911,171,0008 L (=2 — = F :
1,924,442,00087C) - HPBELRRQ
a) J% 17 3% {8 491,920,050,0007% 7T (=
T — — 4 :1,920,050,000/8 L) * A
- {E f# 1 492,960,000 T (ZE— =
12,800,000 70) M 2 EELY
11,839,000 7L (ZF— =4 : (RE )&
F#91,592,000/87T) © ZE @D EHL
DK HEBEERERKREZA AR
AMNERRENEENAEXBHEIHEH
MEME  FREfEH DK

EXEH
AEBEREAZIRZEREDRER
EESELEZRNARBRERE
BEBEEMBREREAES  WAER
BIEZERRBURDERKA °

rEEeEBE R ENEHRERESR
SRE - AER A RIS BORE R
REEARA AR ZRBEHKF
HROFERREZHREGTE A
FARGERAZ EBEEARARBEL
HE - BESHHBEEARE  ~&H
AEBHERARRS N 2RSSR
BOHR REERATHRRREESR
EARIE

HERE - AEENEEARL
KECPRE ARG o ZLEAREE 2R
TEFRRERBESEBBBRUAR
REIEEANEIERZRENE - A&
BER=_ZT—=Fk=T—Z=-F+=A
- HYEFER HE-T—=
E+-A=+—ALEEHHE &£
Bz REEE - T — —EHF -

A B R EAE AT B B 2 B B 7R 4 4
REBZEABTE °

32. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued)

d)

e)

Distributability of reserves

As at 31 December 2013, the aggregate amount of
the Company’s reserves available for distribution to
owners was approximately HK$1,911,171,000 (2012:
HK$1,924,442,000) which included the Company’s share
premium of approximately HK$1,920,050,000 (2012:
HK$1,920,050,000), fair value reserve of approximately
HK$2,960,000 (2012: HK$2,800,000) and accumulated
losses of approximately HK$11,839,000 (2012: retained
profits of approximately HK$1,592,000) These reserves
are available for distribution provided that immediately
following the date on which the dividend is proposed, the
Company will be able to pay off its debts as they fall due
in the ordinary course of business.

Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern in order to provide returns for
shareholders and benefit for other stakeholders and to
maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost
of capital.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages
its capital structure to maintain a balance between the
higher stakeholder returns that might be possible with
higher levels of borrowings and the advantages and
security afforded by a sound capital position, and makes
adjustments to the capital structure in light of changes in
economic conditions. In order to maintain or adjust the
capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of
dividends paid to shareholders, issue new shares, return
capital to shareholders or sell assets to reduce debt.

Consistent with industry practice, the Group monitors its
capital structure on the basis of the gearing ratio. This
ratio is calculated as the Group’s bank borrowings less
cash and cash equivalents over its total equity attributable
to owners of the Company. There is no net debts for the
Group as at 31 December 2013 and 2012. During the
year ended 31 December 2013, the Group's strategy was
unchanged from year 2012.

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are
subject to externally imposed capital requirements.
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33.

fERESE
RIZETOFRAAMBETZERBEFA
St AREBRRUERA —BBEREE
(M=t &) -

REZAE  ARRAEEATRBEBEHELE
BEEMEMABAEERZASEERESR
(BREARRIRENBRARIZES) - EAK
RoHER FF BEREM - BERRAE
BHIEBHBEXT B RT LG ZAR
TEXBERERBARARD aER2HE
ERRBRBEE CBEREINRBARE -
BREITNESERHBONMETE RIEE
FTRARAZ BRAERRRTE - ETE
B S BRAER L AR T F 28 - R
ERZATE T AR FLIE ©

HE_ZT—=Ffk-F——-F+-A=1+—

W sk im RATHE ©

33. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

At the annual general meeting of the Company held on 4 June
2004, the shareholders of the Company approved the adoption

of a share option scheme (the “Scheme”).

Under the Scheme, the directors of the Company may, at
their discretion, invite full-time employees of the Group,
including directors of the Company and its subsidiaries, any
of its shareholders, suppliers, customers, consultants, advisers
and joint venture partners or business alliance who have
contributed or will contribute to the Group to take up options
to subscribe for shares in the Company subject to the terms
and conditions stipulated therein. A nominal consideration will
be paid by the eligible participants for each lot of share options
granted. An option may be exercised at any time during a
period to be determined and identified by the directors to each
grantee at the time of making the offer, but in any event, shall
not exceed the period of ten years from the date of grant of
the particular option, subject to the early termination of the

Scheme.

There were no share options granted, exercised, forfeited nor
outstanding throughout the years ended 31 December 2013
and 2012.
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3. BEAERS 34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
a) HBEEATZRE a) Transactions with related parties
BREA TS R A 5 TR 2 R 5 R4 In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed
BN RRREEREA W NIAREEZS elsewhere in these financial statements, the directors
E—=FREBE——-F+-_fF=+— of the Company consider that the followings are the
HIEFEBREAK BT 2 E KME significant related party transactions entered into by the
AR5 : Group during the years ended 31 December 2013 and
2012:
—E-=F —E—_fF
2013 2012
TR FHT
HK$'000 HK$' 000
BEALTER HALSEZH% REME
Name of related party Relationship with Nature of transaction
the Group
BRERE ARAMTES AEEYRNHESER 902 888
Mr. Jiang Quanlong Executive director of Payment of rental expenses
the Company by the Group
HARK REERELE AEEHES m 117,161 120,237
Yixing Silver Mile The Group's joint Sales of goods by the Group
venture
AEEBEEM 561 41

Purchases of goods

by the Group

TBFE T & AEERELE AEBHEEm 6,523 21,415
AGC Ceramics The Group's joint Sales of goods by the Group
venture
AEBHERE KR E - 986

Sales of plant and equipment

by the Group
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3. REALRZ (&)
a) BEEBALZRS(E)

34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Transactions with related parties (Continued)

—2-= —F-CF
2013 2012
FiH T
HK$' 000 HK$' 000
BEALER RAEEZHE RHHE
Name of related party Relationship with Nature of transaction
the Group
EHZTREPMBERRE AR TE%H %%‘Ef‘t$ AEEX NS ER 66 65
([E$HZ:])
Wuxi Pan-Asia Environmental A company of which Payment of rental
Protection Technologies Mr. Jiang Quanlong, expenses by the Group
Limited ("Wuxi Pan-Asia”) a director of the
company, is also
ARERELEHERRK 18,077 2,075
HERLHEOT
ik Es:L ik

ARAEERA  ERRSHR

EBERTRERERSTR S 2

AT -

Sales of prepaid lease
payments on land under
operating leases by
Yixing Silver Mile,

the Group's joint venture

The directors of the Company considered that the above

transactions were entered into under the normal course

of business and in accordance with the terms of the

agreements governing such transactions.
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3. BEALRS (8)
b) RIEEEARBZXS
TEEBABZME (BEXNTHE
OFF IR EE 2 NN RIE F MM 10/ B8
ZREFMALZER)MT

34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)
b) Transactions with key management personnel

Emoluments for key management personnel, including
amounts paid to the Company’s directors as disclosed in
note 9 and the highest paid employees as disclosed in

note 10 are as follows:

rEH

The Group
—E-=F —E—C=fF
2013 2012
TERT FAT
HK$’000 HK$' 000
RHEEREF Short-term employee benefits 4,723 3,982
RINIRAR T Post-employment benefits 57 55
4,780 4,037

35. AiE
a) RERBEEER AEERGAH
BRENEBEME  BE RZHE 2K
BREEZBINBRBENERE
L UNNE

35. COMMITMENTS
a) At the end of the reporting period, the Group had capital
commitments in respect of acquisition and construction
of property, plant and equipment contracted but not
provided for in the consolidated financial statements as

follows:

xEH
The Group
—E—=F —E—_F
2013 2012
FTHERT FAIT
HK$’ 000 HK$' 000
M - BEREE Acquisition and construction of property,
2 s f B AR plant and equipment 12,399 56,107

R-F-—Z=ZFR-F-—Z-F1+=A
=t—H ARFALBERNBEARAE -

The Company did not have significant capital

commitments as at 31 December 2013 and 2012.
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35. RIE (&)
b) RERHAMLER AEBREBERA
B2 TR EFELHEENAER

35. COMMITMENTS (Continued)
b) At the end of the reporting period, the Group had

operating lease commitments for future minimum lease

AHNNRERSKBAE ZEHB payments under non-cancellable operating leases in
R respect of land and buildings which fall due as follows:
AEE
The Group
—E—=F —B—_F
2013 2012
THERT FHET
HK$’'000 HK$"000
1 A Within one year 2,385 1,940
1F%E5FR After one year but within five years 3,212 592
5,597 2,532
MU ENREARERREETFHA Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by

EEffzEz -HORESHBEEE
BETE AR —ERF - HEHEESR

the Group for certain of its offices. Leases and rentals are
negotiated and fixed for a period of two to five years.

None of the leases includes contingent rentals.
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35. RIE (&) 35. COMMITMENTS (Continued)
b) (&) b) (Continued)
it AE SR 34 E 2 A The above commitments included future lease payments
NEEERREAERBEEATESS to Mr. Jiang Quanlong, a director of the Company, and
25 7 KRS 2 #9904,000/5 7T (= Wuxi Pan-Asia, a related party as disclosed in note 34(a),
T——4:1,502,0005%7T)  FEIAM of approximately HK$904,000 (2012: HK$1,502,000)
T which fall due as follows:

xEH
The Group
—E—=F —ET——F
2013 2012
FTHER FHET
HK$’ 000 HK$' 000
JENT FRREELEZ Future lease payments to
AAKME T Mr. Jiang Quanlong
1 A Within one year 611 888
15 &EB5FR After one year but within five years - 592
611 1,480
JENT TS ZEZ Future lease payments to
AAKME T Wuxi Pan-Asia
15 A Within one year 68 22
1% B8R After one year but within five years 225 =
293 22
9204 1,502
R-B-—=FfR-_F-—-F+_H The Company did not have significant operating lease
Z+t—B ARRITEEALEHD commitments as at 31 December 2013 and 2012.
I o
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36. MKEKEEREMIAZATYE

AEBZEESHTAPERSRRESSE
HE -  BERRITER  XBRHIRITEH
A SRR E S - BUR R H AR U
P A SRR - BRI E e
M BENESREURRITER - €T
EZE?\&TBZ?EEARW%I cZEEBMTAZRE

BEASEEASEBBIETFELEZFE
Rk nEESRER - FXRER  EERRE
KRG ERRER o

a) fFERRE
FERBREXZUFELIBITANE
FEIAEBNBEER AR - AEH
FIRANBRABEEGERIZRS
ﬁ?ﬁﬁiﬁf‘é » WERS B S G (10

R)  UREEZEITANEEEN
QH%EEHEZHK“ o

AREERERUERESRREMERKZ
Dﬂﬂﬁ mﬁﬁﬂﬂﬁ—ﬁﬁgﬁ
UHEREERBRETHREERR
$% ﬁﬁﬁxixgﬁZ%%#
RRIEIETEER Y - ZFRHhE S
EPBEXNIMRRLESLRE A
IS AEEEPRHEEMEE
FREMEEERFEZEN - AKHE
W E B EERRKEE RS o

36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The Group’s major financial instruments include cash and cash

equivalents, pledged bank deposits, restricted bank balances,

available-for-sale equity securities, trade and other receivables,

amounts due from joint ventures, trade and other payables,

amounts due to directors and bank borrowings. Details of the

financial instruments are disclosed in the respective notes. The

risks associated with these financial instruments include credit

risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk, currency risk and equity

price risk arises in the normal course of the Group’s business.

a)

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will
default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial
loss to the Group. The Group has adopted a policy of only
dealing with creditworthy counterparties and obtaining
sufficient collateral, where appropriate, as a means of

mitigating the risk of financial loss from defaults.

In respect of trade and other receivables, in order to
minimise credit risk, the management has a credit policy
in place and the exposures to these credit risks are
monitored on an ongoing basis. Credit evaluations of its
customers’ financial position and condition are performed
on each major customer periodically. These evaluations
focus on the customers’ past history of making payments
when due and current ability to pay, and take into
account information specific to the customers as well as
pertaining to the economic environment in which the
customers operate. The Group does not require collateral

in respect of its financial assets.
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36. BXEREEREMIAECZATFE

(#8)

a)

EERE (&)
AEEEARZEERAREERES
BEEZERSHMTE TREMEE
TERBRzEREARTEHEER
lAEMTZE  BRERE - RBREMHE
GEB AEFAIKRAESZARF
REABFERERBECEFEE
EB DR A36% (ZFB——%F : 25%) %
58% (=T — % :51%)°

B B £ B 5Kk A e U BR R K H A e LR
RZEERRZE—SELFEARN
B 5E25 o

MRBITERRRITERIDEFRRZ
REEFRRIEZRT - Hith % F K
HEEZEERREN RAELJEEKR
SEREERR

RERSELEFAME A5
BUERALERREZHBRN - B
FERERM AN AREEE R
BRMEREE AT RE SR - AR
LA R E SRR AE L R R EER
Bt ARREERR  AREZEE
B KRR o

ARAZEERREER A EKHE
REFRIE - AARREARME S E B
@ E A5 EH 2 AT Y B R0R - AR
R 3L AT W B FRIB R R 4 2 R (B S
Bt s AAREEFRRAEHE
ZEERBERERD

36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

a)

Credit risk (Continued)

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly
by the individual characteristics of each customer.
The default risk of the industry and country in which
customers operate also has an influence on credit risk
but to a lesser extent. At the end of the reporting period,
the Group has concentration of credit risk as 36% (2012:
25%) and 58% (2012: 51%) of the total trade debtors
was due from the Group's largest customer and the five

largest customers respectively.

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the Group's
exposure to credit risk arising from trade and other

receivables are set out in note 25.

The credit risk for bank deposits and bank balances
exposed is considered minimal as such amounts are
placed with various banks with good credit ratings and

there is no significant concentration of credit risk.

For amounts due from joint ventures, the Group closely
monitors the financial positions including the net
assets backing of the joint ventures. In addition, the
Group regularly reviews the recoverable amounts of the
individual debts to ensure that adequate impairment
losses are made for the irrecoverable amounts. In this
regard, the directors of the Company consider that the

Group's credit risk is significantly reduced.

The Company’s credit risk is primarily attributable to
amounts due from subsidiaries. The Company reviews
the recoverable amounts of individual debts at the end of
the reporting period to ensure that adequate impairment
losses are made for irrecoverable amounts. In this
regard, the directors of the Company consider that the

Company'’s credit risk is significantly reduced.
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36. IKEAKEERESMIAZATE

(&)

a) FERARE)
BB RE37FT i el A R B R 2 B TS 1R
RO R EE R AR F W IR G
HiERERAEERAD T ARE
EERR RERBHEERRZS
PRERFAEZ&SEERRER
M EE36(b)#K 55 -

b) RBHEEEK
AEEBETZBYLEERARR
ERZHRERE BRASBHRIE
MRERERETUARERHARLTF
Ko ARESGHER  TAFE -
ARBZHRBERERE R KB
ZRBESFER  ARETERR -
BERAEEEESTHNRSRIEE
ZTRMEBIS EANAGHEERE -
NRRERRRBEARDESTEER

N
Kol

bl

36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

a)

b)

Credit risk (Continued)

Except for the financial guarantees given by the Group
as set out in note 37, the Group or the Company does
not provide any other guarantees which would expose
the Group or the Company to credit risk. The maximum
exposure to credit risk in respect of these financial
guarantees at the end of the reporting period is disclosed
in note 36(b).

Liquidity risk

Individual operating entities within the Group are
responsible for their own cash management, including
the short-term investment of cash surpluses and the
raising of loans to cover expected cash demands, subject
to the approval from board of directors. The Group's
policy is to regularly monitor current and expected
liquidity requirements and its compliance with lending
covenants to ensure that it maintains sufficient amount
of cash and adequate committed lines of funding
from major financial institutions to meet its liquidity

requirements in the short and longer term.
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36.

(&)

b)

HMERAREEREMIAZATE 36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
REESER (E) b) Liquidity risk (Continued)
TERHBINAEBEARRIZEHERE The following table set out the remaining contractual
REREEAEER - ERALHRITIRR maturities at the end of the reporting period of the
e (BEEASHMNETEZHE Group's and the Company’s financial liabilities based
ERek - 28 BRI EE on contractual undiscounted cash flows (including
HZRE) RAEE RARQR A E interest payments computed using contractual rates or,
REEXFAHMFZATEHE: if floating, based on rates at the end of the reporting
period) and the earliest date the Group and the Company
can be required to pay:
158 %-= ===
The Group 2013 2012
RHRBRENE ENRTERERE
Contractual Contractual
undiscounted cash flow undiscounted cash flow
—ER —ER
REXRE a8 BREE REXEE Az e
Within Within
1 year or Carrying 1 year or Carrying
on demand Total amount on demand Total amount
TR TR TR TR TR TR
HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HKS' 000 HK$" 000
A eHas Non-derivative financial
liabilities
ER& Trade payables 103,652 103,652 103,652 94,664 94,664 94,664
RRERAREMERN Accrued expenses and
other payables 21,001 21,001 21,001 21,195 21,195 21,195
EREFHA Amounts due to directors 1,557 1,557 1,557 1,074 1,074 1,074
126,210 126,210 126,210 116,933 116,933 116,933
HARKER Financial guarantee issued
ER&REE Maximum amount
(BzE37) quaranteed (note 37) 85,215 85,215 - 102,715 102,715 -
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36.

BEREEREMTIA N TE

(&)

b)

36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

REBESERE(E) b)
IXERUMBREREDIEBTIRR
ERETHEBEB/REPRE - A%
BAEERBEBERTHEN 2R
REH RRARPRMEERZEY
AEERRBENEERTREZLY
SAHERFRIEA » AT - IR AR T
HEZHBERRFEARZEREEBERZ
AREMERRERERIELER AR -

Liquidity risk (Continued)

The amounts included above for financial guarantee
contracts are the maximum amounts the Group could
be required to settle under the arrangement for the full
guaranteed amount if that amount is claimed by the
counterparty to the guarantee. Based on expectations at
the end of the reporting period, the Group considers that
it is more likely that no amount will be payable under
the arrangement. However, this estimate is subject to
change depending on the probability of the counterparty
suffering credit losses on the financial receivables and

claims under the guarantee.

ARE %-Z i S
The Company 2013 2012
ARARRRERE AhATRRERE
Contractual Contractual
undiscounted cash flow undiscounted cash flow
-Fh - E
REXRE az BEE  REXER ag BHfE
Within Within
1 year or Carrying 1 year or Carrying
on demand Total amount on demand Total amount
TET TET TET i i TR
HK$" 000 HKS" 000 HKS" 000 HK$000 HKS' 000 HK$' 000
FiseHaE Non-derivative financial
liabilities
RRERAREMER Accrued expenses and
other payables 4,983 4,983 4,983 4,481 4,481 4,481
ERE%HA Amounts due to directors 260 260 260 260 260 260
5243 5243 5243 4741 4741 4,741
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36. BXEREEREMIAEZATE

(&)

(9)

FRE R
AEEZNXREREIZRERE MR
2EHEHR - cERRITER - RS
RITERRBITER - ARRZFEE,
pEMRe R EEREMEL -
HRREMAEFEER - SHERRT
FRRZBRHRITEREHR M EE
HAEERES R ARERAAF
BEMgETesRe RREFEEAE
BEERRTEREZRBBRITFRE
KREAFE BRAKERTERZ
& B BB FL 2 KT 304 &

) REME
TREARIIARERAL TN
FERN B R A E B R =

36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

9]

Interest rate risk

The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from
cash and cash equivalents, pledged bank deposits,
restricted bank deposits and bank borrowings. The
Company'’s interest rate risk solely arises from cash and
cash equivalents. The Group and the Company do not
anticipate significant impact to cash and cash equivalents,
pledged bank deposits and restricted bank deposits
because the interest rates of these balances are not
expected to change significantly. The interest rates and
maturity information of the Group’s bank borrowings are

disclosed in note 30.

i) Interest rate profile
The following table details the interest rate profile

of the Group’s and the Company’s net deposits at

AA the end of the reporting period:
K&EE
The Group
—E-=f —E——F
2013 2012
RS B X
Effective Effective
interest rate interest rate
% TER % THT
% HK$’ 000 % HK$' 000
BeNBELSEEE  Cash and cash equivalents 0-0.38 1,369,054 0-0.38 1,236,290
EERRITER Pledged bank deposits - - 3.85 52,541
X HIRITE R Restricted bank balances - - 0.35 494
RITER Bank borrowings - - = (49,334)
FENEE Total net deposits 1,369,054 1,239,991
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36. IBEREEREMIAECATE 36.

(%)
o R=EREGE)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
c¢) Interest rate risk (Continued)

) FEHEES (E) i) Interest rate profile (Continued)
LN
The Company
—E-=f —E——F
2013 2012

RS EHRM =

Effective Effective

interest rate interest rate
% TER % THxT
% HK$' 000 % HK$' 000
ReRBREEEEE Cash and cash equivalents 0-0.01 5,323 0-0.05 5,820

i) HEESH
RZZ—=F+=-A=+—81"
EMEEMEHRFTENER

T o {hEF R RS sk T 250
18 55 2 15 07 /D i 8 I S5 [ AN 4
[Z B i 16 B3 18 R 38 N sk AR B
S A 493,697,000 7T (ZE ——
F : 3,459,000/ 7r) ° Al & a2

LA TR SA S H A
NYEBTE

J:%;V"ZF*"\MTHE'JJ? B i 1
REE B FTASE 2 M X E i E
E o BRI HRERN B REA &

FRZAEESRTARERMESF
B AREE AR - SOMEER |
AR TERARAEIEZEE AR
EHFERRMER2ER X
RERBHNENEEARES

e —E——F B UERE
EAEHDHT ©

ARANERHRPELEEHLE
AXERNMERR -

ii)

Sensitivity analysis

At 31 December 2013, it is estimated that a general
increase or decrease of 50 basis points in interest
rates, with all other variables held constant, would
decrease or increase the Group's loss after taxation
for the year and increase or decrease retained
profits by approximately HK$3,697,000 (2012:
HK$3,459,000). Other components of consolidated
equity would not change in response to the general
increase or decrease in interest rates.

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined
based on the exposure to interests rates at the end
of the reporting period. The analysis is prepared
assuming the financial instruments outstanding at
the end of the reporting period were outstanding
for the whole year. The 50 basis points increase
or decrease is used when reporting interest rate
risk internally to key management personnel
and represents management’s assessment of the
reasonably possible changes in interest rates. The
analysis is performed on the same basis for year
2012.

The Company was not exposed to significant
interest rate risk at the end of each reporting
period.
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36.

B¥EREEREMIAEZATE 36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE
(#8) OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
d E¥ER d) Currency risk

AERIEANRARERONEE
5 DA B 1T O A 2 A P
B R RAS BRI CERR o &
HEEAR 2 KB EBAETRAT -

) FREZEERE
TRANREBRARRHEKE
NEERBAMZNEERUINE
BHEZERAEEX BB

XE®RER

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through
sales and purchases which give rise to receivables,
payables and cash balances that are denominated in
a currency other than the functional currency of the
entity to which they relate. The currencies giving rise to
currency risk are primarily United States dollars and Hong

Kong dollars.

i) Exposure to currency risk
The following table details the Group’s and the
Company’s exposure to currency risk arising from
recognised assets or liabilities denominated in a
currency other than the functional currency of the

entity to which they relate.

-3
The Group
FEEz E%ER (ATETSIE)

Exposure to currency risk (expressed in HKS'000)

—E-=F —E-CF
2013 2012

EY B e BT

United Hong United Hong

States Kong States Kong

Dollars Dollars Dollars Dollars

EUERZ R EMmEYRE  Trade and other receivables 61,069 = 75,351 =
BeRREEEER Cash and cash equivalents 9,329 - 15,352 3
ERERREMBEMT  Trade and other payables (1,243) = (2,282) =
FERXEESEER Overall exposure to currency risk 69,155 - 88,421 3
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BHEREEREMTIA A VE
(&)
d)

36.

E¥Ek(E)
) HEEZEEERE ()

d)
)

36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Currency risk (Continued)

Exposure to currency risk (Continued)
/N
The Company
FrEdE 2 B E R
(LAF B T 51E)
Exposure to currency risk
(expressed in HK$’000)

—E-=F —E——fF

2013 2012

EYs x5t

United United

States States

Dollars Dollars

RekBeEEER Cash and cash equivalents 3,497 3,681
BREAREMMEMNZ  Accrued expenses and other payables (1,172) (1,172)
Frf X BB EEERK Overall exposure to currency risk 2,325 2,509

ARBEZFIINBIEZERE
ERRBEAEBTAET ZIMNE
B - mRBTRETHE B
HMEXZHBEEITEK -

ZRER B3R B 3 A R SN B ERER
SN R BR - ARE K E Y&
ZHONERR  AKEEFERZ
BEHEREEER -

IR T

TRIITASEZHRHREEER
RE &N E A = B R R A
RERESE AR 2 IMNEE X
RZBAAELAZEEEHME
MEL28  WEREEMRR

BHEH TR -

i) ii)

The Company is mainly exposed to the exchange
rate risk on Hong Kong dollars against United
States dollars for the foreign currency denominated
monetary assets and liabilities. As Hong Kong
dollars is pegged to United States dollars, the
financial impact on exchange rate is expected to be
insignificant.

The Group currently does not have a foreign
currency hedging policy in respect its of foreign
currency debts. The Group will monitor its foreign
currency exposure closely and will consider hedging
significant currency exposure should the need arises.

Sensitivity analysis

The following table indicates the instantaneous
change in the Group's loss after taxation and
retained profits that would arise if foreign exchange
rates to which the Group has significant exposure
at the end of the reporting period had changed at
that date, assuming all other risk variables remained
constant.
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36.

BEREERERIA N TE

(%)
d)

36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
EWER (8) d) Currency risk (Continued)
i) BEEES T () i) Sensitivity analysis (Continued)
&M
The Group
BB &ER PRt B
HNEER  HD /(B RRE INEER  ED /R RRE
i,/ (Bd) wREM (D) #m/ (Ra) wAEm )
Decrease/(increase) Decrease/(increase)
Increase/ in loss after Increase/ in loss after
(decrease) taxation and (decrease) taxation and
in foreign increase/(decrease) in foreign increase/(decrease)
exchange rates in retained profits exchange rates in retained profits
—E-=f &
2013 2012
TR THT
HK$’000 HK$' 000
%7 United States Dollars 5% 1,136 5% 1,474
(5%) (1,136) (5%) (1,474)

ERFATRZOMBERRRE AL
BETRERZGEERFEL
RERPREERAZERBRER
BILAEZ 2 A ABR B % (8
B)/aM ks Y ER
il

LI SR AT Th R AR SN I
ZEPEAREMFEAEER
RRPEEEAAEZERmT
AMERE - EATK-F——
FZ AR ELEHETT o

Results of the analysis as presented in the above
table represent an aggregate of the instantaneous
effects on each of the Group entities’ (loss)/profit
after taxation and equity measured in the respective
functional currencies, translated into Hong Kong
dollars at the exchange rate ruling at the end of the

reporting period for presentation purposes.

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined
assuming that the change in foreign exchange rates
had been applied to re-measure those financial
instruments held by the Group at the end of the
reporting period. The analysis is performed on the

same basis for year 2012.
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

e)

Equity price risk

The Group and the Company are exposed to equity price
risk through available-for-sale equity securities that are
measured at fair value at the end of the reporting period
with reference to the quoted market prices. The Group
manages its exposure by closely monitoring the price
movements and the changes in market conditions that

may affect the value of these investments.

At 31 December 2013, it is estimated that an increase
or decrease of 10% (2012: 10%) in equity prices,
with all other variables held constant, would have
increased or decreased the Group’s and Company's
other comprehensive income and fair value reserve by
approximately HK$968,000 (2012: HK$952,000).

As at 31 December 2013 and 2012, the Group and the
Company have concentration of equity price risk on the
available-for-sale equity securities as the Group and the
Company only held one listed equity security in their
investment portfolio. The Group’s and the Company’s
available-for-sale equity securities are exposed to equity
price risk due to the fluctuation of prices of the listed

equity security in the relevant stock markets.
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36.
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair value measurement

i)

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value
Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the fair value of the
Group's financial instruments measured at the
end of the reporting period on a recurring basis,
categorised into the three-level fair value hierarchy
as defined in HKFRS 13, Fair value measurement.
The level into which a fair value measurement
is classified is determined with reference to the
observability and significance of the inputs used in

the valuation technique as follows:

o Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using
only Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted
prices in active markets for identical assets or

liabilities at the measurement date

o Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using
Level 2 inputs i.e. observable inputs which
fail to meet Level 1, and not using significant
unobservable inputs. Unobservable inputs are

inputs for which market data are not available.

o Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using

significant unobservable inputs
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36.

BEREEREMTIA N TE

(%)
f)

AV EFE(E)
BAFEAEZEHEERERE

i)

36.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
f)  Fair value measurement (Continued)

i) Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value

(&) (Continued)
—E-=f
2013
AVEGFEDER
Fair value measurement categorised into
AV E & et E=R
Fair value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
TET TET TR TR
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’ 000 HK$’000
AEEKRADF  The Group and
the Company
EEHAFEFGTE  Recurring fair value
measurements
AftHERER Available-for-sales
EH equity securities 9,680 9,680 - -
—E——F
2012
ATEGFELER
Fair value measurement categorised into
AFE E—& R E=H
Fair value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
THT TAT TEx TEx
HK$’ 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000
AEEKRADF  The Group and
the Company
AE L FESTE  Recurring fair value
measurements
A ik i & R Available-for-sales
EH equity securities 9,520 9,520 = =
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

f)

9)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

i) Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value
(Continued)
During the years ended 31 December 2013 and
2012, there were no transfers between Level 1
and Level 2, or transfers into or out of Level 3. The
Group’s policy is to recognise transfers between
levels of fair value hierarchy as at the end of the

reporting period in which they occur.

i) Fair values of financial assets and liabilities carried at
other than fair value
The carrying amounts of the Group’s and the
Company’s financial instruments carried at cost or
amortised cost are not materially different from
their fair values as at 31 December 2013 and 2012.

Business risk

Substantial portion of the Group's revenue is generated
mainly from the sales of rare earth oxide products. The
revenue from the sales of rare earth oxide products is
dependent on the government restriction on mining of
rare earth mines and granting of export quotas of rare
earth products. The supply and prices of rare earth oxide
products would be fluctuated when the PRC government
imposes certain restrictions. Given the Group’s substantial
reliance on sales and manufacture of rare earth products,
the Group’s revenue could be highly sensitive to changes

in the PRC government policy on the rare earth industry.
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

h) Environmental risk
Recently, the PRC government has conducted large
scale environmental protection inspections on all rare
earth enterprises in the PRC. Enterprises which failed to
meet the relevant environment requirements would be
forced to suspend operations. The Group has constantly
promoted environmental protection and has complied
with these environmental protection requirements.
Further stringent restrictions on the environmental
protection requirements could affect the Group’'s

operations and financial performance.

37. FINANCIAL GUARANTEES ISSUED

As at 31 December 2013, the Group has given unconditional
guarantees to banks to secure bank facilities made available
to the Group’s joint ventures to the extent of approximately
HK$375,223,000 (2012: HK$333,004,000). The maximum
liabilities of the Group under the guarantees were the amounts
of the facilities drawn down by the joint ventures, being
approximately HK$85,215,000 (2012: HK$102,715,000).

The Group has not recognised any deferred income in
respect of the above guarantees because the fair value of the
guarantees were insignificant. At the end of the reporting
period, the directors of the Company do not consider it
probable that a claim will be made against the Group under

any of the guarantees.
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38.

39.

LITIGATIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2012, the Group's joint
venture was in dispute with a contractor about the quality and
settlement of its plant construction. The contractor claimed
the joint venture for settling the remaining contract fee of
approximately HK$34,973,000 (2012: HK$33,912,000) for
the plant construction. At the same time, the joint venture
counter claimed the contractor for returning the contract fee
of approximately HK$62,639,000 (2012: HK$60,739,000)
for poor construction quality that cannot meet the relevant

construction standards.

As at 31 December 2013, no judgement has been received
by the joint venture from the court yet. The directors of
the Company have sought advice from its PRC lawyers in
this aspect. Based on the legal advice, the directors of the
Company are of the opinion that it is not probable the court

will find against the joint venture.

EVENT AFTER THE END OF REPORTING PERIOD

On 27 September 2013, the Group entered into an agreement
to acquire the remaining 50.1% equity interest in Yixing
Silver Mile, the Group’s joint venture, through a wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company at a cash consideration of
approximately HK$15,133,000. The acquisition was completed
on 22 January 2014 and Yixing Silver Mile becomes a wholly

owned subsidiary of the Company.

The directors of the Company considered that the acquisition
of the remaining equity interest in Yixing Silver Mile is
beneficial to the Group as there are business potentials for
the fluorescent materiels market in the PRC. Consolidating
and increasing the Group’s interests in Yixing Silver Mile
will provide a good opportunity for the Group to further
strengthen its presence in the fluorescent materials market
and to enhance the Group's competitiveness and expanding its

business coverage.
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39. REMBMA&EHRERH) 39.

REBERHE R EEFERIWT

EVENT AFTER THE END OF REPORTING PERIOD
(Continued)

The net assets recognised at the date of acquisition are as

follows:

DNEE

Fair value

FAT

HK$'000

ME - HEREE Property, plant and equipment 155,491
KERNTRENLHES Prepaid lease payments on land under operating leases 11,048
FE Inventories 38,504
R U2 BR R T L b E LT R Trade and other receivables 79,250
ReHeEEEE Cash and cash equivalents 3,971
11 BR 3% % EL At FE £ 3K Trade and other payables (128,603)

RITER Bank borrowings (85,079)

BEWEEEFE Net assets acquired 74,582
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39. HHRMBEERRER (A

BBEEZEERE W

39. EVENT AFTER THE END OF REPORTING PERIOD
(Continued)

Bargain purchase gain arising on acquisition:

FAT
HK$' 000
BEBNRE : Consideration transferred:

—BfRE — Consideration paid 15,133

—REBLRFFAE R X — Fair value of 49.9% equity interests in
49.9% k&2 N TE Yixing Silver Mile previously held by the Group 37,216
52,349
B BEEEFE Less: Net assets acquired (74,582)
HEEE 2 e Gain on a bargain purchase 22,233
BlERe REEEEER Cash and cash equivalents acquired 3,971
B ERRERE Less: Cash consideration paid (15,133)
W 2R &R HFE Net cash outflow on acquisition (11,162)

ARBEERRMEE 2 YRR R E AL E
WREANRESREE - DRKERRHEE
% T e (3 2 MR R B LA P U R 2 B 4D
RenBo&Efst-

The directors of the Company considered that the trade
and other receivables acquired approximated to the gross
contractual amounts and the best estimate at acquisition date
of the contractual cash flows of the trade and other receivables

expected to be collected.
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40. RBZE-ZE—=%+-A=+—HIL 40.
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POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW
STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT
NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31
DECEMBER 2013

Up to the date of issuance of these financial statements, the
HKICPA has issued the following amendments, new standards
and interpretations which are not yet effective for the year
ended 31 December 2013 and which have not been adopted in
these financial statements. These include the following which

may be relevant to the Group.

BRMBHERAL

“E-TFER-T--F

HES BEERMBASER
Ry
BRMBHRSENZ “E—FE-%-ZF
CHES R BRI RS ER
ERYES
BRMBHEERFR BRMBHREERFOR
RERUBREER ZBHERAER
EILPACHIES BERE

ERMBRSENE 0%
BRMBEELERF125%
REEG BRI

REER

PACHE

R G ERF19% RERMTE] : BEHF
PACHEN

FR B ERIE325 EHERAERTRER
PALHEN

FR G ERIE36% FEREETHNEOEE
PACHE ZBE

FE G ERIE39% ETAZRE RIHES
PACHE A
BRMBHEERFR SRHIA
BRMBHSENE R XAEETRR
ER(ARMBRERE HE'

ZEE)-REEUR

Amendments to HKFRSs

Amendments to HKFRSs

Amendments to HKFRS 9
and HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKFRS 10,

HKFRS 12 and HKAS 27

Amendments to HKAS 19

Amendments to HKAS 32

Amendments to HKAS 36

Amendments to HKAS 39

HKFRS 9

HKFRS 14
HK(IFRIC) — INT 21

Annual improvements to HKFRSs
2010-2012 cycle?

Annual improvements to HKFRSs
2011-2013 cycle®

Mandatory effective date of HKFRS

9 and transition disclosures?

Investment entities’

Defined benefit plans: Employee
contributions®

Offsetting financial assets and
financial liabilities'

Recoverable amount disclosures
for non-financial assets’

Novation of derivatives and
continuation of hedge
accounting’

Financial instruments®

Regulatory deferral accounts*

Levies'
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40. RBZE-F—=Ff+=-A=+—HL 40. POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW

FECHMEEMRERZBITER STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT
AEARZRBZAESE (E) NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31
DECEMBER 2013 (Continued)
1 RZE—NFE—A— B Z2ERABZFED g Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
LS 2014.
2 RZZ—NFLA— Bz ERABRZFED z Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2014,
AR - BRIERBRI o with limited exceptions.
9 A FRER A ENB R E BT ERE 3 Available for application — the mandatory effective date will
HRFSRZATRBRZERERE be determined when the outstanding phases of HKFRS 9 are
4 R-ZZE—RFE—A— B2 BB ENE finalised.
EREBUBRELRMBERRER - g Effective for first annual HKFRS financial statements beginning on
5 RZZT—WNFLA—BRzERABRZFED or after 1 January 2016.
AR - 5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2014.
KRB ZER ] REEFT BB The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what
SR RERHEBHEEZZE - the impact of these new and revised HKFRSs is expected to be
BZEAAL ARARREREAZEH TR in the period of initial application. So far it has concluded that
KIER] BB IS RE LRI R O] e AL B the adoption of them is unlikely to have a significant impact on

ZREEERMBRAENBERATE - the Group'’s results of operations and financial position.
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BE+t-A=t-HLEE
For the year ended 31 December
—E-=% —T-CZF —T——F —T-TF —TTNF
2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
THT T T AT AT
HK$’ 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000
3 Turnover 1,488,282 2,101,918 2,213,354 1,116,755 1,112,401
HERA Cost of sales (1,705,842) (2,544,843) (1,159,922) (863,718) (910,991)
(EE) /EF Gross (loss)/profit (217,560) (442,925) 1,053,432 253,037 201,410
BRBLAT (B518) (Loss)/profit before
Vet taxation (380,455) (687,158) 716,083 146,197 109,414
FrefkiEe,/ Income tax
(Zih) credit/(charge) 10,749 (12,361) (176,285) (30,824) (50,927)
FECLEBAREE  (Loss)profit for the year
(B#8) /A from continuing operations (369,706) (699,519) 539,798 115,373 58,487
BARREER Profit from discontinued
gl operation - = 15,661 23,668 26,196
KEE (BE) /BF  (Loss)profit for the year (369,706) (699,519) 555,459 139,041 84,683
E1h: Attributable to:
ARREEA Owners of the Company (354,650) (679,702) 523,476 133,359 84,593
R ER Non-controlling interests (15,056) (19,817) 31,983 5,682 90
(369,706) (699,519) 555,459 139,041 84,683
R+t=B=t+-H
As at 31 December
—E-=% —T-ZF —T——F —T-TF —TTNF
2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
TER AT FET FTEL TEL
HK$’ 000 HK$' 000 HK$’ 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000
MBEE Current assets 2,504,164 2,864,609 3,590,246 2,275,920 1,866,841
FREBEE Non-current assets 813,429 776,557 963,857 1,490,070 1,372,740
AEHLE Total assets 3,317,593 3,641,166 4,554,103 3,765,990 3,239,581
TEBE Current liabilities 135,797 179,443 357,597 230,095 257,959
ELEIN=Li Non-current liabilities 6,401 25,812 31,505 94,960 233,503
AEEE Total liabilities 142,198 205,255 389,102 325,055 491,462
BEFAE Net assets 3,175,395 3,435,911 4,165,001 3,440,935 2,748,119
A Share capital 167,264 167,264 167,264 167,194 155,114
i Reserves 2,971,591 3,218,388 3,927,652 3,237,179 2,563,706
ARAEBA Equity attributable to owners
JE(E 8 of the Company 3,138,855 3,385,652 4,094,916 3,404,373 2,718,820
FERER Non-controlling interests 36,540 50,259 70,085 36,562 29,299
EmiaE Total equity 3,175,395 3,435,911 4,165,001 3,440,935 2,748,119
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